CharitéCentrum für Grundlagenmedizin Institut für Translationale Physiologie Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin Charité Campus Mitte Direktor: Prof. Dr. Pontus B. Persson

und

Experimental and Clinical Research Center (ECRC), eine Kooperation zwischen dem Max-Delbrück Centrum (MDC) und der Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin Charité Campus Buch Direktor: Prof. Dr. Friedemann Paul

Habilitationsschrift

Novel signaling pathways in ischemic and hypertensive renal injury

zur Erlangung der Lehrbefähigung für das Fach Physiologie

vorgelegt dem Fakultätsrat der Medizinischen Fakultät Charité-Universitätsmedizin Berlin

von

Dr. Lajos Markó, PhD

Eingereicht: 05/2023 Dekan: Prof. Dr. Joachim Spranger

Table of Contents

Abbreviations3	
I.	Introduction5
II.	Original articles 10
1.	Tubular Epithelial NF-kB Activity Regulates Ischemic AKI10
2. Inf	Role of Cystathionine Gamma-Lyase in Immediate Renal Impairment and Tammatory Response in Acute Ischemic Kidney Injury
3.	Role of TRPC6 in kidney damage after acute ischemic kidney injury
4.	Interferon- γ signaling inhibition ameliorates angiotensin II-induced cardiac damage 55
5.	B-cell lymphoma/leukemia 10 (Bcl10) and angiotensin II-induced kidney injury65
III.	Discussion 80
IV.	Summary
V.	Literature
Ack	nowledgment 100
Erk	lärung 102

Abbreviations

AKI: Acute Kidney Injury Ang II: Angiotensin II AT1R: Angiotensin II Type 1 Receptor Bcl10: B cell lymphoma/leukemia 10 **BP: Blood Pressure** CARMA1/3: Caspase Recruitment Domain-Containing MAGUK protein 1/3 CBM: CARMA1/3-Bcl10-MALT1 **CD:** Cluster of Differentiation CKD: Chronic Kidney Disease cKO: conditional Knockout CTH/Cth: Cystathionase protein/gene DNA: Deoxyribonucleic Acid eGFR: estimated Glomerular Filtration Rate ESRD: End-stage Renal Disease FSGS: Focal Segmental Glomerulosclerosis IFNγ: Interferon-gamma IFNyR: interferon-gamma Receptor IKK: IkB kinase complex IL: Interleukin IL23R: Interleukin 23 Receptor (IL23R) IRI: Ischemia Reperfusion Injury IкВ: Inhibitor of NF-кВ KO: Knockout loxP: locus of x-over, P1 MALT1: Mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue lymphoma translocation protein 1 NF-kB: Nuclear Factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells RAAS: Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone system RNA: Ribonucleic Acid mRNA: messenger Ribonucleic Acid

TGFβ: Transforming Growth Factor-beta TNFa: Tumor Necrosis Factor-alpha TRPC6: Transient Receptor Potential, Canonical 6

I. Introduction

Whereas the kidneys as organs were recognized already in ancient Egypt¹ and one of the most accomplished medical researchers of the Roman Empire, Claudius Galenus, described the primary function of the kidneys (i.e., urine generation) correctly,² it was not until the discovery of the microscope and the work of Marcello Malpighi in the seventeenth century when the microscopic anatomy of the kidney and the hypothesis was born that formation of urine takes place in the kidneys through a filtering mechanism between blood and renal tubules.³ After three centuries and many bright minds later, such as Richard Bright, Theodor Fahr, and Franz Volhard, to name a few. The next milestone marked the development of electron microscopy, which coincided with the introduction of renal biopsy and the establishment of experimental renal pathology.³ Whereas the understanding of the pathophysiology of renal diseases has been progressing ever since at an unprecedented pace, the clinical subspecialty of nephrology emerged only some 60 years ago when transplantation and dialysis became available in the 1960s.⁴ Although these groundbreaking interventions have made it possible to save and prolong the lives of patients with "end-stage renal disease", recognizing the development stages of this "end-stage renal disease" lagged. It was not earlier as in 2002 when the first uniform definition - based on objective measures of kidney function - staging system for chronic kidney disease (CKD) was developed and 2004 for acute kidney injury (AKI), which was named at this time "acute renal failure".^{5,6} Once definitions were established, it became clear that AKI, as well as CKD, have both high prevalence and associated with increased mortality and morbidity. AKI can be diagnosed in around 10-15% of hospitalized patients, while this number can be as high as 50% in intensive car units.^{7,8} The exact figures apply for CKD: population prevalence is more than 10% and exceeds 50% in subpopulations with conditions posing a high risk of developing CKD.9-11

Clinical diagnosis of AKI is still based on rapid changes in creatinine levels in the blood and reduced urine volume. Stage 1 AKI refers to a creatinine elevation in the blood \geq 1.5 times of baseline value or an increase of \geq 0.3 mg/dL in two days or a urine volume <0.5 mL/kg for 6–12 hours. Stage 2 refers to a blood creatinine two times or more of the baseline value or to a urine volume <0.5 mL/kg for \geq 12 h. Lastly, stage 3 refers to a blood creatinine \geq 3.0 times of the baseline concentration or an increase to \geq 4.0 mg/dL or acute dialysis, or urine volume <0.3 mL/kg for \geq 24 h.¹² CKD is defined as (estimated) glomerular filtration rate (e)(GFR)<60 mL/min per 1.73 m² and/or presence of renal damage markers - such as albuminuria (urine albumin to urine creatinine ratio>30mg/g), abnormal urinary sediment, electrolyte or other

abnormality due to renal tubular disorder, abnormal renal histology or history of renal transplantation for at least 3 months. CKD is clinically classified according to international into the following categories based on (e)GFR (mL/min per 1.73 m²) as follows: G1 ≥90 (normal or high), G2 60–89 (mildly reduced), G3a 45–59 (mildly to moderately reduced), G3b 30–44 (moderately to severely reduced), G4 15–29 (severely reduced) and G5 <15 (kidney failure).¹³ Although the clinical diagnosis of AKI and CKD can be made based on these set values and provide helpful guidance in treating these conditions, the underlying pathophysiology varies, and many cases are poorly understood.¹² In fact, treatment of AKI and CKD in almost all cases is limited to supportive treatment or ameliorating complications and consequences of renal function loss.

AKI induced by prerenal factors and leading to reduced blood flow is the most common form of AKI regarding the number of hospitalized patients. Hypoxia, followed by reperfusion injury, is a major pathophysiological driver of renal damage, especially in multiple organ failure and sepsis.^{14,15} What we nowadays know about the pathophysiological processes of prerenal AKI is derived mainly from animal models, especially acute ischemia models induced by temporal clamping of the renal vessels (the renal artery only or in mouse models commonly clamping both the renal artery and vein) leading to ischemia-reperfusion injury of the kidney.¹⁶⁻²⁰ After a reduction in adequate kidney perfusion, virtually all kidney cell types are affected, but more severely, cells with high metabolic rates and limited capacity to switch to anaerobic glycolysis. This involves the proximal tubular cells (mainly the straight (descending) portion of the proximal tubule) and tubular epithelial cells of the medulla, which are - due to the countercurrent capillary flow - in a healthy situation already in a "physiological" hypoxic state.²¹ In these epithelial cells, hypoxia or ischemia leads to depletion of adenosine triphosphate and consequent cell injury, which may ultimately lead to programmed cell death (apoptosis) or even necrosis.^{15,22} However, tubular epithelial cells not only suffer from morphological, cytoskeletal, and structural changes (or even cell death) but are also active contributors to the repair. The surviving tubular cells undergo dedifferentiation and proliferation to replace dead tubular cells and also actively produce cytokines and chemokines that further define the degree of cellular infiltration and regulate innate and adaptive immune responses.^{15,23} Cytokines and chemokines produced by tubular cells include interleukin (IL)6, IL1β, chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 2, monocyte chemoattractant protein 1, tumor necrosis factor (TNF)a and transforming growth factor (TGF)^{β,15,22} Many of these molecules are controlled by the transcription factor family nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF-kB).^{24,25} The mammalian NF-kB family consists of five proteins that can form several homo- or heterodimers. These members are called NF-κB1 (p105/p50), NF-κB2 (p100/p52), RelA (p65), RelB and c-Rel. The denotation "NF-κB" commonly refers to the p50-RelA heterodimer (used in this work also in this sense), which is the major complex in most cells.²⁶ Indeed, NF-κB regulates several aspects of the adaptive and the innate immune systems, thereby mediating inflammatory responses and regulating the activation, survival, and differentiation of immune cells and other cell types, including renal cells.^{24,25} To analyze the time course of NF-κB activation after ischemic renal injury and assess the role of tubular NF-κB in post-ischemic cellular infiltration and chemokine and cytokine expression-specific mice models were developed and applied, which are described in the first original article of this work.

A further hallmark of (ischemic) renal damage is endothelial dysfunction. Under physiological circumstances, endothelial cells contribute to vascular tone, thereby regulating the blood flow of the local tissue beds. Modulation of vascular permeability regulates cellular infiltration into the interstitium. Damaged endothelium has increased microvascular permeability and has an imbalance between vasoconstrictor and vasodilator agents, with nitric oxide as the central mediator.^{15,22,27} Next to nitric oxide and carbon monoxide, hydrogen sulfide has emerged recently as a novel gaseous mediator in renal tissue.^{28,29} Whereas the application of extrinsic hydrogen sulfide showed potential to ameliorate acute ischemic renal damage^{30,31}, the role of the endogenously produced hydrogen sulfide was unclear. Endogenous hydrogen sulfide in the kidney is mainly produced by cystathionine gamma-lyase and by cystathionine beta-synthase. In the second original article, we investigated the role of endogenous hydrogen sulfide by using mice lacking or having only one or both copies of the cystathionine gamma-lyase gene.

Once the kidney suffers insult, intrinsic repair processes are activated rapidly. This process can lead to (complete or partial) resolution by adaptive repair mechanism or progression by maladaptive repair mechanism.³² Maladaptive repair can occur in the tubular (epithelial), vascular, and interstitial compartments of the kidney in response to insult, ultimately leading to renal fibrosis and reduction in kidney function.²³ Glomeruli scarring secondary to podocyte damage, a critical cell type of the ultrafiltration barrier, can lead to focal segmental glomerulosclerosis (FSGS), ultimately leading to CKD. Such podocyte damage can be caused by identifiable factors (considered as the primary form of the disease) and the secondary form of the disease by toxins, drugs, or are associated with viral infection or mutations in differential genes.³³ Mutations of the transient receptor potential cation (TRPC) channel 6 – a member of non-selective Ca²⁺-permeable TRPC channels – have been found in families with FSGS.³⁴ Subsequent studies have shown that the TRPC6 channel is expressed in podocytes and represents a component of the slit diaphragm. This specialized cell junction comprises several

cell-surface proteins and connects neighboring podocyte foot processes.^{35,36} Additionally, TRPC6 channels are expressed in other renal structures, such as glomerular mesangial cells, tubular epithelial cells, and other cells of renal microvasculature. More importantly, the TRPC6 channels are also redox-sensitive.³⁷ An imbalance of redox signaling is a hallmark of AKI.³⁸ More recently, treatment with BI-749327, a potent and selective orally bioavailable TRPC6 antagonist, or having TRPC6 genetically knocked out, has been found to ameliorate renal fibrosis in the model of unilateral ureteral obstruction.^{39,40} Based on these findings, we hypothesized that inhibition of TRPC6 might be helpful to alleviate the immediate outcome of AKI. To address this hypothesis, we used mice lacking the gene of TRPC6 or treated wild-type mice who underwent AKI induction by BI-749327 or by SH045, a further selective inhibitor of TRPC6. The third article describes the usefulness of targeting TRPC6 to impact the outcome of ischemic AKI.

High blood pressure (hypertension) is the main cause of cardiovascular disease and premature death worldwide.⁴¹ In human progressive chronic kidney damage, hypertension is the second leading cause of end-stage renal disease⁴² and a significant risk factor for developing chronic kidney disease.^{43,44} On the other hand, a common consequence of chronic kidney disease is hypertension.⁴⁵ Therefore, the interaction between hypertension and (chronic) kidney damage is complex. Several animal models were developed and analyzed in the last decade to disentangle the relationship between renal damage and hypertension and to understand the pathogenesis of hypertension.⁴⁶ One of the most widely used models is the long-term (at least 4 weeks) angiotensin (Ang) II-induced hypertension model because it closely resembles some aspects of human hypertension and target-organ damage, including vascular remodeling, cardiac hypertrophy, and chronic kidney disease.⁴⁶ Using this (and also verified in other models), the concept that immune cells contribute to hypertension has been established.⁴⁷⁻⁴⁹ With the advancing technology of genetically engineered mouse models, mice lacking the recombinase activating gene 1 were generated. The protein encoded by this gene is involved in immunoglobulin and T-cell receptor recombination; therefore, mice lacking this gene fail to develop B and T lymphocytes. In a milestone paper, mice lacking this gene develop blunted hypertension in response to angiotensin II or deoxycorticosterone acetate salt (another agent to induce hypertension in murine models)⁵⁰ challenge. Adoptive transfer of T (but not B) cells into these mice leads to hypertension and end-organ damage.⁵¹ Interferon-gamma (IFNy) is an important cytokine that regulates the host defense system by interacting with innate and adaptive immune systems. Its signaling pathway coordinates a diverse array of cellular programs.^{52,53} In the fourth manuscript, the role of this pathway was investigated in the development of hypertensive organ damage with particular emphasis on renal damage.

As outlined earlier, the transcription factor family NF- κ B controls many normal cellular processes by regulating the expression of genes and proteins involved in immune system homeostasis, inflammatory responses, cellular growth, or apoptosis. Ang II can activate NF- κ B through its angiotensin II type 1 (AT1R) and type II receptor.^{54,55} More importantly, NF- κ B inhibition has been shown to ameliorate Ang II-induced renal damage.⁵⁶ Nevertheless, the molecular signaling between the AT1R and NF- κ B was unknown. It was not until 2007 that McAllister-Lucas and colleagues described a signalosome filling the signaling gap between AT1R and NF- κ B. In collaboration with this group and by performing bone-marrow transplantation studies with mice lacking the intermediate bridging factor of the signalosome mentioned above, we could shed light on its role in immune cells and renal tissue in an Ang II-induced hypertension model.

In summary, my experimental works aimed to identify novel pathways in the kidney which influence the outcome of AKI and are involved in hypertension-induced progressive renal damage, with the hope to provide molecular targets and, therefore, specific therapy options for the future.

II. Original articles

1. Tubular Epithelial NF-kB Activity Regulates Ischemic AKI

Markó L*, Vigolo E*, Hinze C, Park JK, Roël G, Balogh A, Choi M, Wübken A, Cording J, Blasig IE, Luft FC, Scheidereit C, Schmidt-Ott K, Schmidt-Ullrich R, Müller DN. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2016;27:2658-2669.

*Markó L and Vigolo E contributed equally to this work.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1681/ASN.2015070748

Acute kidney injury (AKI) is a clinical syndrome characterized by a rapid (hours to days) reduction or loss of the kidney's excretory function, leading to the retention of waste products in the blood, such as creatinine and urea.¹⁴ It is a common complication, affecting 10-15% of all hospitalized patients.⁷ In the case of particular patient groups - such as patients in intensive care units – the prevalence can be more than 50%.⁸ Traditionally, AKI is classified based on the anatomical site of the injury to prerenal, intrinsic, and postrenal AKI.¹² Whereas clinically many conditions can lead to AKI, the pathophysiological mechanisms of AKI are less clear, and the mechanisms are still poorly understood; increasing evidence suggests that each clinical entity has a unique pathophysiology.¹² Still, hypoperfusion and consequent ischemic injury are considered to be one of the initiator factors of renal damage in many forms of AKI.¹²

The understanding of the molecular mechanisms behind (prerenal) AKI is mainly derived from animal models of acute ischemia induced by temporal occlusion of the renal artery, which provokes renal ischemia-reperfusion injury (IRI). Mechanisms identified by these studies include the local activation of the coagulation system⁵⁷, infiltration of immune cells⁵⁸, damage of the endothelial cells⁵⁹, and expression of adhesion molecules⁶⁰ and cytokines⁶¹ or activation of endogenous danger molecule receptors such as the toll-like receptor-4.⁶²

Probably NF-κB is one of (if not the most) studied transcription factor family consisting of the protein p50/p105 (NF-κB1), p52/p100 (NF-κB2), p65 (RelA), c-Rel, and RelB. These can form various heterodimers or homodimers involved in multiple cellular processes, such as modulating the immune system's activity and inflammatory responses and regulating cell growth and apoptosis.⁶³ The p65-p50 heterodimer (referred to as NF-κB in this work) is activated by a wide range of stimuli relevant to kidney injury, including inflammatory

molecules, chemokines, growth factors, and toll-like receptors.⁶⁴ In unstimulated cells, NF-kB is retained in the cytoplasm through interaction with NF-κB inhibitor proteins (IκBs). Upon specific stimuli, the IκB kinase complex (IKK) phosphorylates the IκB proteins, leading to its ubiquitination and degradation, allowing translocation of NF-κB to the nucleus.⁶⁵

The pleiotropic effect of NF-κB strongly implies that its modulation could influence the course of IRI and the outcome of AKI. The first studies applied an NF-κB decoy strategy in rat kidney allograft transplantation⁶⁶ and rat renal IRI models⁶⁷ or administrated systemically small interfering ribonucleic acids (RNA) targeting RelB⁶⁸ or IκB kinase subunit b⁶⁹ in animal models of AKI. Whereas these studies could show that general NF-kB inhibition attenuates renal cellular infiltration and, subsequently, IRI, they did not shed light on the role of NF-κB in the renal tissue.

In our study, we applied a novel transgenic mouse model expressing the luciferase gene under the control of NF-kB. In mice, renal IRI was achieved by uninephrectomy and temporal clamping of the remaining renal pedicle. With this mouse model's help and in vivo bioluminescence imaging technology, we could assess the time course of NF-κB activation of an IRI-induced AKI. The NF- κ B activation in the kidney increased significantly as soon as 12 hours after renal ischemia, peaked 2-3 days, and stayed elevated for up to 5 days compared to sham-operated littermate mice. Immunostaining against phospho-S276-p65 (an indicator of nuclear translocation) showed that NF-kB was mainly activated in renal tubular cells, suggesting that the detected signal was derived from these cells rather than from infiltrating immune cells. Using the Cre-loxP technology, - where Cre is a recombinase enzyme that recognizes the specific deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) fragment sequences called loxP (locus of x-over, P1)⁷⁰ –, we expressed IkBa Δ N specifically in renal tubular cells. IkBa Δ N is a genetically engineered IkBa that lacks the N-terminal phosphorylation and ubiquitination sites and thus precludes nuclear translocation of NF- κ B). To express this construct tubular cell-specific, we mated Emx1-Cre and loxP-IκBaΔN mice to get mice with lower renal tubular NF-κB activity, referred further as Emx1-ΔN. Twenty-four hours after IRI-induced AKI, Emx1-ΔN mice developed less renal epithelial damage, had less neutrophil and macrophage infiltration in the kidney tissue, and expressed lower levels of adhesion molecules, proinflammatory cytokines, and chemokines in comparison to control littermates (mice expressing the Cre enzyme only, the floxed IkBaΔN construct or none of these) which underwent the same surgical procedure, verifying earlier findings with systemic NF-kB inhibition strategies.⁶⁶⁻⁶⁹ More importantly, Emx1- ΔN mice after renal ischemic injury had lower serum creatinine concentrations and expression of renal damage marker neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin, indicating a clinically relevant amelioration of renal damage. Using microarray data of renal tissue of mice that

11

underwent IRI-induced AKI at time points, we observed NF- κ B activation (6, 24, and 48 hours and 7 days) and clustered the time-dependent expression pattern of all genes which were downregulated in injured kidneys of Emx1- Δ N mice compared to littermate controls. We limited ourselves to the analysis of these genes because, in a priori gene-set enrichment analysis, they showed enrichment for known NF- κ B targets. The first cluster contained genes primarily involved in (programmed) cell death and chemotaxis. To further analyze this process, we performed terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase-mediated digoxigenin-deoxyuridine nick-end labeling to detect DNA fragmentation resulting from apoptosis. Interestingly, the IRI-injured renal tissue of Emx1- Δ N mice showed fewer apoptotic cells than the IRI-injured control renal tissue. Mimicking hypoxia *in vitro* using cobalt chloride containing low-glucose medium in primary proximal tubular cells isolated from Emx1- Δ N and littermate wild-type mice verified the reduced apoptotic rate in Emx1- Δ N cells.

In summary, we determined the *in vivo* time course of NF- κ B activation and shed light on its function in the renal tubular epithelial cells during a renal IRI. We found that postischemic NF- κ B activation in the renal tubular epithelia worsens tubular injury, inflammatory response, and apoptosis.

Original manuscript is available under:

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1681/ASN.2015070748

2. Role of Cystathionine Gamma-Lyase in Immediate Renal Impairment and Inflammatory Response in Acute Ischemic Kidney Injury

Markó L, Szijártó IA, Filipovic MR, Kaßmann M, Balogh A, Park JK, Przybyl L, N'diaye G, Krämer S, Anders J, Ishii I, Müller DN, Gollasch M. Sci Rep. 2016;6:27517.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1038/srep27517

Gaseous signaling molecules play an essential role in various biological processes in the human body. Next to nitric oxide and carbon monoxide, hydrogen sulfide (H₂S) emerged in the last decades as the third physiological gaseous mediator by measuring endogenous concentrations in brain homogenate of rats.^{71,72} Soon, it was recognized as an endogenous neuromodulator⁷³, a vasorelaxant⁷⁴, and later even identified as garlic's cardioprotective signaling molecule.⁷⁵ In mammalian systems, H₂S is produced by two enzymes: cystathionine β -synthase and cystathionine γ -lyase (CTH, also referred to as cystathionase or CSE); the former is responsible for H₂S production in the brain and later in the vascular system.⁷⁶ The physiological role in H₂S production of the third enzyme, 3-mercaptopyruvate sulfurtransferase, is not entirely cleared yet, although, in a recent paper, this enzyme was found to be the primary source of H₂S in coronary arteries.⁷⁷

In the vascular system, H_2S causes vasorelaxation by activating adenosine triphosphatesensitive potassium channel channels on smooth muscle cells.⁷⁴ Additionally, H2S can act as an antioxidant by elevating intracellular glutathione concentration and increasing the levels of the glutathione biosynthetic enzyme.⁷⁸ These properties of H_2S make it an excellent potential therapeutics, especially in diseases involving ischemic injury. Soon the cardio⁷⁹- and neuroprotective effects⁸⁰, as well as reno-^{31,81}, hepato⁸²- and pulmoprotective⁸³ effects of H_2S were established.

At that time, all animal studies applied H_2S or H_2S donor molecules or used pharmacologic inhibitors of H_2S -producing enzymes to investigate the role of H_2S in disease, as no knockout animal models existed. However, the physiological concentrations of H_2S in tissues have been debated since its discovery because of methodological difficulties in its measurement.^{84,85} Consequently, a wide range of values for H_2S have been reported in blood or tissues. This state of affairs generated significant uncertainty in the scientific community. Knockout mice have been developed in two laboratories to overcome this issue and asses the (patho)physiological functions of endogenous H₂S.^{86,87} Although in both laboratories Cth was targeted to knock out (though different exons were deleted and somewhat different techniques were used during knockout mouse generation), surprisingly, the two mouse models showed some important differences - next to shared properties. For example, knockout mice from the laboratory of Rui Wang developed age-dependent blood pressure elevation⁸⁷. In contrast, the other one from the laboratory of Ishao Ishii⁸⁶ had similar or even slightly lower blood pressure⁸⁸ compared to littermate wild-type mice.

In our study, we investigated the role of endogenous H₂S in ischemic renal disease. We used the mouse model of Ishii et al.⁸⁶ We mated Cth^{+/-} males and females to obtain Cth^{+/+}, Cth^{+/-}, and Cth^{-/-} littermates. First, we confirmed on both messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA) and protein levels that Cth^{-/-} animals do not express cystathionase. Heterozygous animals had expression levels half of the wild-type, Cth+/+ animals. However, we still measured approximately 50% and 30% of H2S content in the renal tissue of Cth^{+/-} and Cth^{-/-} mice, respectively, compared to Cth^{+/+} littermates, strongly suggesting that CTH is not the source of H₂S in the kidney. Mice underwent the same IRI protocol as described earlier.⁸⁹ Ischemia significantly reduced the expression of all three H₂S-producing enzymes in the kidney, in agreement with previous reports.⁹⁰ After induction of ischemic AKI in Cth^{+/+}, Cth^{+/-}, and Cth^{-/-} mice, serum creatinine concentrations and expression of kidney injury molecule 1 and renal damage marker neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin were analyzed 24 hours after injury. Unexpectedly, we could not detect significant differences between the 3 experimental mice groups; moreover, Cth^{-/-} mice had the lowest serum creatine levels. Histopathological analysis of tubular damage showed a similar trend, as well as mRNA expression analysis of cytokines and adhesion molecules in the injured renal tissue. Although flow cytometric analysis of infiltrating neutrophils and macrophages did not reveal differences between the 3 groups, the lower renal expression of IL1-beta and TNFa in injured kidneys of Cth^{-/-} mice led us to test the hypothesis that Cth deficiency affects these cytokines producing⁹¹ classically activated macrophages. We polarized *in vitro* bone marrow-derived macrophages of Cth^{+/+} and Cth^{-/-} mice using lipopolysaccharide and interferon-gamma. Whereas the mRNA levels of TNFa in polarized Cth^{-/-} macrophages were significantly lower compared to the polarized Cth^{+/+} macrophages, the concentration of TNFa in the supernatant of the Cth^{+/+} and Cth^{-/-} macrophages was comparable.

We concluded that lacking CTH leads to approximately a 50% reduction in renal H_2S levels in mice. However, this does not significantly affect the immediate outcome of ischemic AKI. Of note, while we were performing the experiments, Bos et al. published findings with renal

ischemia using the other existing Cth knockout mouse model.⁹² They observed over 90% reduction in renal H₂S production in CTH deficient mice and lethal renal injury (35% mortality) with excessive tubular damage compared to wild-type mice. This phenotype was associated with more oxidative damage and could be rescued by intraperitoneal injection of H₂S donor NaHS. The different outcomes of renal IRI in the study of Bos et al. and ours are probably multifaceted, which at least in part anchors in the fundamental phenotypic differences of the two mouse models. Therefore, further studies are needed to establish the role of endogenous H₂S in renal pathophysiology.

SCIENTIFIC **REPORTS**

OPEN

Received: 25 September 2015 Accepted: 20 May 2016 Published: 08 June 2016

Role of Cystathionine Gamma-Lyase in Immediate Renal Impairment and Inflammatory Response in Acute Ischemic Kidney Injury

Lajos Markó^{1,2}, István A. Szijártó¹, Milos R. Filipovic³, Mario Kaßmann¹, András Balogh^{1,2}, Joon-Keun Park⁴, Lukasz Przybyl¹, Gabriele N'diaye¹, Stephanie Krämer⁵, Juliane Anders¹, Isao Ishii⁶, Dominik N. Müller^{1,2,*} & Maik Gollasch^{1,7,*}

Hydrogen sulfide (H₂S) is known to act protectively during renal ischemia/reperfusion injury (IRI). However, the role of the endogenous H₂S in acute kidney injury (AKI) is largely unclear. Here, we analyzed the role of cystathionine gamma-lyase (CTH) in acute renal IRU using CTH-deficient (Cth^{-/-}) mice whose renal H₂S levels were approximately 50% of control (wild-type) mice. Although levels of serum creatinine and renal expression of AKI marker proteins were equivalent between Cth^{-/-} and control mice, histological analysis revealed that IRI caused less renal tubular damage in Cth^{-/-} mice. Flow cytometric analysis revealed that renal population of infiltrated granulocytes/macrophages was equivalent in these mice. However, renal expression levels of certain inflammatory cytokines/adhesion molecules believed to play a role in IRI were found to be lower after IRI only in Cth^{-/-} mice. Our results indicate that the systemic CTH loss does not deteriorate but rather ameliorates the immediate AKI outcome probably due to reduced inflammatory responses in the kidney. The renal expression of CTH and to the H₂S-producing enzymes was markedly suppressed after IRI, which could be an integrated adaptive response for renal cell protection.

Hydrogen sulfide (H₂S) has been recognized as a toxic gas for many years until Warenycia *et al.* discovered the endogenous production of H₂S in the rat brain¹. Endogenous H₂S is mainly produced by enzymes of the transsulfuration pathway, cystathionine gamma-lyase (CTH or CSE) and cystathionine beta-synthase (CBS). The third enzyme, 3-mercaptopyruvate sulfurtransferase (MPST or MST), can also contribute to endogenous H₂S production in the presence of reductants using 3-mercaptopyruvate as a substrate²⁻⁴. Although the physiological role of MPST in mammalian tissues is less well characterized, MPST might contribute to H₂S production in the brain or modulation of cardiovascular functions^{5.6}.

Several studies demonstrated that H₂S could exert protective effects in the cardiovascular system. In particular, H₂S has emerged as potential therapeutics³ for ischemia/reperfusion injury (IRI) of different organs². This knowledge mainly relies on the results from animal studies using H₂S/H₂S donor molecules or pharmacological inhibitors of H₂S-producing enzymes². However, the physiological levels of H₂S in tissues have been a matter of debate because of methodological difficulties in measuring accurate, reliable, and reproducible H₂S levels in

¹Experimental and Clinical Research Center, a joint cooperation between the Charité Medical Faculty and the Max-Delbrück Center (MDC) for Molecular Medicine, Berlin, Germany. ³Max-Delbrück Center (MDC) for Molecular Medicine, Berlin, Germany. ³Max-Delbrück Center (MDC) for Molecular Medicine, Berlin, Germany, ³Piriedrich-Alexander-University of Erlangen-Nürnberg, Department of Chemistry and Pharmacy, Erlangen, Germany. ⁴Hannover Medical School, Hannover, Germany. ⁵German Institute of Human Nutrition, Potsdam-Rehbrücke, Germany. ⁶Department of Biochemistry, Graduate School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Keio University, Tokyo, Japan. ⁷Charité Campus Virchow, Nephrology/Intensive Care, Berlin, Germany. ⁶These authors jointly supervised this work. Correspondence and requests for materials should be addressed to L.M. (email: maik.gollasch@charite.de)



Figure 1. Renal expression of H₂S-producing enzymes and H₂S. Gene expression levels of (A) cystathionine gamma-lyase (*Cth*), (B) cystathionine beta-synthase (*Cbs*) and (C) 3-mercaptopyruvate sulfurtransferase (*Mpst*) in sham- and ischemia/reperfusion (*I/R*)-injured kidneys of wild-type (*Cth*^{+/+}), heterozygous (*Cth*^{+/-}) and CTH-deficient (*Cth*^{-/-}) mice. Values plotted are mean \pm SEM (n = 4 in sham-operated groups, n = 8 in I/R-injured groups), $^{*}P < 0.05$ vs. sham-operated $Cth^{+/+}$ and sham-operated $Cth^{+/+}$, if $h^{+/-}$ and $Cth^{-/-}$ mice. (D) Relative CTH protein levels of sham- and I/R-injured kidneys of $Cth^{+/+}$, $Cth^{+/-}$ and $Cth^{-/-}$ mice. (D) Relative CTH protein levels of sham- and I/R-injured kidneys of $Cth^{+/+}$, $Cth^{+/-}$ and $Cth^{-/-}$ mice. (D) Relative density was calculated for the rests. (E) Levels of H₂S in intact kidneys on each gel was set to 100% and relative glotted are mean \pm SEM (n = 11 for $Cth^{+/+}$ and $Cth^{-/-}$, and n = 4 for $Cth^{+/-}$. AU, arbitrary units. n.d., not detectable.

biological samples. In addition, pharmacological CTH/CBS inhibitors have been used at suspicious high concentrations *in vivo* and *in vitro*³, which might cause the lack of specificity in enzyme inhibition^{2,9}. Therefore, transgenic animals have been recently developed to elucidate the role of H_2S in health and disease^{10.11}. CTH is highly expressed in the kidney and several studies demonstrated that H_2S could exert protective effects in renal IRI. Han *et al.* found that NaHS administration to IRI mice accelerated the recovery from renal dysfunc-

CTH is highly expressed in the kidney and several studies demonstrated that H₂S could exert protective effects in renal IRI. Han *et al.* found that NaHS administration to IRI mice accelerated the recovery from renal dysfunction and impaired tubular morphology, whereas the administration of *DL*-proparylglycine (PAG), an inhibitor of CTH, delayed it¹². NaHS administration had beneficial effects on renal IRI¹³ and gentamicin-induced acute kidney injury (AKI) in rats¹⁴. Tan *et al.* suggested that the beneficial effects of endogenously produced H₂S in AKI are, at least in part, mediated by toll-like receptors (TLRs)-mediated inflammatory response and apoptosis¹⁵. Chen *et al.* showed that exogenous H₂S reduces kidney injury from urinary-derived sepsis in rabbits, which is associated with decreased TNF- α expression in the kidneys¹⁶. On a conceptual level, these results are consistent with recent findings by Bos *et al.* who reported that their CTH-deficient (*Cth*^{-/-}) mice display aggravated renal IRI^{10,17} when our study was underway. The authors concluded that CTH protects against renal IRI, likely by modulating oxidative stress through the production of H₂S. Autosomal-recessive cystathioninuria (OMIM 219500), which is considered as a benign biochemical anomaly, is caused by homozygous or compound heterozygous mutations in *CTH* (OMIM 607657) and has a relatively high prevalence (1 per 14,000 live births)¹⁸ though with somewhat lower incidence in other reports^{19,20}. Therefore, both the findings of Bos *et al.* and ours could have important implications for humans.

Here, we used our $Cth^{-/-}$ mice on a C57BL/6J background¹¹ to elucidate the function of CTH in renal IRI. We found that the systemic CTH loss does not deteriorate the immediate outcome of AKI. Instead $Cth^{-/-}$ mice displayed reduced renal damage and renal expression of inflammatory cytokines/adhesion molecules after IRI, compared to littermate control (wild-type; $Cth^{+/+}$) and heterozygous ($Cth^{+/-}$) mice.

Results

The mRNA Expression of H_2S -Generating Enzymes in the Kidney. Levels of renal *Cth* mRNA in heterozygous (*Cth*^{+/-}) mice were approximately half of those in *Cth*^{+/+} mice (Fig. 1A). In both *Cth*^{+/+} and *Cth*^{+/-} mice subjected to IRI, renal *Cth* mRNA levels declined to one third of their initial expression levels (Fig. 1A). No *Cth* mRNA was detectable in the kidneys of *Cth*^{-/-} mice (Fig. 1A). Renal mRNA levels of two other





 $\rm H_2S$ -producing enzymes, CBS and MPST, were not different among all three Cth genotypes. These levels declined markedly after IRI and the levels after IRI were also not different among Cth genotypes (Fig. 1B,C).

Protein Expression of CTH and Endogenous H₂S Levels in the Kidney. Levels of renal CTH protein in heterozygous ($Cth^{+/-}$) mice were ~40% of those in $Cth^{+/+}$ mice (Fig. 1D) as previously reported¹¹. Similar to its mRNA level changes, renal CTH protein levels declined after IRI in both $Cth^{+/+}$ and $Cth^{+/-}$ mice and no CTH protein was detectable in the kidneys of $Cth^{-/-}$ mice (Fig. 1D). Next, we measured endogenous H₂S levels in the kidney to assess the impact of systemic CTH deletion on H₂S production. Kidneys of $Cth^{-/-}$ mice displayed approximately 30% and 50% reduced H₂S levels, respectively, compared to those of $Cth^{+/+}$ mice (Fig. 1E).

The impact of CTH loss in Renal Damage after IRI. To get insights into (patho)physiological roles of CTH in renal IRI, we performed comparative *in vivo* studies using $Cth^{+/+}$, $Cth^{+/-}$ and $Cth^{-/-}$ mice. Twenty-four



Figure 3. Flow cytometric analysis of renal granulocyte and macrophage infiltration. (A) Pre-gating on live cells using Fixable Viability Dye eFluor 660 and further gating on single cells. (B) Representative flow cytometry data of infiltrating Ly6G-positive cells (granulocytes) and F4/80-positive cells (macrophages) in 1/R-injured kidneys of $Cth^{+/+}$, $Cth^{+/-}$, and $Cth^{-/-}$ mice. Quantification of infiltrating (C) Ly6G-positive cells and (D) F4/80-positive cells. Values plotted are mean \pm SEM (n=6, 3 and 5 for $Cth^{+/+}$, $Cth^{+/-}$, and $Cth^{-/-}$ mice, respectively).

hours after ischemia, $Cth^{-/-}$ mice showed somewhat lower serum creatinine levels (136 µmol/l average) compared to $Cth^{+/-}$ mice (152 µmol/l average) and $Cth^{-/+}$ mice (155 µmol/l average) although the differences were not statistically significant (overall ANOVA P = 0.30; Fig. 2A). Renal mRNA levels of two sensitive AKI markers, lipocalin 2 (*Lcn2*; also known as neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin [*Ngal*]) and hepatitis A virus cellular receptor 1 (*Havcr1*; also known as kidney injury molecule 1 [*Kim1*]), were not different between $Cth^{+/+}$, $Cth^{+/-}$, and $Cth^{-/-}$ mice (Fig. 2B,C). To assess the degree of tubular damage after ischemic AKI, kidney sections were stained and examined by an experienced renal pathologist who was unaware of *Cth* genotypes. Histological analyses and semi-quantitative scoring revealed a moderate amelioration in cortical tubular damage after renal IRI in $Cth^{-/-}$ mice compared to $Cth^{+/-}$ or $Cth^{+/+}$ mice (Fig. 2D). Histological analysis of the S3 segments of the proximal tubules in the outer stripe of outer medulla, especially vulnerable loci against renal IRI, identified that $Cth^{-/-}$ mice (Fig. 2E). These parameters were comparable among sham-operated mice with all Cth genotypes (Supplementary Figure 1A–C). It is notable that all $Cth^{+/-}$ and $Cth^{-/-}$ mice that underwent surgery survived in this study.

The impact of CTH loss in Cellular Infiltration to the Kidneys after IRI. Renal IRI is known to associate with infiltration of granulocytes, monocytes/macrophages and other immune cells immediately after reperfusion, which contributes to inflammation and subsequent repair in injured kidneys²¹. Therefore, we characterized granulocytes and macrophages in renal IRI by flow cytometry. Whole kidney cell suspensions were immunolabelled for Ly6G and F4/80 as markers for granulocytes and macrophages, respectively. Among pre-gated singlet live cells (Fig. 3A), Ly6G-positive & F4/80-negative granulocytes as well as Ly6G-negative & F4/80-negative granulocytes as well as Ly6G-negative & F4/80-negative granulocytes and macrophages were detected (Fig. 3B). There were no significant differences in both granulocyte and macrophage year detected (Fig. 3B). There were no significant differences in both granulocyte and macrophage year 2A–C). We next performed immunohistochemistry to detect IRI-induced granulocyte infiltration (Supplementary Figure 3A)²². In the outer medulla after IRI, average Ly6B-positive cell numbers per view field were 12 in $Cth^{-/-}$ mice while 13 and 19 in $Cth^{+/-}$ and $Cth^{+/+}$ mice, respectively, although the differences were not statistically significant (P = 0.501, Supplementary Figure 3B). Furthermore, renal levels of *S100a8/a9* mRNAs for calprotectin, a heterodimeric protein that was recently found to co-localize with Ly6G in granulocyte after AKI and playing a crucial part in controlling M2 macrophage-mediated renal repair following IRI²³, were also not significantly different (Supplementary Figure 3C,D).

The impact of CTH loss in Expression of Cytokines, Chemokines, and Adhesion Molecules. Production of inflammatory molecules is maintained low in the normal kidney but is markedly increased under pathophysiological conditions such as ischemia²¹. We measured mRNA levels of several molecules involved in long-term outcome/repair after renal IRI. Renal expression of interleukin 1-beta (*Il1b*) and vascular cell adhesion





molecule 1 (*Vcam1*) after IRI was significantly lower in *Cth*^{-/-} mice compared to *Cth*^{+/-} mice (Fig. 4A,B). Also, renal expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha (*Tnf*) and vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 (*Vcam1*) was similarly lower in *Cth*^{-/-} mice compared to *Cth*^{+/-} mice (overall ANOVA P = 0.099 and P = 0.088, respectively) (Fig. 4C,D). Renal expression of other important cytokines/chemokines such as interleukin 6 (*Il6*), chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand 2 (*Cxcl2*), and chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 2 (*Ccl2*), were not altered among *Cth* geno-types (Supplementary Figure 4A–C).

The impact of CTH loss in *In Vitro* **Macrophage Polarization.** Although the proportion of infiltrating macrophages after IRI was not significantly different (Fig. 3D), renal mRNA expression of IL1-beta and TNF-alpha, the two major inflammatory cytokines of macrophage origin, was lower or in Cth^{-t-} mice (Fig. 4A,C). We hypothesized that macrophage polarization is disturbed by the lack of CTH, and thus investigated *Tnf* induction by the lipopolysaccharide (LPS)/interferon (IFN)-gamma *in vitro* treatment of bone marrow (BM)-derived macrophages from Cth^{+t+} and Cth^{-t-} mice (Fig. 5A,S). In contrast, *Mpst* expression was significantly induced by the same treatment in macrophages from Cth^{+t-} mice (Fig. 5B), and *Cbs* expression was not detectable in macrophages from either mice (data not shown). Under such conditions, *Tnf* expression was markedly induced by LPS/IFN-gamma treatment of both Cth^{+t-} macrophages, and the levels were significantly lower of Cth^{+t-} macrophages (Fig. 5C), although the supernatant TNF-alpha concentrations of activated macrophages were comparable between Cth^{+t+} mice (Fig. 5D).

Discussion

A number of studies have demonstrated the cytoprotective effects of H₂S in myocardial, liver, brain, pulmonary, and renal IRI (reviewed by Nicholson and Calvert)². Most of these studies utilized Na₂S/NaHS as exogenous H₂S donors and PAG as a non-specific CTH inhibitor. To overcome pharmacokinetic problems in H₂S donor applications and specificity issues of PAG, two research groups have independently generated mice in which *Cth* genes have been differentially deleted^{10,11}. In our study, we investigated the pathophysiological roles of CTH in renal



Figure 5. Gene expression of hydrogen sulfid producing enzymes and tumor necrosis alpha (Tnf) in bone marrow (BM)-derived macrophages. Gene expression levels of (A) cystathionine gamma-lyase (Cth), (B) 3-mercaptopyruvate sulfurtransferase (*Mpst*) and (C) *Tnf* in non-polarized M(–) and lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and interferon (IFN)-gamma polarized *Cth*^{+/+} and *Cth*^{-/-} BM-derived macrophages. Values plotted are mean \pm SEM (*n* = 12 of each group, 2 independent measurement, 6 biological repetition/experiment). *P < 0.05 vs. *Cth*^{+/+} M(–), *P < 0.05 vs. *Cth*^{+/+} M(–), *Cth*^{+/+} M(LPS+IFN-gamma) and *Cth*^{-/-} M(–), *S*P < 0.05 vs. *Cth*^{+/+} M(–), *Cth*^{+/+} M(LPS+IFN-gamma), *P < 0.05 vs. *Cth*^{+/+} M(–), *Ct*

IRI using one of those $Cth^{-/-}$ mice and their littermate $Cth^{+/-}$ and $Cth^{+/+}$ mice as controls; all were the offspring from the mating between $Cth^{+/-}$ males and $Cth^{+/-}$ females that had been backcrossed over 10 generations onto a C57BL/6 background¹¹. We found that the lack of CTH does not cause aggravated immediate renal functional impairments after IRI as assessed by serum creatinine levels (Fig. 2A) and renal expression of sensitive AKI markers, Lcn2 and Havcr1 (Fig. 2B,C). Our histological examinations rather identified a moderate amelioration in renal tubular damage in $Cth^{-/-}$ mice (Fig. 2D,E). While our study was underway, Bos *et al.* published findings with their $Cth^{-/-}$ mice (on a mixed strain back-

While our study was underway, Bos *et al.* published findings with their $Cth^{-/-}$ mice (on a mixed strain background; the sex of mice used is not indicated) investigating the role of CTH-derived H₂S in renal IRI¹⁷. They found that CTH deficiency aggravated kidney damage after IRI, which was associated with increased mortality¹⁷ however, we did not observe such severe systemic damage after renal IRI. The reasons for this discrepancy are possibly multifaceted. *First*, their *Cth*^{-/-} mice display age-dependent hypertension (15–20 mmHg higher systolic blood pressure *vs Cth*^{+/+} mice only after 7 weeks of age) and sex-related hyperhomocysteinemia in which females have six times the plasma homocysteine levels (120 *vs* 20 μ M) in males^{10,17}, both of which are caused by unknown mechanisms. Hypertension *per se* has deleterious effects on renal IRI^{24,25} nevertheless, hypertension was not properly treated in their studies¹⁷. This affair makes it difficult to assess the impact of reduced renal H₂S production over elevated blood pressure on the outcome of IRI; fortunately, our *Cth*^{-/-} mice display systolic normotension¹¹. This fact may, at least in part, underlie differences between their and our findings. It should be noted that our *Cth*^{-/-} males and females display similar serum levels of homocysteine (104–151 μ M)¹¹ the reasons for this difference are yet unknown but may depend on differences in genetic backgrounds and/or nutritional conditions. *Second*, Bos *et al.* performed renal ischemia by clamping both (right and left) renal arteries for 30 min, whereas

we performed uninephrectomy by clamping the renal artery of the remnant left kidney for 20 min¹⁷. Despite the differences in surgical protocols, serum creatinine levels at 24 h after IRI were equivalent. But, importantly, all mice that underwent surgery survived in our study while Bos *et al.* observed 35% mortality only in $Cth^{-/-}$ mice¹⁷. Third, we used a temperature controller with heating pads to maintain a stable core temperature (which was measured continuously during surgery by a rectal probe) whereas Bos *et al.* used only heating pads and lamps¹⁷. It is well known that fluctuations in core body temperature contribute to variability in IRI and the way of maintaining body temperature during ischemia has a major impact on the outcome of IRI²⁶. Fourth, their $Cth^{-/-}$ mice showed a massive (91%) reduction in renal H₂S production compared to $Cth^{+/+}$ mice¹⁷ while our $Cth^{-/-}$ mice showed only 50% reduction (Fig. 1E). Although the methods used for H₂S measurement substantially differ between the two studies and this precludes the direct comparison, >90% reduction is Sc ousidering the facts that (i) $Cth^{-/-}$ kidney still expresses CBS and MPST, (ii) (increased/activated) CBS could compensate for H₂S production when CTH is inhibited or abrogated (though we did not observe compensatory *Cbs* mRNA induction; (Fig. 1B) and (iii) renal *Cbs/Mpst* expression was markedly down-regulated by ischemia/reperfusion irrespective of *Cth* genotypes (Fig. 1B, C)^{11,12,17,278}. A previous study mentioned that the reduction in CBS (rather than CTH) activity may serve as the major contributor for endogenous H₂S level reduction during renal IRI²⁹.

activity may serve as the major contributor for endogenous H_2S level reduction during renal $\mathbb{R}I^{29}$. Despite such differences, we also found some agreement with previous studies by Bos *et al.*¹⁷ and others^{27,30}. First, renal expression (either gene or protein) of both CTH and CBS were suppressed after renal IRI (Fig. 1A,B). It might be noteworthy that the partial or complete loss of CTH did not cause compensatory induction (or reduced repression of expression) of CBS (or MPST) during IRI (Fig. 1B,C) at least on mRNA level. Second, both Bos *et al.* and we did not find significant differences between *Cth* genotypes in the numbers of granulocyte infiltrated into injured kidneys of IRI mice (Fig. 3C and Supplementary Figure 3A–C)¹⁷. We also counted the numbers of F4/80-positive macrophages infiltrated into injured kidneys of IRI mice and found that macrophages behave similar to granulocytes (Fig. 3D). In contrast, renal expression of *Tnf*, *Il1b*, *Icam1*, and *Vcam1* after IRI were lower (though overall ANOVA was just P = 0.099 and 0.088 for *Tnf* and *Icam1*, respectively) in *Cth⁻¹⁻* mice compared to *Cth⁺¹⁻* mice (Fig. 4A–D). TNF-alpha was initially discovered as a LPS-induced macrophage product³¹. It is also released during IRI and acts as a potent pro-inflammatory cytokine³², and in line, the blockade of TNF-alpha signaling is a novel promising therapeutic target in renal IRI³³. Although intrinsic renal cells also secret TNF-alpha upon injury, monocytes/classically activated macrophages are considered as the main source of TNF-alpha fire early renal IRI¹⁴⁴. We found that CTH deficiency alters *Tnf* expression in LPS/IFN-gamma-stimulated BM-derived macrophages that intrinsically differ from LPS-stimulated peritoneal macrophages^{10,35}. However, the supernatant TNF-alpha concentrations did not differ between both groups, which questions the physiological relevance of this finding. Meanwhile, renal expression of other cytokines that are known to play a role in renal IRI³⁶ (

Our findings are in contrast to previous results by others who use PAG for CTH inhibition. Tripatara *et al.* found that single intraperitoneal administration of PAG (50 mg/kg, 1 h before ischemia) prevented the renal recovery from IRI (45-min ischemia/72-h reperfusion) in a rat bilateral ischemia model³⁷. More recently Han *et al.* showed similar deteriorative effects of PAG in renal IRI (50 mg/kg daily (i.p.), beginning 2 days after ischemia) in mice¹². However, PAG (5 mg/kg (i.p.), twice a day for 4 successive days) exhibited nephroprotective effects in the cisplatin model of AKI in rats³⁸. Similar protective effects of PAG (50 mg/kg (i.p.) at 2 h after adriamycin injection) have been observed in adriamycin-induced nephrotoxicity in rats³⁹. Whereas these kidney injury models differ, they point out that PAG treatment can have multiple effects depending on the renal injury models. Moreover, the specificity of this widely used CTH inhibitor and relatively late time points after reperfusion are a matter of concern. Our model is of particular interest because we used a genetic approach to abrogate CTH specifically and investigated acute renal post-ischemic injury after 24 h, a time point where serum creatinine levels are the highest and renal *Cth/Cbs* expression levels are the howest¹⁷.

Numerous studies have revealed cytoprotective/anti-oxidative/anti-inflammatory roles of H₂S, but some studies also have identified pro-inflammatory roles of H₂S that accelerate inflammatory responses; for example, Ang *et al.* previously reported that caerulein-induced acute pancreatic damage as well as its associated lung injury was ameliorated in $Cth^{-/-}$ mice compared to $Cth^{+/+40}$. It is possible that CTH-produced H₂S may act as a pro-inflammatory factor in renal IRI. In addition, further studies should also clarify the impact of high levels of cystathionine and homocysteine and low levels of taurine that are common in $Cth^{-/-}$ mice¹¹ on the outcome of renal IRI⁴¹⁻⁴³. In conclusion, the systemic loss of CTH in mice caused approximately 50% reduction in renal H₂S levels but did not influence immediate outcomes of ischemic AKI; however, it reduced tubular damage moderately and suppressed the renal expression of inflammatory cytokines. Future studies should clarify the role of CTH on the long-term outcome of renal impairment in AKI.

Methods

Mice. $Cth^{+/-}$ and $Cth^{-/-}$ mice were generated and characterized earlier¹¹. In this study, $Cth^{+/-}$ males and females were bred to obtain $Cth^{+/+}$, $Cth^{+/-}$, and $Cth^{-/-}$ littermates. Mice were allowed free access to standard chow and water. The mice were kept in a 12:12-h light-dark cycle. All works involving animals have been approved by the Berlin Animal Review Board in 2012 (No. G 0444/12) and conducted in accordance with the American Physiological Society standards.

Renal IRI Model. Male mice (age between 12–15 weeks) were used. Anesthesia was performed with isoflurane (2.3%) in air (350 ml/min)⁴⁴. Each mouse was operated separately to ensure similar exposure to isoflurane (35.7 ± 2.3 min, mean \pm SD)⁴⁵. In order to keep body temperature stable at 37°C and monitor it during surgery, a temperature controller with heating pad (TCAT-2, Physitemp Instruments) was used. Rectal body temperature was continuously monitored during surgery using a sensor-based thermistor (36.9 ± 0.4°C at beginning of the surgery, 37.0 ± 0.4°C after uninephrectomy, 37.1 ± 0.3°C five minutes after clamping the left renal pedicle and

 37.1 ± 0.1 °C at the end of surgery). After right-sided uninephrectomy, ischemia was induced by clipping the pedicles of the left kidney for 20 minutes with non-traumatic aneurysm clips (FE690K, Aesculap). Reperfusion was confirmed visually. After surgery, mice had free access to water and chow. We applied body-warm sterile physiological saline solutions and preemptive analgesia with tramadol (1 mg/kg) for every mouse. Sham operation was performed in a similar manner, except for clamping the renal pedicle. Mice with bleeding during surgery, with incomplete renal reperfusion, with excessive exposure of isoflurane of any reason, with significant temperature fluctuation during surgery, or with signs for infection 24 h after IRI, were immediately euthanized and were not used for further analysis. After 24 h of reperfusion, mice were sacrificed, and kidney and blood samples were collected for further analysis. The kidneys were divided into three portions. One third of the kidney was placed in optimum cutting temperature (OCT) compound for immunohistochemistry, one third was immersed in 4% phosphate-buffered saline (PBS)-buffered formalin for histology, and the rest was snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen for RNA preparation.

Quantitative Real-Time (qRT)-PCR. Total RNA from snap-frozen kidneys were isolated using RNeasy RNA isolation kit (Qiagen) according to manufacturer's instruction after homogenization with a Precellys 24 homogenizator (Peqlab). RNA concentration and quality was determined by NanoDrop-1000 spectrophotometer (Ihermo Fisher Scientific). Two micrograms of RNA were transcribed to cDNA (Applied Biosystems). Quantitative analysis of target mRNA expression was performed with qRT-PCR using the relative standard curve method. TaqMan and SYBR green analysis was conducted using an Applied Biosystems 7500 Sequence Detector (Applied Biosystems). The expression levels were normalized to 18S or to beta-actin. Primer sequences are provided in Supplementary Table 1.

Western Blot. Sham and IRI-damaged kidneys were lysed with RIPA buffer (Sigma) supplemented with Complete[®] protease inhibitor (Roche), 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF), phosphatase inhibitor cocktail 3 (Sigma) and were homogenized using a Precellys 24 homogenizator. Fifty micrograms of protein samples were separated by 12% SDS-PAGE. After wet transfer, non-specific binding sites of the nitrocellulose membrane were blocked with 5% non-fat skim milk in Tris-buffered saline containing 0.1% Tween (TBST). The membrane was then incubated with primary antibody (anti-CTH, 1:500 (ab80643) Abcam or anti-CTH carboxyl terminus rabbit polyclonal antibody that recognizes amino acids 194–398 of a rat 398-amino acid CTH protein, 1:1,000^{r6} and anti-beta-actin, 1:2,000 (4970) Cell Signaling). Secondary antibody was from LI-COR Biosciences (anti-rabbit, 1:5,000). Images were acquired by Odyssey infrared imaging system (LI-COR Biosciences). Beta-actin was used as a loading control. Membranes were first probed with anti-CTH antibody and detected for their signals, and then stripped for re-probing with anti-beta-actin antibody (as loading controls). Successive stripping was confirmed by the absence of signals in the stripped membranes.

TNF-alpha Measurement. TNF-alpha levels in the supernatants of macrophages (that were used for qRT-PCR analyses) were measured using the Mouse TNF alpha ELISA Ready-SET-Gol[®] Kit (eBioscience).

H₂S Measurement. To detect H₂S production in the kidneys, $Cth^{+/+}$ and $Cth^{-/-}$ mice were euthanized and freshly isolated kidneys were incubated in PBS containing 50µM of a recently developed fluorescent probe (Washington State Probe-1 [WSP-1], Cayman Chemical) for H₂S⁴⁷. After 45 min of incubation the samples were snap-frozen. Thaved samples were homogenized and centrifuged, and the supernatants were analyzed for fluorescence signals using Ex. 465 nm/Em. 525 nm using a spectrofluorometer⁴⁸. Full spectrum was also analyzed to ensure that the measured fluorescence is indeed the product of the reaction between the probe and H₂S. Further experiments with spiking the samples with H₂S donor NaHS (10 and 50µM) were performed to determine the accuracy of our measurements.

Serum Creatinine. Blood samples were taken from left ventricle at the time of termination. After clotting on room temperature for at least 15 min blood was centrifuged at $2,000 \times \text{g}$ for 10 min to obtain serum. Serum creatinine was measured by external clinical laboratory (Labor 28 GmbH, Berlin).

Histology. Formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded sections $(2 \mu m)$ of kidneys were subjected to Masson's trichrome stain using standard protocols. The severity of tubular injury was assessed by a renal pathologist who is blinded to the genotype of the mice. Tubular necrosis was evaluated in a semi-quantitative manner by determining the percentage of tubules in the cortex where epithelial necrosis, loss of the brush border, cast formation, and tubular dilation was observed. A five-point scale was used: 1, normal kidney; 2: 1 to 25%; 3: 25 to 50%; 4: 50 to 75%; and 5, 75 to 100% tubular necrosis.

Immunofluorescence. Five-µm thick cryosections of IRI-injured kidneys were post-fixed in ice-cold acetone, air-dried, rehydrated and blocked with 10% normal donkey serum (Jackson ImmunoResearch) for 30 min. Then sections were incubated in a humid chamber overnight at 4 °C with rat anti-Ly6B.2 (Gr1) (1:300; MCA771G; AbD Serotec). The bound anti-Ly6B.2 antibody were visualized using Cy3-conjugated secondary antibody (1:500; Jackson ImmunoResearch) by incubating the sections for 1 h in a humid chamber at room temperature. Positive cells were counted in the outer medulla on five non-overlapping view fields at 200 × magnification and mean cell numbers were taken for analysis.

Flow cytometry. To assess granulocyte and macrophage infiltration in sham-operated in IRI-injured kidneys, single cell suspension was created with GentleMacs C-tubes (Miltenyi Biotec) in the presence of 10 mg/mL collagenase IV (Sigma) and 200 U/mL DNase I (Roche) dissolved in Hank's balanced salt solution. Dead cells were excluded from the analysis using Fixable Viability Dye eFluor 660 (eBioscience). Granulocytes and macrophages

were stained with PE-conjugated anti-Ly6G (clone: 1A8, Beckton Dickinson) and eFluor450-conjugated anti-F4/80 (clone: BM8, eBioscience) antibodies, respectively. Samples were analyzed on FACSCanto II flow cytometer (Becton Dickinson). Data analysis was conducted by FlowJo (TreeStar) software.

Preparation and activation of BM-derived macrophages. Cells were isolated from the femur and tibia of freshly euthanized $Ch^{+/+}$ and $Ch^{-/-}$ mice, by flushing with approximately 10 ml of activation media (RPMI1640 containing L-glutamine (Gibco), 10% (v/v) fetal calf serum (FCS), 10 mM HEPES, 50 μ M beta-mercaptoethanol, (%) (v/v) penicillin/steptomycin (P/S), without colony stimulating factor (CSF)-1). Cells were then pelleted, and resuspended in monocyte differentiation media (DMEM (Gibco), 10% (v/v) FCS, 5% (v/v) adult horse serum (Cell Concepts), 1:100 non-essential amino acids (Sigma), 50μ M beta-mercaptoethanol (Sigma), with 20% (v/v) L929 conditioned media containing CSF-1 Gibco[®] RPMI. Conditioned media containing CSF-1 was generated by collecting the media from L929 cells (ATCC) cultured for 14 days in DMEM containing 10% (v/v) FCS, 1:100 by collecting the media from D22 cells (ATCC) cultured for 14 days in DMEM containing 10% (V/V) PCS, 1:100 non-essential amino acids, 10 mM HEPES and 1% (V/V) P/S. For macrophage differentiation, 10⁷ bone-marrow cells were cultivated in 50 ml of differentiation media for 7 days in sealed, hydrophobic Teflon[®] bags (FT FEP 100 C (DuPont), American Durafilm) at 37 °C and 10% CO₂. The yield of BM-derived M(-) macrophages (also known as M0) from one bag was consistently approximately 7–10 × 10⁷ cells with a purity of >95% (determined as F4/80+ CD11b+ cells by flow cytometry). For activation of M(-) into M(LPS+IFN-gamma) (also known as M1), BM-derived M(-) were harvested from Teflon bags, pelleted and resuspended into activation media containing LPS (100 mg/ml) and recombinant mouse IEN gamma (20 mg/ml). For aPT PCP and heating 4. LPS (100 ng/ml) and recombinant mouse IFN-gamma (20 ng/ml). For qRT-PCR analysis, 2 × 106 BMD-derived M(-) and BM-derived M(LPS+IFNgamma) were plated per well of 6-well plates. In all cases, the M(-) macrophages were first allowed to rest and adhere for 2 h. Then cells were activated for 24 h at 37 °C and 5% CO.

Statistics. Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad 5.04 (GraphPad Software) and SPSS 13.0 (SPSS) softwares. Normality of the data was evaluated by Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. To test the presence of an outlier, Grubbs softwates root and visit of the data was valuated by non-way ANOVA using Tukey's post-hoc test or by Games-Howell post-hoc test if homogeneity of variances was violated, with the exception of tubular necrosis data. Those were anam lyzed using Kruskal-Wallis test and Mann Whitney U-test. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM, or median and interquartile range in case of tubular necrosis data. P values < 0.05 were considered as statistically significant.

References

- Warenycia, M. W. et al. Acute hydrogen sulfide poisoning. Demonstration of selective uptake of sulfide by the brainstem by measurement of brain sulfide levels. Biochem Pharmacol 38, 973-981 (1989).

- measurement of brain sunde levels. *Biochem Pharmacol* **38**, 973–981 (1989).
 Nicholson, C. K. & Calvert, J. W. Hydrogen sulfide and ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Pharmacol Res* **62**, 289–297 (2010).
 Szabo, C. Hydrogen sulphide and its therapeutic potential. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* **6**, 917–935 (2007).
 Kabil, O. & Banerjee, R. Enzymology of H2S biogenesis, decay and signaling. *Antioxid Redox Signal* **20**, 770–782 (2014).
 Vandiver, M. & Snyder, S. H. Hydrogen sulfide: a gasotransmitter of clinical relevance. *J Mol Med* (*Berl*) **90**, 255–263 (2012).
 Asgahara, N. Regulation of mercaptopyruvate sulfurtransferase activity via intrasubunit and intersubunit redox-sensing switches. *Antioxid Redox Signal* **19**, 1792–1802 (2013).
 Whiteman, M. & Winyard, P. G. Hydrogen sulfide and inflammation: the good, the bad, the ugly and the promising. *Expert Rev Clin Pharmacol* **4**, 13, 32 (2011).
- Pharmacol 4, 13-32 (2011).
 Schleifenbaum, J. *et al.* Systemic peripheral artery relaxation by KCNQ channel openers and hydrogen sulfide. J Hypertens 28, 1875–1882 (2010).
- 9. Kolluru, G. K., Shen, X., Bir, S. C. & Kevil, C. G. Hydrogen sulfide chemical biology: pathophysiological roles and detection. Nitric Kolluru, G. K., Shen, X., Bir, S. C. & Kevil, C. G. Hydrogen sulfide chemical biology: pathophysiological roles and detection. *Nitric Oxide* 35, 5–20 (2013).
 Yang, G. et al. H2S as a physiologic vasorelaxant: hypertension in mice with deletion of cystathionine gamma-lyase. *Science* 322,
- 587-590 (2008).
- Ishii, J. et al. Cystathionine gamma-lyase-deficient mice require dietary cysteine to protect against acute lethal myopathy and oxidative injury. J Biol Chem 285, 26358–26368 (2010).
- oxidative injury. *J Biol Chem* 285, 26358–26368 (2010).
 12. Han, S. J., Kim, J. L., Park, J. W. & Park, K. M. Hydrogen sulfide accelerates the recovery of kidney tubules after renal ischemia/ reperfusion injury. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* 30, 1497–1506 (2015).
 13. Azizi, F., Seifi, B., Kadkhodaee, M. & Ahghari, P. Administration of hydrogen sulfide protects ischemia reperfusion-induced acute kidney injury by reducing the oxidative stress. *Ir J Med Sci*, doi: 10.1007/s11845-015-1328-z (2015).
 14. Otunctemur, A. *et al.* Protective effect of hydrogen sulfide on toll-like receptor pathway in renal ischemia/reperfusion injury in rats. *Ren Evid* 272, 723 (2016).

- Kai, Z. et al. Injust of inapact of loginous inducing sum of the receiper particular in reliant schema reperiods in july in ratis. Rev Fail 37, 727–733 (2015).
 Chen, X. et al. Hydrogen sulfide reduces kidney injury due to urinary-derived sepsis by inhibiting NF-kappaB expression, decreasing TNF-alpha levels and increasing IL-10 levels. Exp Ther Med 8, 464–470 (2014).
 Bos, E. M. et al. Cystathionine gamma-lyase protects against renal ischemia/reperfusion by modulating oxidative stress. J Am Soc Nephrol 24, 759–770 (2013).

- Nephrol 24, 759–770 (2013).
 Wong, L. T., Hardwick, D. F., Applegarth, D. A. & Davidson, A. G. Review of Metabolic Screening Program of Children's Hospital, Vancouver, British Columbia. 1971–1977. *Clin Biochem* 12, 167–172 (1979).
 Wilcken, B., Smith, A. & Brown, D. A. Urine screening for aminoacidopathies: is it beneficial? Results of a long-term follow-up of cases detected bny screening one million babies. *J Pediatr* 97, 492–497 (1980).
 Lemieux, B., Auray-Blais, C., Giguere, R., Shapcott, D. & Scriver, C. R. Newborn urine screening experience with over one million infants in the Quebec Network of Genetic Medicine. *J Inherit Metab Dis* 11, 45–55 (1988).
 Bonventre, J. V. & Zuk, A. Ischemic acute renal failure: an inflammatory disease? *Kidney Int* 66, 480–485 (2004).
 A. set al. Compartmentalization of neutrophils in the kidney and lung following acute ischemic kidney injury. *Kidney Int* 75, 688–608 (2009).

- 689-698 (2009).
- 689-698 (2009).
 Dessing, M. C. et al. The calcium-binding protein complex S100A8/A9 has a crucial role in controlling macrophage-mediated renal repair following ischemia/reperfusion. *Kidney Int* 87, 85-94 (2015).
 Aronson, S., Fontes, M. L., Miao, Y. & Mangano, D. T. Risk index for perioperative renal dysfunction/failure: critical dependence on pulse pressure hypertension. *Circulation* 115, 733-742 (2007).
 Kakoki, M. et al. Effects of vasodilatory antihypertensive agents on endothelial dysfunction in rats with ischemic acute renal failure. *Hypertens Res* 23, 527-533 (2000).
Delbridge, M. S., Shrestha, B. M., Raftery, A. T., El Nahas, A. M. & Haylor, J. L. The effect of body temperature in a rat model of renal ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Transplant Proc* 39, 2983–2985 (2007).
 Wang, P., Isaak, C. K. & Siow, Y. L. & O. K. Downregulation of cystathionine beta-synthase and cystathionine gamma-lyase

expression stimulates inflammation in kidney ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Physiol Rep* 2, doi: 10.14814/phy2.12251 (2014).
28. Wu, N. & Siow, Y. L. & O, K. Ischemia/reperfusion reduces transcription factor Sp1-mediated cystathionine beta-synthase expression in the kidney. *J Biol Chem* 285, 18225–18233 (2010).

- expression in the kidney. J Biol Chem 285, 18225–18233 (2010).
 29. Xu, Z. et al. Ischemia-reperfusion reduces cystathionine-beta-synthase-mediated hydrogen sulfide generation in the kidney. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 297, F27–35 (2009).
 30. Kim, J. L et al. Protective role of methionine sulfoxide reductase A against ischemia/reperfusion injury in mouse kidney and its involvement in the regulation of trans-sulfuration pathway. Antioxid Redox Signal 18, 2241–2250 (2013).
 31. Carswell, E. A. et al. An endotoxin-induced serum factor that causes necrosis of tumors. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 72, 3666–3670 (1975).
 32. Donnahoo, K. K., Shames, B. D., Harken, A. H. & Meldrum, D. R. Review article: the role of tumor necrosis factor in renal ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Utrol* 162, 196–203 (1999).
 33. Choi, D. E. et al. Pretreatment with the tumor nerosis factor-alpha blocker etanercept attenuated ischemia-reperfusion renal injury. *Transolant Proc* 41, 3590–3596 (2009).
- Choi, D. E. et al. Pretreatment with the tumor nerosis factor-alpha blocker etanercept attenuated ischemia-reperfusion renal injury. Transplant Proc 41, 3590–3596 (2009).
 Lee, S. et al. Distinct macrophage phenotypes contribute to kidney injury and repair. J Am Soc Nephrol 22, 317–326 (2011).
 Shirozu, K. et al. Cystathionine gamma-lyase deficiency protects mice from galactosamine/lipopolysaccharide-induced acute liver failure. Antioxid Redox Signal 20, 204–216 (2014).
 Chung, A. C. & Lan, H. Y. Chemokines in renal injury. J Am Soc Nephrol 22, 802–809 (2011).
 Tripatara, P. et al. Generation of endogenous hydrogen sulfide by cystathionine gamma-lyase limits renal ischemia/reperfusion injury and dysfunction. Lab Invest 88, 1038–1048 (2008).
 Della Clatty Enversement, H. et al. Labibitize of thefacence multicle formation gamma-lyase limits renal ischemia/reperfusion injury and dysfunction. Lab Invest 88, 1038–1048 (2008).

- Bella Colta Francescato, H. et al. Inhibition of hydrogen sulphide formation reduces cisplatin-induced renal damage. Nephrol Dial Transplant 26, 479–488 (2011).
- 39. Francescato, H. D. et al. Role of endogenous hydrogen sulfide on renal damage induced by adriamycin injection. Arch Toxicol 85,
- Anacona (2011).
 Ang, A. D., Rivers-Auty, J., Hegde, A., Ishii, I. & Bhatia, M. The effect of CSE gene deletion in caerulein-induced acute pancreatitis in the mouse. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 305, G712-721 (2013).

- in the mouse. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 305, G712–721 (2013).
 Zhang, F. & Siow, Y. L. & O, K. Hyperhomocysteinemia activates NF-kappaB and inducible nitric oxide synthase in the kidney. Kidney Int 65, 1327–1338 (2004).
 Maclean, K. N. et al. Cystathionine protects against endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced lipid accumulation, tissue injury, and apoptotic cell death. J Biol Chem 287, 31994–32005 (2012).
 Michalk, D. V., Hoffmann, B. & Minor, T. Taurine reduces renal ischemia/reperfusion injury in the rat. Adv Exp Med Biol 526, 49–56 (2003).
 Chen, L. et al. Role of TRPVI channels in ischemia/reperfusion-induced acute kidney injury. PLoS One 9, e109842 (2014).
 Lee, H. T. et al. Isoflurane protects against renal ischemia and reperfusion injury and modulates leukocyte infiltration in mice. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 293, F713–722 (2007).
 Ishi, L. et al. Murine cystathionine gamma-lyase: complete cDNA and genomic sequences, promoter activity, tissue distribution and developmental expression. Biochem 1381, 113–123 (2004).

Isin, F. et al. Notified Systems (Section 1984, 113-123 (2004).
 Liu, C. et al. Capture and visualization of hydrogen sulfide by a fluorescent probe. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 50, 10327–10329 (2011).
 Dux, M., Will, C., Vogler, B., Filipovic, M. R. & Messlinger, K. Meningeal blood flow is controlled by H S-NO crosstalk activating a HNO-TRPA1-CGRP signalling pathway. Br J Pharmacol, 173, 431–445 (2015).

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG) (FOR 1368 to M.G. and D.N.M.), DAAD and Dr. Werner Jackstädt-Stiftung (to M.G.). We thank Sabine Bartel PhD, May-Britt Köhler, Jana Czychi and Petra Berkefeld for help and expert technical assistance.

Author Contributions

L.M. designed the experiments, performed Western blots, analyzed data and drafted the manuscript. I.A.Sz. contributed substantially to conception of the study and revised the manuscript critically for important intellectual content. M.R.F. performed H₂S measurements and revised the manuscript. M.K. performed genotyping of the mice and revised the manuscript. A.B. performed the flow-cytometry experiments. J.-K. P. performed the histological evaluation of kidneys. L.P. performed all experiments with bone marrow-derived macrophages. G.N. performed ischemia-reperfusion surgery and collected blood and tissues. S.K. contributed to the drafting of the manuscript and revised the manuscript. J.A. performed the histological evaluation of granulocyte influx in kidneys. I.I. supplied the animals and revised the manuscript critically for important intellectual content. D.N.M. designed experiments with macrophages, supervised the experimental work, revised the manuscript critically for important intellectual content. M.G. supervised the experimental work, contributed to the drafting of the manuscript and revised the manuscript critically for important intellectual content. Final approval of the version to be published was obtained. All authors agree to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved.

Additional Information

Supplementary information accompanies this paper at http://www.nature.com/srep

Competing financial interests: The authors declare no competing financial interests.

How to cite this article: Markó, L. et al. Role of Cystathionine Gamma-Lyase in Immediate Renal Impairment and Inflammatory Response in Acute Ischemic Kidney Injury. Sci. Rep. 6, 27517; doi: 10.1038/srep27517 (2016).

This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons license, unless indicated otherwise in the credit line; if the material is not included under the Creative Commons license, users will need to obtain permission from the license holder to reproduce the material. To view a copy of this license, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/

SCIENTIFIC REPORTS | 6:27517 | DOI: 10.1038/srep27517

3. Role of TRPC6 in kidney damage after acute ischemic kidney injury

Zheng Z, Tsvetkov D, Bartolomaeus TUP, Erdogan C, Krügel U, Schleifenbaum J, Schaefer M, Nürnberg B, Chai X, Ludwig FA, N'diaye G, Köhler MB, Wu K, Gollasch M, **Markó L**. Sci Rep. 2022;12(1):3038.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-06703-9

The kidney can be the primary source of its disease (primary nephrological clinical entities), but the pathogenic processes often originate outside the kidney (secondary kidney diseases).⁴ Dysfunction of ion channels (membrane proteins that form pores and thereby allow ions to pass through the cell membrane) or their interacting proteins, either of genetic or acquired reasons, can lead to primary renal clinical disease. As such, in 2005, the familiar form of focal segmental glomerular sclerosis (FSGS) was described as a gain-of-function mutation in the canonical transient receptor potential (TRPC) 6-channel gene.³⁴ TRPC channels belong to the TRP superfamily⁹³ and are the most intensely studied family of channels in glomerular cells.⁹⁴ In humans, they have 6 subtypes (designated as TRPC1-7, whereas TRPC2 is a pseudogene). TRPC6, similarly to the other TRPC channels, has a broad expression profile in the kidney. In mammals, it is expressed in mesangial cells,⁹⁵ podocytes,³⁵ vascular smooth muscle cells,⁹⁶, and in principal cells of the collecting duct and scattered in some renal cortex cells.⁹⁷ The TRPC6 channel can be activated by different stimuli, including stretch activation,⁹⁸ redox mechanism⁹⁹, or diacylglycerol, generated by the activation of G protein-coupled receptors.¹⁰⁰ Activation of the TRPC6 channel leads mainly to Ca²⁺ influx resulting in changes in cell motility or to the secretion of cellular vesicles⁹⁶, but TRPC6 channels are often part of a larger molecular signaling complex.¹⁰¹ Because mutations of the TRPC6 channels can lead to glomerulopathy leading to excessive fibrosis, and the activation of the channels involves mechanisms which are also playing a significant role in renal damage signaling pathways, it became fast a target molecule for renoprotection.

Studies investigating renal fibrosis using the obstructive nephropathy model reported reductions in tubulointerstitial fibrosis in TRPC6 knockout mice^{40,102} and wild-type mice treated with TRPC channel inhibitors.^{39,103} Knocking out the TRPC6 channel has been additionally shown to reduce glomerular damage in several acquired glomerular disease models. Still, this

strategy was less effective in alleviating diabetic nephropathy in mouse and rat models.¹⁰⁴ However, if modulation of TRPC6 channels can be used as a nephroprotective approach in acute renal diseases such as AKI has not been considered, although reactive oxygen species produced during ischemic injury could possibly modify the activation of TRPC6 channels. Additionally, the TRPC6 channel has been shown to play a role in transendothelial immune cell migration and C-X-C motif chemokine receptor 2-mediated neutrophil chemotaxis. These mechanisms are crucial in the early phase of AKI.^{105,106} We used wild-type and TRPC6 knockout (TRPC6^{-/-}) mice⁹⁶ and applied specific, orally bioactive TRPC6 inhibitors (SH045 and BI-749327) to explore the potential nephroprotective effect of such an approach during the early stage of AKI.

At baseline, TRPC6^{-/-} mice had comparable blood parameters to wild-type mice (except elevated but physiological Na⁺ and ionized Ca²⁺ concentrations). After a 20-minute ischemia and 24 hours reperfusion injury (IRI), wild-type and TRPC6^{-/-} mice developed similarly high serum creatinine, blood urea nitrogen, and potassium concentrations. Renal histopathology, as well as the extent of renal neutrophil granulocyte infiltration and renal mRNA expression of various inflammatory cytokines (such as tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNFa) or interleukin (IL) 6) or adhesion molecules (such as vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 or intercellular adhesion molecule 1) were also comparable between the WT and TRPC6^{-/-} mice that underwent IRI. Since the TRPC6^{-/-} mice we used (with a mixed, 129Sv:C57BL/6J genetic background) were established as a homozygous lineage, we could not use real littermates as control animals; therefore, mice of C57BL/6J genetic background were used as control wild-type animals. To overcome this potential confounding factor, we further investigated the effect of 2 specific TRPC6 inhibitors, namely SH045 and BI-749327. SH045 was applied intravenously (through the tail vein) 30 minutes before ischemia induction, and BI-749327, since its orally bioavailable, via oral gavage 60 min before induction of renal ischemia. Additionally, we randomly assigned mice to two ischemic times: a milder one of 17.5 minutes and another with 20 minutes of ischemia, which induces more severe damage. High concentrations of the injected SH045 were detected by high-performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry in the renal tissue of mice 30 minutes as well as 24 hours after IRI. Still, similarly to the findings of the experiments with the TRPC6^{-/-} mice, we could not detect any effect of the applied inhibitors on the immediate outcome of renal IRI. Using isolated kidneys and perfused with SH045 or BI-749327, we also could not see any impact of TRPC6 inhibition on the renal arterial myogenic tone.

Whereas we could not detect any effect on the immediate outcome of AKI by lacking or inhibiting TRPC6 channels, a recent study using pharmacological inhibition of TRPC6 in mice

(though using different TRPC6 channel blockers) demonstrated reduced astrocytic apoptosis as well as cytotoxic and inflammatory responses in cerebral IRI model.¹⁰⁷ More intriguingly, as our study was on its way, Hou et al. published renoprotective effect of lacking TRPC6 in a renal IRI model.¹⁰⁸ They observed that lacking TRPC6 leads to ameliorated IRI-induced renal damage by increasing the level of autophagy and restraining mitochondria-mediated apoptosis. The discrepancy between their and our findings has probably multiple reasons. For example, crucial experimental circumstances, such as the genetic background of the mice or the renal IRI protocol, were different between the two studies.

In summary, despite a multimodal experimental approach, we could not provide evidence that inhibition of TRPC6 channels would be beneficial to ameliorate outcomes in the early phase of AKI. However, others could detect beneficial effects by either inhibiting or lacking TRPC6 in a cerebral IRI or even in a different renal IRI model, respectively. These results warrant further research and make TRPC6 a potential druggable target for treating acute renal injury.

scientific reports

Check for updates

OPEN Role of TRPC6 in kidney damage after acute ischemic kidney injury

Zhihuang Zheng^{1,2,3}, Dmitry Tsvetkov^{1,2,4}, Theda Ulrike Patricia Bartolomaeus^{2,12} Cem Erdogan⁵, Ute Krügel⁶, Johanna Schleifenbaum⁵, Michael Schaefer⁶, Bernd Nürnberg⁷, Xiaoning Chai⁶, Friedrich-Alexander Ludwig⁸, Gabriele N'diaye^{2,12}, May-Britt Köhler^{2,12}, Kaiyin Wu⁹, Maik Gollasch^{1,2,4} & Lajos Markó^{2,10,11,12}

Transient receptor potential channel subfamily C, member 6 (TRPC6), a non-selective cation channel that controls influx of Ca²⁺ and other monovalent cations into cells, is widely expressed in the kidney. TRPC6 gene variations have been linked to chronic kidney disease but its role in acute kidney injury (AKI) is unknown. Here we aimed to investigate the putative role of TRPC6 channels in AKI. We used Trpc6-/- mice and pharmacological blockade (SH045 and BI-749327), to evaluate short-term AKI outcomes. Here, we demonstrate that neither Trpc6 deficiency nor pharmacological inhibition of TRPC6 influences the short-term outcomes of AKI. Serum markers, renal expression of epithelial damage markers, tubular injury, and renal inflammatory response assessed by the histological analysis were similar in wild-type mice compared to Trpc6-/- mice as well as in vehicle-treated versus SH045- or BI-749327-treated mice. In addition, we also found no effect of TRPC6 modulation on renal arterial myogenic tone by using blockers to perfuse isolated kidneys. Therefore, we conclude that TRPC6 does not play a role in the acute phase of AKI. Our results may have clinical implications for safety and health of humans with TRPC6 gene variations, with respect to mutated TRPC6 channels in the response of the kidney to acute ischemic stimuli.

Transient receptor potential (TRP) channels are a group of ion channels located mostly on the plasma membrane of numerous cell types with a relatively large non-selective permeability to cations^{1,2}. Mammalian TRP channel family comprises 28 members, which share some structural similarity with each other^{2,3}. Transient receptor tissue including glomerular podocytes, mesangial cells, endothelial cells, tubulointerstitial vascular and epithelial cells, as well as in renal blood vessels⁴. Ca²⁺ influx through TRPC6 maintains the integrity of glomerular filtration barrier by interacting with nephrin, podocin, CD2-associated protein, and α-actinin-4 directly or indirectly⁵ Mutations in TRPC6 lead to familial forms of focal segmental glomerulosclerosis (FSGS) and to end stage kidney disease^{6,7}. Of note, TRPC6 dysregulation is also linked to progression of acquired forms of proteinuric kidney disease^{8,9}. As a result of the TRPC6 activation, intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration in the podocyte increases and ultimately causes programmed cell death leading to progressive kidney failure. Recent evidence strongly suggests that TRPC6 also contributes to renal fibrosis and immune cell infiltration in the unilateral ureteral obstruction mouse model of progressive renal interstitial fibrosis^{9,10}.

Initiation of renal fibrosis is often caused by acute kidney injury (AKI), an increasingly common complication occurring in critically ill patients with high morbidity and mortality¹¹. The outcome of AKI has been

¹Department of Nephrology/Intensive Care, Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Berlin, Germany. ²Experimental and Clinical Research Center (ECRC), Max Delbrück Center for Molecular Medicine in the Helmholtz Association, Charité Universitätsmedizin, Berlin, Germany. ³Department of Nephrology, Shanghai General Hospital, Shanghai Jiaotong University School of Medicine, Shanghai, China. ⁴Department of Geriatrics, University of Greifswald, University District Hospital Wolgast, Greifswald, Germany. ⁵Institute of Vegetative Physiology, Charité—Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Berlin, Germany. ⁶Rudolf Boehm Institute for Pharmacology and Toxicology, Leipzig University, Leipzig, Germany. ⁷Department of Pharmacology, Experimental Therapy and Toxicology and Interfaculty Center of Pharmacogenomics and Drug Research, University of Tübingen, Tübingen, Germany. ^BDepartment of Neuroradiopharmaceuticals, Institute of Radiopharmaceutical Cancer Research, Helmholtz-Zentrum Dresden-Rossendorf, Leipzig, Germany. ⁹Department of Pathology, Charité— Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Berlin, Germany. ¹⁰DZHK (German Centre for Cardiovascular Research), Partner Site Berlin, Berlin, Germany. ¹¹Berlin Institute of Health at Charité—Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Berlin, Germany. ¹²Charité—Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Freie Universität Berlin, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Berlin, Germany. [™]email: dmitry.tsvetkov@charite.de; maik.gollasch@charite.de; lajos.marko@charite.de

Scientific Reports | (2022) 12:3038 | https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-06703-9



Figure 1. Effect of *Trpc6* deficiency on IRI-induced acute kidney injury (AKI). (**A**) Experimental design of ischemia reperfusion-induced AKI. (**B**) Serum creatinine levels in the experimental groups (Sham WT and *Trpc6^{-/-}* n = 4 each, IRI WT n = 7, and *Trpc6^{-/-}* n = 9, respectively). (**C**) Renal mRNA levels of kidney injury marker neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (*Ngal*), (**D**) kidney injury molecule 1 (*Kim1*) and (**E**) *Trpc6* (Sham WT and *Trpc6^{-/-}* n = 4 each, IRI WT n = 7, and *Trpc6^{-/-}* n = 9, respectively). Please note that at baseline all serum creatinine levels were below the measurement limit (18 µmol/L). Two-way ANOVA followed by Sidak's multiple comparisons post hoc test. *AU* arbitrary units, *n.d.* not detected.

a stronger with 20 min) (Fig. 5A). Renal concentrations of SH045 in both 30 min and 24 h after intravenous injection were similar between sham and IRI groups (Fig. 5B). Consistent with AKI data from *Trpc6^{-/-}* and WT mice, pharmacological blockade of TRPC6 had no effects on serum creatinine levels after 17.5 min or 20 min IRI-induced AKI in comparison to vehicle injected WT IRI mice (P=0.23 and P=0.76, respectively, Fig. 5C). In addition, renal mRNA expression of *Ngal* and *Kim1* was similar in SH045-treated compared to vehicle-treated kidneys after IRI (Fig. 5D,E). Furthermore, SH045 did not affect blood parameters such as sodium, potassium, chloride, ionized calcium, carbon dioxide, glucose, urea nitrogen, hematocrit, hemoglobin, and the anion gap

Scientific Reports | (2022) 12:3038 |

https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-06703-9

primarily linked to the severity of tubular damage. In fact, most theories consider renal tubular cells as the main culprit in AKL Ischemia/reperfusion injury (IRI)-induced epithelial damage—particularly in the outer medulla-, tubular obstruction, Ca²⁺ overload, loss of cytoskeletal integrity, and loss of cell-matrix adhesion are main consequences of ischemia and initiators of subsequent fibrosis^{12,13}. Recent data show that in vivo 'TRPC6 inhibition by BI-749327 ameliorates renal fibrosis in the unilateral obstructive nephropathy (UUO) model¹⁴, where the primary feature is tubular injury as a result of obstructed urine flow. Ischemia is frequently involved in AKI and correlates with oxidative stress and inflammation^{15,16}. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) produced by NADPH oxidases (NOX) contribute to activation of TRPC6 channels^{17,18}. Moreover, TRPC6 is emerging as a functional element to control calcium currents in immune cells, thereby regulating transendothelial migration, chemotaxis, phagocytosis, and cytokine release^{19,20}. In a recent study, Shen et al. found that silencing TRPC6 could prevent necroptosis of renal tubular epithelial cells upon IRI²¹. These findings indicate that inhibition of TRPC6 may protect the kidney from IRI making it a promising target to ameliorate AKI. This is of special interest and of potential clinical relevance as novel chemical substances selectively acting on TRPC6 have been recently developed for in vivo experiments. In particular, the diterpene (+)-larixol and its derivative SH045, as well as BI-749327 which is another known TRPC6 blocker, have been developed for selective inhibition of TRPC6 and translational treatment of TRPC6 channelopathies^{14,22,3}. To the best of our knowledge, no studies investigated the potential role of TRPC6 channels in AKI. Therefore,

To the best of our knowledge, no studies investigated the potential role of TRPC6 channels in AKI. Therefore, we tested the hypothesis that TRPC6 inhibition is renoprotective in AKI. We induced AKI by ischemia reperfusion injury in wild-type (WT) and *Trpc6^{-/-}* mice. Furthermore, we used pharmacological blockers (SH045 and BI-749327) in vivo and ex vivo to verify findings from the genetical model and to evaluate effects of TRPC6 inhibition in IRI-induced AKI and intrarenal regulation of blood flow. Serum markers, renal damage marker expression, histological analysis of renal tissue damage and cellular infiltration were performed. We conclude that neither lacking nor pharmacological inhibition of TRPC6 ameliorates short-term outcomes of AKI.

Results

The impact of *Trpc6* **deficiency on renal damage after renal IRI.** To examine a possible role of *Trpc6* deficiency in AKI, we performed comparative in vivo studies using *Trpc6^{-/-}* and WT mice (Fig. 1A). Twenty-four hours after IRI WT mice showed similar serum creatinine level compared to *Trpc6^{-/-}* mice (*P*=0.18; Fig. 1B). Renal expression of tubular damage marker neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (*Ngal*) and kidney injury molecule 1 (*Kim1*) showed no difference between WT and *Trpc6^{-/-}* mice (Fig. 1C,D). Additionally, *Trpc6^{-/-}* mice had similar blood parameters compared to WT mice (except higher but still normal concentrations of sodium and ionized Ca²⁺ (Supplementary Table S2A). After IRI, WT and *Trpc6^{-/-}* mice (Supplementary Table S2B). In contrast, concentrations of sodium and chloride were lower in *Trpc6^{-/-}* mice (Supplementary Table S2B).

The impact of *Trpc6* **deficiency on renal histopathology after IRI.** To assess the degree of tubular damage in ischemic AKI kidney sections were analyzed by Periodic Acid-Schiff (PAS) staining (Fig. 2A). IRI induced severe tubular damage and necrosis such as tubular epithelial swelling, loss of brush border, luminal dilatation with simplification of the epithelium, patchy loss of tubular epithelial cells with resultant gaps and exposure of denuded basement membrane, as well as obliterated tubular hyaline and/or granular casts (Fig. 2A). Analysis of the kidney sections revealed no differences in tubular injury score and tubular necrosis score between $Trpc6^{-/-}$ and WT mice (Fig. 2B,C).

The impact of *Trpc6* deficiency on cellular infiltration and on the expression of calcium-binding proteins in the kidneys after IRI. Neutrophils infiltration after IRI-induced AKI contributes to inflammation and subsequent repair of injured kidneys^{24,25}. Here, we determined neutrophils infiltration in renal IRI using immunofluorescence staining. Kidney sections were immunolabelled with the neutrophil marker Ly6B.2³⁶. As shown in Fig. 3A, excessive Ly6B.2-positive neutrophils in renal interstitium were observed in mice underwent IRI (Fig. 3A). *Trpc6^{-/-}* mice showed similar amount of infiltrating Ly6B.2-positive cells after IRI as WT mice (Fig. 3B). Similarly, renal expression of neutrophil markers \$100 calcium-binding protein A8 (*\$100a9*) and \$100 calcium-binding protein A9 (*\$100a9*) were not different in IRI-damaged renal tissues of *Trpc6^{-/-}* and WT mice (Fig. 3C,D).

Expression of inflammatory markers in WT and *Trpc6^{-/-}* **kidneys.** Expression of inflammatory molecules is low in the normal kidney but is markedly increased under pathophysiological conditions such as IRI-induced AKI²⁷. By using qPCR, we examined the mRNA expression of cell adhesion molecules and inflammatory markers involved in renal IRI. IRI led to increased mRNA expression of all determined markers (Fig. 4A-F), however *Trpc6^{-/-}* IRI kidneys displayed similar expression of interleukin 6 (*Il6*), tumor necrosis factor-alpha (*Tnf-a*), intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (*Icam1*), vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 (*Vcam1*) in comparison to WT IRI kidneys (Fig. 4A–D). In addition, renal expression of chemokines such as chemokine (C–C motif) ligand 2 (*Ccl2*) and chemokine (C–C motif) ligand 2 receptor (*Ccr2*), were similar between *Trpc6^{-/-}* and WT mice (Fig. 4E,F).

The impact of Trpc6 pharmacological blockade on renal damage after renal IRI. To circumvent possible bias due to the genetical approach and to examine effects of pharmacological blockade of Trpc6 on renal damage, we used SH045 (a recently developed drug with high affinity and strong subtype selectivity toward TRPC6) in vivo in the ischemic AKI mouse model using two different ischemia time (milder with 17.5 min and the second secon

Scientific Reports | (2022) 12:3038 |

https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-06703-9



Figure 2. Effect of *Trpc6* deficiency on kidney histopathology after renal IRI-induced AKI. (**A**) Representative cortical or outer medullary images of IRI-injured kidneys isolated from $Trpc6^{-/-}$ and WT mice (magnification: 200 ×). Kidneys sections were stained with periodic acid-Schiff staining (PAS). Arrows indicate tubular injury. Scale bars are 100 µm. (**B**) Semi-quantification of cortical tubular injury. (C) Semi-quantification of outer medullary tubular necrosis. Data expressed as means ± SEM (Sham WT and $Trpc6^{-/-}$ n = 4 each, IRI WT n = 7, and $Trpc6^{-/-}$ n = 9, respectively). Two-way ANOVA followed by Sidak's multiple comparisons post hoc test.

after IRI-induced AKI (Supplementary Table S3A–F). To further confirm the results of SH045, we used another TRPC6 blocker, BI-749327. In IRI-induced AKI mice, renal function parameters such as serum creatinine and renal expression of renal damage markers (*Ngal* and *Kim1*) were similar between vehicle- and BI-749327-treated mice (Supplementary Fig. S1A–D). Besides, no difference in other blood parameters was found between vehicle- and BI-749327-treated AKI mice (Supplementary Table S4A,B).

The impact of Trpc6 pharmacological blockade on renal histopathology after IRI. Histological analyses and semi-quantitative scoring revealed no statistically significant differences in cortical tubular damage

Scientific Reports | (2022) 12:3038 |

https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-06703-9



Figure 3. Effect of *Trpc6* deficiency on renal neutrophils infiltration and inflammatory markers in IRI– induced AKI. (**A**) Representative outer medullar images of IRI-injured kidneys. Kidneys were stained with Ly6B.2 (magnification: $400 \times$). Scale bars are 100 µm. (**B**) The semi-quantification renal neutrophils infiltration (Sham WT and *Trpc6^{-/-}* n = 3 each, IRI WT n = 6, and *Trpc6^{-/-}* n = 6, respectively). (**C**) Renal mRNA levels of S100 calcium-binding protein A8 (*S100a8*). (**D**) Renal mRNA levels of S100 calcium-binding protein A9 (*S100a9*) (Sham WT and *Trpc6^{-/-}* n = 4 each, IRI WT n = 7, and *Trpc6^{-/-}* n = 9, respectively). Data expressed as means ± SEM. Two-way ANOVA followed by Sidak's multiple comparisons post hoc test. *AU* arbitrary units.

after renal 17.5 min- or 20 min-IRI in SH045 compared to vehicle-treated mice (Fig. 6A,B). Moreover, epithelial cells in the outer stripe of outer medulla, especially susceptible to ischemic injury, exhibited comparable level of tubular necrosis between SH045 treated and control mice after renal 17.5 min- or 20 min-IRI (Fig. 6A,C). Similarly, BI-749327 also did not influence tubular damage and necrosis in IRI (Supplementary Fig. S2A–C).

The impact of Trpc6 pharmacological blockade on cellular infiltration and calcium-binding proteins on the kidneys after IRI. Consistent with the results in AKI-induced *Trpc6^{-/-}* mice, SH045 treatment had no effect on renal infiltration of Ly6B.2-positive granulocytes after 17.5 min- or 20 min-IRI-induced AKI in comparison to vehicle-treated mice (Fig. 7A,B). In agreement with that, renal expression of *S100a8* and *S100a9* after 17.5 min- or 20 min-IRI is similar in mice treated with SH045 versus vehicle (Fig. 7C,D). Furthermore, similar results were also obtained in mice treated with BI-749327 compared to vehicle-treated mice (Supplementary Fig. S3G,H).

The impact of Trpc6 pharmacological blockade on expression of renal cytokines and chemokine after IRI. SH045-treated mice underwent 17.5 or 20 min IRI-induced AKI showed similar renal expression of *Il6*, *Tnf-α*, *Icam1*, *Vcam1*, *Ccl2*, and *Ccr2* in comparison to vehicle-treated mice with the same IRI (Fig. 8A–F). In addition, the mRNA levels of these inflammatory markers in BI-749327-treated AKI mice were equivalent to vehicle-treated AKI mice (Supplementary Fig. S3A–F).

Impact of pharmacological modulation of Trpc6 on renal microcirculation. The renal microcirculation is emerging as a key player in AKI²⁸. To explore whether modulation of TRPC6 has impact on renal microcirculation, we evaluated myogenic tone in the mouse renal circulation using the TRPC6 blockers SH045

Scientific Reports | (2022) 12:3038 |

https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-06703-9



Figure 4. Effect of *Trpc6* deficiency on gene expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines after renal IRL (**A**) Renal mRNA levels of interleukin 6 (*Il6*) and (**B**) tumor necrosis factor- α (*Tnf-\alpha*), (**C**) intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (*Icam1*) and (**D**) vascular cell adhesion protein 1 (*Vcam1*), (**E**) C–C motif chemokine 2 (*Ccl2*) and (**F**) C–C motif chemokine receptor 2 (*Ccr2*) (Sham WT and *Trpc6^{-/-}* n = 4 each, IRI WT n = 7, and *Trpc6^{-/-}* n = 9, respectively). Data expressed as means ± SEM. Two-way ANOVA followed by Sidak's multiple comparisons post hoc test. *AU* arbitrary units.

and BI-749327, and the TRPC6 activator hyperforin²⁹. Isolated kidneys perfused with SH045 or BI-749327 developed a similar decrease of perfusion pressure compared to control kidneys (Supplementary Fig. S4A–C,E). In addition, activation of TRPC6 using hyperforin resulted in similar spontaneous decrease of perfusion pressure compared to control kidneys (Supplementary Fig. S4A,D,E). Of note, there was also no difference in Angiotensin (Ang) II induced vasoconstrictions between kidneys perfused with SH045, BI-749327, or hyperforin versus control kidneys (Supplementary Fig. S4F). Together, these results indicate no effect of TRPC6 modulation on renal arterial myogenic tone.

Discussion

In our previous study, we have shown that TRPC6 contributes to renal fibrosis and immune cell infiltration in a murine UUO model using $Trpc6^{-/-}$ mice⁹. Renal IRI is a common cause of CKD. IRI is associated with calcium (Ca²⁺) overload, ROS production, and immune responses which has been reported as crucial factors of tubular

Scientific Reports | (2022) 12:3038 |

https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-06703-9

www.nature.com/scientificreports/



Figure 5. Effect of the TRPC6 inhibitor SH045 on IRI–induced acute kidney injury (AKI). (**A**) Experimental design of IRI–induced AKI. (**B**) Concentrations of SH045 in kidney tissue 30 min and 24 h after intravenous injection (Sham n = 3 each, 17.5 min-IRI in vehicle and SH045 n = 5 each, 20 min-IRI in vehicle and SH045 n = 4 each, respectively). (**C**) Serum creatinine levels (Sham n = 3 each, 17.5 min-IRI in vehicle and SH045 n = 5 each, 20 min-IRI in vehicle and SH045 n = 5 each, 20 min-IRI in vehicle and SH045 n = 4 each, respectively). (**D**) Renal mRNA levels of kidney injury marker neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (*Nga*) and (**E**) kidney injury molecule 1 (*Kim1*) (Sham n = 3 each, 17.5 min-IRI in vehicle and SH045 n = 5 each, 20 min-IRI in vehicle and SH045 n = 4 each, respectively). Please note that at baseline all serum creatinine levels were below the measurement limit (18 µm0/L). Two-way ANOVA followed by Sidak's multiple comparisons post hoc test. *AU* arbitrary units. Data expressed as means ± SEM.

Scientific Reports | (2022) 12:3038 |

https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-06703-9



Figure 6. SH045 effects on kidney histopathology after renal ischemia reperfusion–induced AKI. (A) Representative cortical or outer medullary images of IRI-injured kidneys isolated from mice injected with vehicle or Trpc6 blocker SH045 (magnification: 400×). Kidneys sections/slices were stained with Periodic Acid-Schiff staining (PAS). Arrows indicate tubular injury. Stars indicate tubular casts. Scale bars are 100 μ m. (B) The semi-quantification of cortical tubular injury. (C) The semi-quantification of outer medullary tubular necrosis. Data expressed as means ± SEM (Sham n=3 each, 17.5 min-IRI in vehicle and SH045 n=5 each, 20 min-IRI in vehicle and SH045 n=4 each, respectively). Two-way ANOVA followed by Sidak's multiple comparisons post hoc test.

injury in IRI-induced AKI^{12,15,16}. As a Ca²⁺-permeable cationic channel, TRPC6 can be activated by reactive oxygen species (ROS) and mediate podocyte injury in glomerular diseases^{17,18}. In addition, TRPC6 is involved in immune responses regulating transendothelial migration, chemotaxis, phagocytosis, and cytokine release^{19,20}. A recent study using pharmacological blockage of TRPC6 in mice demonstrated that decreased Ca²⁺ entry due to TRPC6 contributed to reducing astrocytic apoptosis, cytotoxicity and inflammatory responses in cerebral ischemic/reperfusion insult³⁰. Given that, in the present study we hypothesized that TRPC6 inhibition may also exhibit nephroprotective effects in AKI. To test this hypothesis, we applied the IRI experimental model on $Trpc6^{-i-}$ mice and employed a pharmacological approach of in vivo TRPC6 inhibition by SH045 and BI-749327 in wild-type (WT) mice.

Scientific Reports | (2022) 12:3038 |

https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-06703-9



Figure 7. SH045 effects on renal neutrophils infiltration and inflammatory markers in ischemia reperfusion– induced AKL (A) Representative outer medullar images of IRI-injured kidneys. Kidneys were stained with Ly6B.2 (magnification: $400 \times$). Sham and IRI mice were treated with either vehicle or Trpc6 inhibitor (SH045). Scale bars are 100μ m. (B) The semi-quantification renal neutrophils infiltration. (C) Renal mRNA levels of S100 calcium-binding protein A8 (*S100a8*). (D) Renal mRNA levels of S100 calcium-binding protein A9 (*S100a9*). Data expressed as means ± SEM (Sham n = 3 each, 17.5 min-IRI in vehicle and SH045 n = 5 each, 20 min-IRI in vehicle and SH045 n = 4 each, respectively). Two-way ANOVA followed by Sidak's multiple comparisons post hoc test. AU, arbitrary units.

In our study, *Trpc6^{-/-}* mice subjected to acute IRI showed no difference in renal function or tubular damage when compared to WT mice which underwent IRI. The *Trpc6^{-/-}* mouse model was established as a homozygous colony, therefore we used C57BL/6 J mice as control⁹. Given this limitation of our experimental approach and to account for possible confounding genomic and non-genomic effects of other TRPC channels caused by global loss of TRPC6³¹, we performed also studies using two different TRPC6 blockers SH045 and BI-749327 in C57BL/6 J WT mice to evaluate the role of TRPC6 in short-term AKI outcomes. Of note, TRPC6 and TRPC2, TRPC3, TRPC7 can form heteromeric channels with regulatory properties that are different from those of the homomeric TRPC channels^{32,33}. Pharmacological inhibition allows high selectivity for inhibition of homomeric TRPC6 channels than for heteromeric channels in AKI, particularly compared to targeting TRPC6 using *Trpc6^{-/-}* animals. Thus, using the pharmacological approach can precisely allow investigating the specific effects of TRPC6 homomeric thanels on AKI. We used SH045 and BI-749327, and performed studies with two different ischemic times in order to have a model for mild (17.5 min) and moderate (20 min) renal damage. These two periods of reversible ischemia were based on our earlier IRI studies with mice³⁴⁻³⁶. However, we still found no differences with respect to serum creatinine or tubular damage between mice undergoing IRI treated with TRPC6 blocker vs. vehicle in both models.

Previously, we demonstrated that inhibition of tubular epithelial NF-κB activity can ameliorate IRI-induced AKI in our experimental settings³⁶. Thus, our experimental conditions enable to observe beneficial effects of therapeutic interventions, i.e. kidney injury potentially can be ameliorated in our AKI mouse model. According to the reported IC₅₀-values for SH045 of 6 to 60 nM³⁷ and the pharmacokinetic analysis by non-compartment

Scientific Reports | (2022) 12:3038 |

https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-06703-9

www.nature.com/scientificreports/



Figure 8. SH045 effects on gene expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines after renal IRI. (A) Renal mRNA levels of interleukin 6 (*ll* 6), (**B**) tumor necrosis factor- α (*Tnf-\alpha*), (**C**) intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (*lcam1*) and (**D**) vascular cell adhesion protein 1 (*Vcam1*). (**E**) Renal mRNA levels of C–C motif chemokine 2 (*Ccl*2) and (**F**) C–C motif chemokine receptor 2 (*Ccr*2). Data expressed as means ± SEM (Sham n=3 each, 17.5 min-IRI in vehicle and SH045 n=5 each, 20 min-IRI in vehicle and SH045 n=4 each, respectively). Two-way ANOVA followed by Sidak's multiple comparisons post hoc test. *AU* arbitrary units.

modeling³⁸, SH045 can be considered as pharmacologically effective at tissue concentrations equal or higher than 22 ng/g. To confirm the drug is distributed in the kidney within the expected time, we measured the renal concentration of SH045 by using LC–MS/MS assay. As shown in Fig. 5B, the concentration of SH045 in renal tissue after 30 min post-injection ($284.56 \text{ ng/g} \pm 144.76$) was much higher than 22 ng/g. In case of BI-749327, Lin et al., reported that in concentrations of 10-30 mg/kg BI-749327 has renal protective effects in the UUO mouse model¹⁴. Therefore, the concentrations of pharmacological blockers used in this study were appropriate to inhibit the TRPC6 channels in vivo in our experiments.

to inhibit the TRPC6 channels in vivo in our experiments. It is now well established that inflammation plays an important role in AKI^{39–42}. Shortly after endothelial or tubular epithelial cell damage, activation of resident renal inflammatory cells occurs. It leads to overproduction of cytokines, followed by recruitment and subsequent infiltration with different leukocytes subsets^{43,44}. TRPC6

Scientific Reports | (2022) 12:3038 |

https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-06703-9

is expressed in a wide range of inflammatory and vascular cell types, including neutrophils, lymphocytes and endothelium⁴⁵. During the acute phase response, TRPC6 plays a crucial role in neutrophil mobilization as it enhances chemotactic responses through increasing intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration and promoting actin-based cytoskeleton remodeling^{20,46}. Indeed, after renal IRI, we found a notable accumulation of neutrophils in the region of outer medulla. However, the infiltration of neutrophils in IRI *Trpc6^{-/-}* kidney was equivalent to IRI WT mice as well as in SH045-treated AKI mice compared to vehicle-treated AKI mice. Accordingly, inflammatory response including cytokines and chemokine overexpression was also similar in AKI mice with or without Trpc6 intervention. In addition, *Trpc6* was normally expressed in kidney tissue 24 h after IRI. A recent study using single-cell RNA sequencing in clusters of inflammatory cells during AKI confirms a similar renal expression of *Trpc6* mRNA in AKI versus control⁴⁷. S100a8 and S100a9 are Ca²⁺ binding proteins belonging to the S100 family, which are constitutively expressed in neutrophils and monocytes as a Ca²⁺ sensor, participating in cytoskeleton rearrangement and arachidonic acid metabolism^{46,49}. These two molecules modulate inflammatory response by stimulating recruitment of neutrophils and cytokine scretion⁴⁹. We hypothesized that blocking intracellular influx of Ca²⁺ in neutrophils through genetical or pharmacological TRPC6 inhibition might affect the S100a8/9 are Mark an *Trpc6^{-/-}* mice or in TRPC6 blockers-treated kidneys after AKI compared to respective control kidneys. Taken together, our data suggest no impact of TRPC6 to renal inflammatory reaction in the ischemic AKI.

Of note, TRPC6 is also expressed in tubular epithelial cells and plays an important role in nephron physiology⁵⁰. Although one study showed functional importance of TRPC6 in autophagy regulation in vitro using proximal tubular cells of *Trpc6* deficient mice and TRPC6 overexpressing HK-2 cells⁵⁰, our data argue against protective effects of TRPC6 in the tubular damage of AKI in vivo. After AKI, interstitial fibrosis formation is an important part of renal repair, yet excess leads to AKI-to-CKD transition. Wu et al., and our previous study showed that inhibition of TRPC6 function either by genetic deletion ameliorates renal interstitial fibrosis¹⁰. Besides, another study further demonstrated an obligate function for TRPC6 in promoting fibroblast transdifferentiation⁵¹. Therefore, inhibition of TRPC6 may have effects on renal fibrogenesis during AKI-to-CKD transition, and the beneficial effects of TRPC6 inhibition seen in the UUO model most likely involve fibroblast activation and transdifferentiation. Since its differentiation is an expected long-term outcome of AKI⁵², this might explain the lack of *TrpC6^{-/-}* effects on the short-term outcome of AKI in present study. In addition, renal microvascular dysfunction is considered playing critical role in acute kidney injury⁵³. Due to unchanged myogenic tone after TRPC6 modulation in vascular smooth muscle cells using isolated perfused kidneys, it is unlikely that a vascular component represents a protective mechanism of renal TRPC6 inhibition.

In summary, the present study shows that TRPC6 inhibition has no effects on short-term outcome of AKI. Our results improve the understanding of the role of TRPC6 role in kidney diseases. Future studies should investigate if TRPC6 could have a protective role on long-term outcome of AKI. Our results may have clinical implications for safety and long-term outcome of humans with *TRPC6* gene variations leading to familial forms of FSGS, with respect to the response of the kidney to acute ischemic stimuli.

Materials and methods

Animals. Male $Trpc6^{-L}$ mice (n=10, homozygosity in a mix 129 Sv:C57BL/6J background) and wildtype (WT, C57BL/6J) control mice (n=9) were used. $Trpc6^{-L}$ mice have been generated and characterized previously^{6,31}. For the pharmacological study WT mice (C57BL/6J, Jackson Laboratory) were used. Mice were held in specific-pathogen-free (SPF) condition, in a 12:12-h light–dark cycle, and with free access to purified food (E15430-047, Ssniff, Soest, Germany) and water. Experiments were approved by the Berlin Animal Review Board, Berlin, Germany (No. G0178/18) and followed the restrictions in the Berlin State Office for Health and Social Affairs (LaGeSo)⁵⁴. All experiments were performed in accordance with ARRIVE guidelines⁵⁵.

Renal IRI model. Renal IRI was induced as described earlier³⁴. Briefly, male mice (aged 14–18 weeks) were anaesthetized by isoflurane (2.3%) in air (350 ml/min). Preemptive analgesia with buprenorphine (0.2 mg/100 g) was used³⁶. Mice were operated individually to ensure similar exposure to isoflurane⁵⁷. Body temperature was maintained at 37 °C and monitored during surgery. Ischemia was induced after right–sided nephrectomy by clipping the pedicle of the left kidney for 17.5 or 20 min with a non–traumatic aneurysm clip (FE690K, Aesculap, Germany). Reperfusion was confirmed visually and the abdomen and the skin were sutured separately with a 5/0 braided-silk suture. After surgery mice had free access to water and chow. Body–warm sterile physiological saline solution (1 ml) was applied subcutaneously to every mouse. Sham operation was performed in a similar manner, except for clamping the renal pedicle. Twenty–four hours after reperfusion, mice were sacrificed by overdose of isoflurane and additionally cervical dislocation, and kidney and blood samples were collected for further analysis. The kidneys were divided into three portions. Upper pole of the kidney tissue was frozen and used for measurement of SH045 concentration. Middle part of kidney was immersed in 4% phosphate–buffered saline (PBS)–buffered formalin for histology, and the other left tissue was snap–frozen in liquid nitrogen for RNA preparation.

TRPC6 blocker. Larixyl-6-N-methylcarbamate, also called SH045, is a compound with high affinity and subtype selectivity toward TRPC6 described by Häfner et al.²². SH045 was initially dissolved in DMSO (ratio of DMSO to vehicle is 0.5%) and then in 5% Cremophor EL' solution with 0.9% NaCl and used for intravenous injection (2 mg/kg) 30 min before IRI surgery in the pharmacological studies with WT mice. BI-749327 is an orally bioavailable TRPC6 antagonist as reported¹⁴. BI-749327 (MedChemExpress, New Jersey, USA) was dissolved in DMSO and then suspended in corn oil (final ratio of DMSO to corn oil is 5%). For administration, 30 mg/kg of the final dose was delivered to mice via oral gavage 60 min before IRI surgery.

Scientific Reports | (2022) 12:3038 |

https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-06703-9

Blood measurements and drugs. To allow repeated blood measurements of sodium, potassium, chloride, ionized calcium, total carbon dioxide, glucose, urea nitrogen, creatinine, hematocrit, hemoglobin and anion gap within a short time interval in the same mouse, 95 µL blood was taken from the facial vein and parameters were measured using an i-STAT system with Chem8+ cartridges (Abbott, USA).

Quantitative real-time (qRT)-PCR. qRT-PCR was performed as described previously⁹. Briefly, Total RNA from snap-frozen kidneys were isolated using RNeasy RNA isolation kit (Qiagen, Australia) according to manufacturer's instruction after homogenization with a Precellys 24 homogenizator (Peqlab, Germany). RNA concentration and quality were determined by NanoDrop-1000 spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA). Two micrograms of RNA were transcribed to cDNA (Applied Biosystems, USA). Quantitative analysis of target mRNA expression was performed with qRT-PCR using the relative standard curve method. TaqMan and SYBR green analysis was conducted using an Applied Biosystems 7500 Sequence Detector (Applied Biosystems, USA). The expression levels were normalized to 18S. Primer sequences are provided in Supplementary Table S1.

Histology and analysis. Formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded sections (2 µm) of kidneys were subjected to Periodic acid Schiff (PAS) stain according to the manufacturer's protocols (Sigma, Germany). Semi-quantitative scoring of tubular damage was performed in a blinded manner in those 12 to 15 images at 200×magnification per sample. Acute tubular injury (ATI) was observed in this study to assess the reversible tubular damage due to ischemia. The histologic features of ATI included one or more of the following lesions: tubular epithelial swelling with lucency of the cytoplasm, loss of brush border, luminal dilatation with simplification of the epithelium, and cytoplasmic vacuolization. Acute tubular necrosis (ATN) was also evaluated, which was indicated by patchy loss of tubular epithelial cells with resultant gaps and exposure of denuded basement membrane, evidence of cellular regeneration, as well as obliterated tubular hyaline and/or granular casts. The histological findings were graded from 0 to 3 according to the distribution of lesions: 0 - none; 1 = <25%; 2 = 25 - 50%; $3 = >50\%^{56}$. The total score was calculated as sum of all morphological parameters. Tubular damage and tubular necrosis were quantified by an experienced renal pathologist who was unaware of Trpc6 genotypes or of treatment.

HPLC and tandem mass spectrometric method (LC–MS/MS). Concentration of SH045 in kidney homogenates was measured as previously described²³. In summary, analyses were performed with an Agilent 1260 Infinity quaternary HPLC system (Agilent Technologies, Germany) consisting of a G4225A degasser, G1312B binary pump, G1367E autosampler, G1330B thermostat, G1316A column oven and G4212B diode array detector, coupled to a tandem QTRAP 5500 hybrid linear ion-trap triple quadrupole mass spectrometer (AB SCIEX, Canada). Data were acquired and processed using Analyst software (Version 1.7.1, AB SCIEX). Linear regressions and calculations were done using Multiquant software (Version 2.1.1, AB SCIEX). Lower limit of quantification (LLOQ) and accuracy were determined for quantification of SH045 effects in kidney and both revealed as high as reported for plasma by Chai et al.³⁸.

Immunofluorescence and analysis. We performed immunofluorescence similarly as previously described³⁴. Two-µm thick sections of IRI-injured kidneys were post-fixed in ice-cold acetone, air-dried, rehydrated and blocked with 10% normal donkey serum (Jackson ImmunoResearch, America) for 30 min. Then sections were incubated in a humid chamber overnight at 4 °C with rat anti-Ly6B.2 (Gr1) (1:300; MCA771G; Bio-Rad AbD Serotec, Germany). The bound anti-Ly6B.2 antibody was visualized using Cy3-conjugated second-ary antibody (1:500; Jackson ImmunoResearch, America) by incubating the sections for 1 h in a humid chamber at room temperature. Positive cells were counted in the outer medulla on ten non-overlapping view fields at 400 × magnification and mean cell numbers were taken for analysis.

Isolated perfused kidneys. Isolated kidneys were perfused in an organ chamber using a peristaltic pump (Instech, USA) at constant flow (0.3–1.9 ml/min) of oxygenated (95% O₂ and 5% CO₂) physiological salt solution (PSS) containing (in mmol/L) 119 NaCl, 4.7 KCl, 1.2 KH₂PO₄, 25 NaHCO₃, 1.2 Mg₂SO₄, 11.1 glucose, 1.6 CaCl₂). Hyperforin (Sigma-Aldrich, USA), BI-749327, and SH045 were dissolved in DMSO. Before application, the aliquots were dissolved 1:1000 in PSS. So, the final concentration of DMSO did not exceed 0.1%. The concentrations of hyperforin, BI-749327, SH045 were 10 μ M, 100 nM, and 100 nM, respectively. We used PSS as a solvent for Ang II (LKT Laboratories Inc., USA) and applied it at 10 nM concentration. Drugs were added to the perfusate. Perfusion pressure was detected using pressure transducer after an equilibration period of 60 min. Powerlab system (AD Instruments, Colorado Springs) was used for data acquisition and analysis. Ang II-induced pressor effects were normalized to the maximal pressor effect obtained with KCl (60 mmol/L)⁵⁸. The composition of 60 mM KCl (in mmol/L) was 63.7 NaCl, 60 KCl, 1.2 KH₂PO₄, 25 NaHCO₃, 1.2 Mg₂SO₄, 11.1 glucose, and 1.6 CaCl₂.

Statistics. Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad 5.04 software. Study groups were analyzed by one-way ANOVA using Turkey's post-hoc test or two-way ANOVA using Sidak's multiple comparisons post hoc test. Data are presented as mean ± SEM. *P* values < 0.05 were considered as statistically significant.

Experimental statement. All methods were carried out in accordance with relevant guidelines and regulations.

Scientific Reports | (2022) 12:3038 |

https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-06703-9

Received: 15 June 2021; Accepted: 3 February 2022 Published online: 22 February 2022

References

- 1. Tsagareli, M. G. & Nozadze, I. An overview on transient receptor potential channels superfamily. Behav. Pharmacol. 31, 413-434 (2020).
- 2. Kaneko, Y. & Szallasi, A. Transient receptor potential (TRP) channels: A clinical perspective. Br. J. Pharmacol. 171, 2474–2507
- (2014). 3. Harteneck, C. Function and pharmacology of TRPM cation channels. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch. Pharmacol. 371, 307-314
- (2005)
- Ma, R., Chaudhari, S. & Li, W. Canonical transient receptor potential 6 channel: A new target of reactive oxygen species in renal physiology and pathology. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* 25, 732–748 (2016).
 Mulukala, S. K. N. *et al.* Structural features and oligomeric nature of human podocin domain. *Biochem. Biophys. Rep.* 23, 100774 (2020).
- (2020).
 Winn, M. P. et al. A mutation in the TRPC6 cation channel causes familial focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. *Science* 308, 1801-1804 (2005)
- Richel, M. et al., TRPC6 G757D loss-of-function mutation associates with FSGS. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 27, 2771–2783 (2016). Ilatovskaya, D. V. et al. Angiotensin II has acute effects on TRPC6 channels in podocytes of freshly isolated glomeruli. Kidney Int. 86, 506-514 (2014).
- Song, W. et al. Renal fibrosis, immune cell infiltration and changes of TRPC channel expression after unilateral ureteral obstruction in Trpc6-/- mice. Cell Physiol. Biochem. 52, 1484–1502 (2019).
 Wu, Y. L. et al. Inhibition of TRPC6 channels ameliorates renal fibrosis and contributes to renal protection by soluble klotho.
- Kidney Int. 91, 830-841 (2017). Singbartl, K. & Kellum, J. A. AKI in the ICU: Definition, epidemiology, risk stratification, and outcomes. *Kidney Int.* 81, 819-825
- (2012).12. Schrier, R. W., Arnold, P. E., Van Putten, V. J. & Burke, T. J. Cellular calcium in ischemic acute renal failure: Role of calcium entry
- blockers. Kidney Int. 32, 313–321 (1987).
 Weinberg, J. M. The cell biology of ischemic renal injury. Kidney Int. 39, 476–500 (1991)
- veringerg, J. M. The cell biology of ischemic renal injury. *Kidney Int.* 39, 476–500 (1991).
 Lin, B. L. *et al.* In vivo selective inhibition of TRPC6 by antagonist BI 749327 ameliorates fibrosis and dysfunction in cardiac and renal disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA. 116, 10156–10161 (2019).
 Meng, X. M. *et al.* NADPH oxidase 4 promotes cisplatin-induced acute kidney injury via ROS-mediated programmed cell death and inflammation. *Lab Invest.* 98, 63–78 (2018).
- Liao, W. *et al.*, P62/SQSTM1 protects against cisplatin-induced oxidative stress in kidneys by mediating the cross talk between autophagy and the Keap1-Nrf2 signalling pathway. *Free Radic. Res.* 53, 800–814 (2019).
 Kim, E. Y. *et al.* NOX2 interacts with podocyte TRPC6 channels and contributes to their activation by diacylglycerol: Essential
- Finit, J. Fertur Food, Infracts with polocy in Field of the control of source and control of source in formation of this complex. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 305, C960–C971 (2013).
 Graham, S. et al. Abundance of TRPC6 protein in glomerular mesangial cells is decreased by ROS and PKC in diabetes. Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 301, C304–C315 (2011). 18.
- Weber, E. W. *et al.* TRPC6 is the endothelial calcium channel that regulates leukocyte transendothelial migration during the inflammatory response. *J. Exp. Med.* 212, 1883–1899 (2015).
 Lindemann, O. *et al.* TRPC6 regulates CXCR2-mediated chemotaxis of murine neutrophils. *J. Immunol.* 190, 5496–5505 (2013).
- Shen, B. *et al.* TRPC6 may protect renal ischemia-reperfusion injury through inhibiting necroptosis of renal tubular epithelial cells. *Med. Sci. Monit. Int. Med. J. Exp. Clin. Res.* 22, 633 (2016).
 Hafner, S. *et al.* A (+)-larixol congener with high affinity and subtype selectivity toward TRPC6. *ChemMedChem* 13, 1028–1035 (2016).
- (2018).
- Chai, X. N. et al. Validation of an LC-MS/MS Method to Quantify the New TRPC6 Inhibitor SH045 (Larixyl N-methylcarbamate) and Its Application in an Exploratory Pharmacokinetic Study in Mice. *Pharmaceuticals* 14, 2 (2021).
 Sato, Y. & Yanagita, M. Immune cells and inflammation in AKI to CKD progression. *Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol.* 315, F1501-f1512
- (2018).25
- (2010). Singbartl, K., Formeck, C. L. & Kellum, J. A. Kidney-immune system crosstalk in AKI. Semin. Nephrol. 39, 96–106 (2019). Kidoya, H. et al. APJ regulates parallel alignment of arteries and veins in the skin. Dev. Cell. 33, 247–259 (2015).
- 26. 27.
- Rudya, H. et al., Ar J. Regulacies paratic angularity of a feedback of the skin. *Biol. Sci. 2017, 2017 (2017)*, Bonventre, J. V. & Zuk, Alschemic acute renal failure ran inflammatory disease. *P. Kidney Int.* **66**, 480–485 (2004). van den Akker, J. P. C., Bakker, J., Groeneveld, A. B. J. & den Uil, C. A. Risk indicators for acute kidney injury in cardiogenic shock. *J. Crit. Care.* **50**, 11–16 (2019). 28.
 - 29. Thiel, G. & Rössler, O. G. Hyperforin activates gene transcription involving transient receptor potential C6 channels. Biochem.
 - Pharmacol. 129, 96–107 (2017). Liu, L. et al. TRPC6 attenuates cortical astrocytic apoptosis and inflammation in cerebral ischemic/reperfusion injury. Front. Cell 30.
 - Dev. Biol. 8, 594283 (2020).
 Dietrich, A. et al. Increased vascular smooth muscle contractility in TRPC6-/- mice. Mol. Cell Biol. 25, 6980–6989 (2005) Chu, X. et al. Interaction of TRPC2 and TRPC6 in erythropoietin modulation of calcium influx. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 10514–10522 32.
 - (2004). 33. Hofmann, T., Schaefer, M., Schultz, G. & Gudermann, T. Subunit composition of mammalian transient receptor potential channels
 - Hormann, F., Schackt, M., Schauks, G. & Gumann, E. Schauser, Composition of manimum dataset receiptor potential matrices in living cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 99, 7461–7466 (2002).
 Markó, L. *et al.* Role of cystathionine gamma-lyase in immediate renal impairment and inflammatory response in acute ischemic 34.
 - Marko, L. *et al.* Note of cystantonine gamma-tyses in infineduate renai impairment and infiammatory response in acute ischemic kidney injury. *Sci. Rep.* **8**, 27517 (2016). Mannaa, M. *et al.* Transient receptor potential vanilloid 4 channel deficiency aggravates tubular damage after acute renal ischaemia reperfusion. *Sci. Rep.* **8**, 4878 (2018). Marko, L. *et al.* Tubular epithelial NF-kB activity regulates ischemic AKI. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* **27**, 2658–2669 (2016). Hafner, S. & Burg, F. A (+)-larixol congener with high affinity and subtype selectivity toward TRPC6. *ChemMedChem* **13**, 1028–1035 (2016). 35.

 - 37 1035 (2018). Chai, X. N. & Ludwig, F. A. Validation of an LC-MS/MS method to quantify the new TRPC6 inhibitor SH045 (Larixyl N-methyl-38.
 - carbamate) and its application in an exploratory pharmacokinetic study in mice. *Pharmaceuticals.* **14**, 2 (2021). Rabb, H. *et al.* Inflammation in AKI: Current understanding, key questions, and knowledge gaps. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* **27**, 371–379 39.
 - (2016).40. Grigoryev, D. N. et al. The local and systemic inflammatory transcriptome after acute kidney injury. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 19, 547-558
 - Ren, K. *et al.* Gasdermin D mediates inflammation-driven pathogenesis of the myelodysplastic syndromes. *Blood* 138, 2587–2587
 - (2021). Pang, Y. et al. Andrade-oliveira salvianolic acid B modulates caspase-1-mediated pyroptosis in renal ischemia-reperfusion injury via Nrf2 pathway. Front. Pharmacol. 11, 541426 (2020).

Scientific Reports | (2022) 12:3038 | https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-06703-9

Bonavia, A. & Singbartl, K. A review of the role of immune cells in acute kidney injury. *Pediatr. Nephrol.* 33, 1629–1639 (2018).
 Amrouche, L. *et al.* MicroRNA-146a in human and experimental ischemic AKI: CXCL8-dependent mechanism of action. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* 28, 479–493 (2017).

- Kepiron. 20, 417–425 (2017).
 Kamirez, G. A. et al. Ion channels and transporters in inflammation: Special focus on TRP channels and TRPC6. Cells 7, 2 (2018).
 Damann, N., Owsianik, G., Li, S., Poll, C. & Nilius, B. The calcium-conducting ion channel transient receptor potential canonical 6 is involved in macrophage inflammatory protein-2-induced migration of mouse neutrophils. Acta Physiol. (Oxf). 195, 3–11
- (2009).
 Rudman-Melnick, V. *et al.* Single-cell profiling of AKI in a murine model reveals novel transcriptional signatures, profibrotic phenotype, and epithelial-to-stromal crosstalk. *J. Am. Soc. Nephrol.* **31**, 2793–2814 (2020).
 Hiroshima, Y. *et al.* S100A8/A9 and S100A9 reduce acute lung injury. *Immunol. Cell Biol.* **95**, 461–472 (2017).
 Dessing, M. C. *et al.* The calcium-binding protein complex S100A8/A9 has a crucial role in controlling macrophage-mediated renal repair following ischemia/reperfusion. *Kidney Int 8*, 85–94 (2015).
 Hou, X. *et al.* Transient receptor potential channel 6 knockdown prevents apoptosis of renal tubular epithelial cells upon oxidative stress via autophagy activation. *Cell Death Dis.* **9**, 1015 (2018).
 Davis, J., Burr, A. R., Davis, G. F., Birnbaumer, L. & Molkentin, J. D. A TRPC6-dependent pathway for myofibroblast transdifferentiation and wound healing in vivo. *Dev. Cell.* **23**, 705–715 (2012).
 Kefaloyianni, E. *et al.* ADAM17 substrate release in proximal tubule drives kidney fibrosis. *JCl Insight.* **1**, 2 (2016).
 Zafrani, L. & Ince, C. Microcirculation in acute and chronic kidney diseases. *Am. J. Kidney Dis.* **66**, 1083–1094 (2015).
 Restrictions in the State Office for Health and Social Affairs (LAGeSo). Animal welfare. https://www.berlin.de/lageso/gesundheit/veterinarevesen/irse.httz/. (2009).

- Restrictions in the State Office for Health and Social Affairs (LAGeSo). Animal welfare. https://www.berlin.de/lageso/gesundheit/ veterinaerwesen/tierschutz/.
 ARRIVE guidelines. https://arriveguidelines.org/arrive-guidelines (2020).
 Chen, L. *et al.* Role of TRPV1 channels in ischemia/reperfusion-induced acute kidney injury. *PLoS ONE* 9, e109842 (2014).
 Lee, H. T. *et al.* Isoflurane protects against renal ischemia and reperfusion injury and modulates leukocyte infiltration in mice. *Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol.* 293, F713–F722 (2007).
 Schleifenbaum, J. *et al.* Stretch-activation of angiotensin II type 1a receptors contributes to the myogenic response of mouse mesenteric and renal arteries. *Circ. Res.* 115, 263–272 (2014).

Acknowledgements

We thank Jana Czychi and Juliane Ulrich for their technical help. This work was supported by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG) to B.N. and M.G. (SFB1365, GO766/18-2, GO766/12-3, NU53/12-2) and M.S. (SFB-TTR152, TP18).

Author contributions

All authors planned and designed experimental studies. Z.Z., D.T., and T.U.P.B. performed qPCRs, histological evaluation, analyzed data and drafted the manuscript. C.E. and J.S. performed the isolated kidney perfusions. U.K. and M.S. supplied the TRPC6 Blocker and provided pharmacokinetic measurements for its use in vivo. X.C. and F-A.L. measured the concentration of SH045 in vivo. K.W. supervised the histological analysis. G.N. performed murine surgery and collected blood and tissues. M-B.K. performed renal PAS and immunofluorescence staining. B.N., M.G. and L.M. supervised the experimental work. All authors revised the manuscript critically for important intellectual content. All authors agree to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved. All authors made substantial contributions to conception, design, drafting and completion of the article.

Funding

Open Access funding enabled and organized by Projekt DEAL.

Competing interests The authors declare no competing interests.

Additional information

Supplementary Information The online version contains supplementary material available at https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41598-022-06703-9

Correspondence and requests for materials should be addressed to D.T., M.G. or L.M.

Reprints and permissions information is available at www.nature.com/reprints.

Publisher's note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or œ format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

© The Author(s) 2022

Scientific Reports | (2022) 12:3038 | https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-06703-9

4. Interferon-γ signaling inhibition ameliorates angiotensin IIinduced cardiac damage

Markó L*, Kvakan H*, Park JK*, Qadri F, Spallek B, Binger KJ, Bowman EP, Kleinewietfeld M, Fokuhl V, Dechend R, Müller DN. Hypertension. 2012;60:1430-1436. *Markó L, Kvakan H, and Park JK contributed equally to this work.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.112.199265

Hypertension is the major cardiovascular disease risk factor, with an estimated half of the cardiovascular events attributed to it.¹⁰⁹ According to a current estimate (including hypertension-associated chronic kidney disease (CKD)), this reflects 7.7–10.4 million annual deaths worldwide.¹¹⁰ Hypertension leads to target organ damage, ultimately leading to organ failure and death.¹¹¹ In the last decade, ample evidence suggests that angiotensin II (Ang II), one of the effector molecules of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS), plays a central role in mediating target-organ damage. The first practicable model was introduced by Goldblatt.¹¹² He described that renal ischemia is sufficient to induce persistently elevated systolic blood pressure; later, Ang II was identified as the mediator.¹¹³ Accordingly, drugs interfering with the RAAS system effectively reduce blood pressure and prevent target organ damage in patients with hypertension.¹¹⁴ More importantly, they reduce cardiovascular mortality in patients with various types of cardiovascular disease.¹¹⁵⁻¹¹⁸

To investigate the mechanism of Ang II-induced organ damage, animal models with high Ang II blood levels were generated.^{46,119} Soon, it was discovered that inflammatory mechanisms are principal mediators of Ang II-induced target organ damage, and anti-inflammatory agents or immunosuppressants can reduce it.¹²⁰⁻¹²² In a milestone paper Guzik et al. used mice lacking T and B cells and showed that these mice develop only blunted hypertension upon Ang II infusion. In these mice, hypertensive response to Ang II could be achieved by restoring the T cell population, whereas by restoring B cells not. These findings suggested that T cells are not only a mediator of end-organ damage but essential for developing hypertension itself. This work, however, did not address which T cells are responsible for the observed effect.

As a previous finding suggested a disturbed balance between different T helper cell (Th) subsets,¹²³ we decided to investigate the role of Th1 and just recently described interleukin (IL)17A producing Th17¹²⁴ subsets in angiotensin-induced renal and cardiac damage. Th1 cells are characterized by the secretion of interferon-gamma (IFN_Y), and the generation of

pathological Th17 cells is IL23-dependent.¹²⁵⁻¹²⁷ Therefore, we used IFNy receptor (IFNyR) knockout (KO) mice¹²⁸ or treated outbred NMRI mice with neutralizing antibodies against the IL23 receptor (IL23R) antibody or against IL17A. As control mice, 129S6/SvEvTac mice (genetic background of the IFNyR-KO mice) were used as the strain existed only in a homozygous form for the null mutation of the IFNyR gene, or NMRI mice were treated with the respective isotype IgG1 control antibodies. Subcutaneous osmotic micropumps delivered Ang II for 2 weeks. Antibodies were given intraperitoneally twice during the experiment: on the day of micropump implantation and one week after. All experimental mouse groups developed similarly high blood pressure upon Ang II. However, IFNyR-KO mice presented somewhat lower mean arterial blood pressure than wild-type mice, but it did not reach statistical significance in our case. Two years later, Kamat et al. could show a blunted rise in Ang II-induced high blood pressure in IFNy-KO mice.¹²⁹ Nevertheless, Ang II-treated IFNyR-KO mice exhibited lower expression of adhesion molecules on the vascular endothelium, reduced T cell and macrophage infiltration, and less perivascular and interstitial fibrosis in the heart, in comparison to Ang-II-treated wild-type mice. On a functional level, this histological picture was associated with a drastically decreased rate of inducible, reproducible nonsustained ventricular arrhythmias as assessed by in vivo electrophysiological studies. Supporting the result of the electrophysiological studies, the cardiac expression of connexin 43 (one of the main gap junction proteins in the cardiac ventricle connecting adjacent cells) was restricted to the microscopic structures of the heart, the so-called lines of Eberth or intercalated disc regions in Ang II-treated IFNyR-KO mice. Whereas in Ang II-treated wildtype mice, connexin 43 was dislocated. Treatment neither by IL23R nor by IL17A significantly influenced Ang II-induced hypertension or cardiac damage.

We next analyzed kidney function and renal histology to assess hypertensive renal damage in the experimental groups. Hypertensive IFNYR-KO mice exhibited - similarly to the heart - a lower number of infiltrating T cells and macrophages and less fibrosis compared to Ang IItreated wild-type mice. This was associated with lower induction of the renal damage marker neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin and, on the functional level, with a lower reduction of glomerular filtration rate in Ang II-treated IFNYR-KO mice. In contrast to this ameliorated hypertensive renal damage phenotype, hypertensive IFNYR-KO mice had almost five times higher albuminuria than their hypertensive wild-type controls. Staining of renal tissue of Ang II-treated IFNYR-KO mice against the podocyte-specific protein, Wilms' tumor 1,¹³⁰ revealed fewer podocytes than the respective wild-type control group, indicating accelerated podocyte death. Moreover, staining against nephrin, a structural component of the slit diaphragm,¹³¹ and against synaptopodin, an actin microfilament-associated protein in the podocyte foot processes¹³² showed much weaker staining in hypertensive IFN γ R-KO mice when compared to renal staining of hypertensive wild-type mice. Earlier studies suggested that IFN γ might interfere with autophagy.^{133,134} Therefore, we stained renal tissue against the autophagosomal marker LC3B.¹³⁵ The staining revealed significant LC3B accumulation in Ang II-infused IFN- γ R KO mice podocytes. In contrast, Ang II-infused wild-type mice had only a low percentage of LC3B positive podocytes. Blockade of IL23 signaling or neutralizing IL17A did not affect hypertensive renal damage development.

We concluded that inhibiting IFN- γ signaling, but not IL23 or IL17 signaling, protects against Ang II-induced cardiac damage and consequent arrhythmias. In hypertensive renal damage, IFN- γ signaling has opposing effects on renal function, depending on the cell type where it is expressed. The absence of IFN- γ R signaling preserves renal function, whereas it leads to albuminuria as podocytes seem to require intact IFN- γ signaling to maintain integrity and functionality. Original manuscript is available under:

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.112.199265

5. B-cell lymphoma/leukemia 10 (Bcl10) and angiotensin II-induced kidney injury

Markó L, Park JK, Henke N, Rong S, Balogh A, Klamer S, Bartolomaeus H, Wilck N, Ruland J, Forslund SK, Luft FC, Dechend R, Müller DN. Cardiovasc Res. 2020;116(5):1059-1070. [Epub ahead of print]: 26 June 2019.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvz169

As described in the previous section, angiotensin (Ang) II is crucial in developing hypertensive kidney injury¹³⁶⁻¹³⁸, and immune cells are a central feature of this process.^{51,120-122,139} The transcription factor nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF- κ B) is a main regulator of immune cell function.^{140,141} Ang II can stimulate the intracellular formation of reactive oxygen species by activating subunits of the membrane-bound nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidase and also by increasing its formation in the mitochondria and thereby inducing NF- κ B.¹⁴² Additionally, immune cells express the angiotensin II type 1 receptor (AT1R) and can modulate the immune cells' function under certain circumstances.^{143,144} Yet, the signaling pathway from the AT1R to NF- κ B was incompletely understood.

T and B cell receptors are complex structures that operate with accessory proteins and activate multiple signaling pathways to elicit a proper immune response. One of the central signaling pathways T and B cell receptors initiate involves the activation of specific protein kinase C isoforms, which is necessary to activate the NF-κB.¹⁴⁵ How protein kinases however signal to NF-kB was unknown.¹⁴⁵ It was not until the beginning of the new century when the mechanism was cleared. The signalosome consists of three major signaling molecules: (i) caspase recruitment domain 11 (also known as CARMA1), which integrates the upstream signal of activated protein kinase C with downstream factors; ¹⁴⁶⁻¹⁴⁹ (ii) B-cell lymphoma/leukemia 10 (Bcl10) an intermediate bridging factor;^{150,151} and the effector protein (iii) mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue lymphoma translocation protein 1 (MALT1), which ultimately stimulates the IkB kinase complex (IKK) complex.^{152,153} Since CARMA1 is lymphocyte-specific, the signalosome - and therefore the NF-kB activating pathway - is exclusive to cells of the immune system.^{147,149} However, the expression profile of CARMA3, another member of the CARMA family, is much broader. In 2007 McAllister-Lucas and colleagues described a novel pathway including the CARMA3-Bcl10-MALT1 (CBM) signalosome - as a mediator of Ang II-dependent activation of NF-KB.154

We showed earlier that lacking Bcl10, the intermediate bridging factor of the signalosome, ameliorates Ang II-induced cardiac inflammation, cardiac fibrosis, and electrical remodeling as a result of lower NF-kB activation by Ang II.¹⁵⁵ With the help of bone marrow transplantation studies, we further showed that Bcl10, of both immune cells and of cardiac origin, contributes to the ameliorated phenotype.¹⁵⁵ Based on data and partly tissue samples from this study, we tested the hypothesis that lacking Bcl10 reduces Ang II-induced hypertensive renal damage. For this purpose, we used mice lacking Bcl10¹⁵⁶ and performed additional experiments. Uninephrectomized Bcl10-deficient (Bcl10KO) and C57BL/6 wild-type mice (genetic background of the Bcl10KO mice, since Bcl10KO mice existed only in a homozygous form for the null mutation), as well as mice that underwent allogeneic kidney transplantation, were infused with Ang II via subcutaneous osmotic micropumps for 2 weeks and received 1% NaCl (ad libitum) in the drinking water. Removing one kidney before delivery of Ang II (after surgery, mice had at least 1 week recovery time) and salt-containing drinking water were necessary because C57LB/6 mice are more resilient to renal injury than other mouse strains.^{157,158}

On the one hand, we detected less fibrosis and T cell and macrophage infiltration in the kidneys of Ang II-treated Bcl10KO mice compared to Ang II-treated wild-type mice. On the other hand, we detected a higher level of albuminuria, which was associated with a higher renal expression of tubular damage marker neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin and kidney injury molecule 1. Elevated albuminuria was associated with aggravated podocyte injury, as evidenced by the stain of nephrin, a slit diaphragm protein, and a lower number of Wilms' tumor 1 (podocyte-specific marker) positive cells in the glomerulus. Ultimately, Ang II-treated mice lacking Bcl10 showed deteriorated renal function as indicated by higher serum creatinine levels compared to Ang II-treated wild-type mice. To further investigate this seemingly contradictious phenotype of hypertensive renal injury and to separate the actions of Bcl10 in the kidney from the global in all tissues, we performed allogenic kidney transplantation studies, whereby wild-type or Bcl10KO kidneys were transplanted into wild-type recipients. After recovery from the surgery, the mice underwent the same experimental procedure as mice from the first studies (uninephrectomy, saline solution, and Ang II treatment, though this case only for a week). Those wild-type mice transplanted with Bcl10KO kidneys showed higher renal expression of neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin and fewer podocytes. However, the level of immune cell infiltration and renal fibrosis was comparable in both wild-type and Bcl10 recipient wild-type mice. This suggests - together with the phenotype of global Bcl10KO animal studies - that the ameliorated fibrosis can be attributed to a deficient, Bcl10-dependent NF-κB signaling of immune cells and the greater podocyte damage and the consequent tubular damage to the lack of Bcl10 in renal cells.

Finally, we also analyzed the cardiac hypertrophy in the allogenic transplantation groups. Surprisingly, upon Ang II treatment, wild-type mice with Bcl10KO kidneys transplanted developed markedly reduced cardiac hypertrophy compared to wild-type kidney transplanted wild-type mice. In a similar experimental setting, but with AT1RKO mice, a similar cardiac phenotype was observed: mice lacking the AT1R only in the kidney developed significantly less cardiac hypertrophy than wild-type mice transplanted with wild-type kidneys.¹⁵⁹ In that manuscript, Crowley et al. concluded that renal AT1 receptors are indispensable for the development of And II-dependent cardiac hypertrophy and hypertension. This similarity with our renal Bcl10KO phenotype supports the role of Bcl10 in Ang II signaling. Nevertheless, further studies are needed to confirm this notion.

In summary, we provide evidence that Bcl10, the bridging molecule of the recently discovered CBM signalosome, is a crucial component of mediating Ang II-induced induced renal immune cell infiltration and fibrosis. Furthermore, we uncovered a novel role for Bcl10 in maintaining podocyte integrity. Supporting ameliorated Ang II-induced cardiac hypertrophy in earlier findings with mice deficient for the AT1R in the kidney only, we found that lacking Bcl10 solely in the kidney resembles this phenotype. This supports the role of the CBM signalosome in renal AT1R signaling, a pathway that was described in the liver only.¹⁵⁴ However, to support the latter statement, further studies are needed to prove this hypothesis undisputedly.

Original manuscript is available under:

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvz169
III. Discussion

Nephrology is a relatively young medical subspecialty that is continuously evolving.⁴ As consensus definitions of acute and chronic renal diseases were established, the global challenge these diseases pose became clear. AKI is a common complication in hospitalized patients affecting approximately 10–15% of them and almost 50% of those patients in the intensive care unit.^{7,8} Whereas CKD, according to the 2010 Global Burden of Disease study, ranked 18th in the list of causes of the total number of deaths and affected an estimated 800 million people worldwide.^{160,161} Since both entities have limited treatment options (mainly supportive or reduced to treating complications and consequences of renal function loss), there is an urgent need to find therapeutic targets.

In the presented experimental works, new mouse models were developed, and existing ones were applied to discover and investigate novel signaling pathways and mediators in the kidney which could influence the outcome of ischemic AKI and inflammatory signaling pathways as novel mediators of hypertension-induced chronic renal damage were investigated.

Members of the NF-kB transcription factor family form hetero- or homodimers that can regulate gene transcription through two distinct activation pathways: canonical and non-canonical. The canonical (also known as classical) pathway dynamically governs the response to various external stimuli, including ligands relevant in the context of AKI, such as multiple cytokine receptors or the TNF receptor superfamily members. Previous experimental studies applied global NF-kB inhibition and could show that this strategy can alleviate renal damage; however, studies with cell- or tissue-specific NF-KB inhibition have demonstrated that the effects of NFκB vary significantly in different cell types.¹⁶² In our work, we have addressed the role of NFκB in tubular epithelial cells in ischemic AKI. We used the Cre-loxP system and expressed the Cre enzyme under the Emx1 promoter, which we have shown to be expressed in the renal tubular epithelium. These mice were mated with mice bearing the floxed NF-kB superrepressor, IκBaΔN, a genetically modified version of NF-kB inhibitor and main canonical pathway target gene IkB to obtain mice with reduced NF-kB activity (Emx1- Δ N) in the renal tubular cells. In agreement with previous studies^{163,164} where NF-κB was inhibited globally, we also observed reduced immune cell infiltration in the injured kidneys of mice with tubular specific NF-kB inhibition compared to injured kidneys of wild-type littermates, highlighting the role of epithelial cells in leukocytes recruitment and inflammatory response after ischemic AKI. We also found fewer apoptotic cells in the injured kidneys of the $Emx1-\Delta N$ mice in comparison to the injured kidneys of wild-type mice, which finding we verified in *in vitro* experiments in a hypoxia-mimetic model using CoCl₂ and proximal tubular cell cultures from wild-type mice and mice overexpressing IkBa Δ N. Although NF-kB is mainly involved in apoptosis suppression¹⁶⁵, these data argue for an apoptotic role of NF-kB in the context of ischemic renal damage. An additional mouse model was used, which expressed the luciferase gene under the control of NF-κB, showing that renal ischemia leads to significant NF-κB activation already 12 hours and peaking 3 days after insult. Microarray analysis of injured kidneys of Emx1- Δ N mice 24 hours after ischemia revealed 240 genes differentially downregulated compared to damaged kidneys of wild-type mice. Of these, known NF-kB target genes were overrepresented, as demonstrated by gene-set enrichment analysis, such as cytokines or chemokines, cell adhesion molecules, and stress response genes, including the chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand 1 and 2 and vascular cell adhesion molecule 1, all which are involved in post-ischemic recruitment of inflammatory cells.¹⁶⁶⁻¹⁶⁸ Of clinical importance, preoperative administration of (low dose) aspirin, a well-known anti-inflammatory drug and NF-kB inhibitor,¹⁶⁹ was found recently to be associated with reduced hemodialysis requirements and reduced postoperative length of hospital stay without significant increase of bleeding events.¹⁷⁰ Thus, our data argue for a clinically targetable role of renal NF-kB activation in ischemic renal injury.

Next to nitric oxide and carbon monoxide, H₂S emerged 30 years ago as a third gasotransmitter. While many experimental works have provided evidence that H₂S is protective in diverse kidney damage models,^{81,171,172} no experimental work focused on the (pathos)physiological role of H₂S. In the kidney, H₂S is produced mainly by two enzymes, cystathionine β -synthase and cystathionine γ -lyase (CTH). Here we investigated the role of CTH-derived H_2S in AKI. We used Cth^{-/-} mice on a backcrossed C57BL/6J background,⁸⁶, whereas another Cth^{-/-} mouse⁸⁷ model exists on a mixed genetic background. Of note, although the same gene was targeted in both mice, different exons were deleted, and phenotypical differences of unclear reasons exist. Additionally, as our experiments were still running, Bos et al. published their results using the other mouse model in an AKI model.⁹² Similarly to their findings, we also found reduced renal expression (on gene and protein level) of both CTH and CBS after renal IRI. Additionally, no difference in post-ischemic infiltration of neutrophil granulocytes or macrophages could be observed in both experimental works. On the other hand, whereas we did not detect any differences in renal IRI damage between Cth^{-/-} and wild-type or even in heterozygous Cth^{+/-} littermates, Bos et al. found aggravated kidney damage in their Cth^{-/-} mice after IRI, which was associated with increased mortality. The reasons for this discrepancy are possibly multifaceted. It includes baseline differences of the two mouse models (e.g., their Cth^{-/-} mice develop an age-dependent elevation in blood pressure⁸⁷ whereby blood pressure starts to elevate by 10 mmHg already at the age of 7 weeks and sex-related hyperhomocysteinemia, whereas the Cth^{-/-} mice we used do not). Moreover, the surgical procedure was different, although serum creatinine levels in both studies were similar 24 hours after IRI. Finally, CTH deletion led to a 50% reduction in renal H₂S concentration in our mouse model, whereas they observed a decrease of over 90%. Our findings that Cth^{-/-} mice do not exacerbate IRI-induced renal damage is in contrast to the previous study where CTH was inhibited chemically by dl-propargylglycine (50 mg/kg intraperitoneally, one hour before surgery) and led to reduced recovery from renal IRI in a rat bilateral ischemia model.³¹ However, the same compound (5 mg/kg intraperitoneally, twice a day for four consecutive days) had nephroprotective effects in the cisplatin model of AKI in rats and in the adriamycin-induced nephrotoxicity in rats (50 mg/kg intraperitoneally, injected 2 hours after drug application).^{173,174} Indeed, proinflammatory roles of H₂S have also been shown, suggesting that it might accelerate inflammatory responses.¹⁷⁵ Thus, future studies are needed to elucidate the role of endogenous H₂S in renal IRI.

Renal damage caused by acute ischemic injury often progresses into chronic tissue damage, ultimately leading to CKD. Although channelopathies are rare causes of CKD, identifying ion channels in disease can open new avenues to treat renal conditions. After all, approximately 15% of drugs used presently target ion channels.¹⁷⁶ We aimed to investigate the TRPC6 channel, a non-selective cation channel, which has been recently identified as a cause of a familiar form of FSGS as a potential druggable target to alleviate the immediate outcome of AKI.³⁴ In the context of kidney diseases, the role of TRPC6 has been investigated in renal fibrosis caused by urinary obstruction, in murine diabetic nephropathy models, and in autoimmune nephritis models, as reviewed recently.¹⁷⁷ Here, we investigated if lacking or inhibiting TRPC6 could be favorable in reducing renal damage in AKI. First, we used the TRPC6⁻ ^{/-} mouse model that was generated and characterized earlier.⁹⁶ Since this mouse lineage was kept homozygous in a mixed 129Sv:C57BL/6J genetic background, we decided to use C57BL/6J mice as control wild-type mice. Upon IRI, both mice developed a similar degree of renal function decreased as mirrored by similarly elevated serum creatinine, blood urea nitrogen, and potassium levels. Renal pathology also showed comparable renal damage in wild-type and TRPC6-/-, which underwent IRI and a similar degree of neutrophil granulocyte infiltration. This finding was somewhat unexpected as we used global knockout animals, and previously others have shown that TRPC6 channels play a role in immune cell migration and chemotaxis.^{105,106} Additionally, as we were finishing these experiments, Hou et al. using another TRPC6 knockout mouse linage (129SvEv), showed significantly ameliorated renal damage after IRI.¹⁰⁸ Nevertheless, their TRPC6 knockout mice were probably also kept homozygous since they used not littermates but 129SvEv mice as control wild-type mice. Additionally, targeting TRPC6 channels has been shown earlier to alleviate tissue damage in other ischemic models, such as focal cerebral ischemia.¹⁰⁷ Because of this, we decided to target TRPC6 pharmacologically by applying two different specific antagonists, SH045 and BI-749327. We even introduced a group of mice with shorter renal ischemia time (although the previously applied 20-minute ischemia time also did not lead to irreversible renal damage). We measured and confirmed biologically sufficient concentrations of SH045 in renal tissues and used earlier verified concentrations of BI-749327.³⁹ However, similarly to the experimental data with TRPC6^{-/-} mice, we could not observe any effect of TRPC6 inhibition on the extent of renal damage, blood parameters or cellular infiltration in comparison to vehicle-treated mice. Of note, we also used C57BL/6J mice for the pharmacological studies. Therefore the genetic background might explain discrepancies between our findings with TRPC6^{-/-} mice and those published by others.¹⁰⁸ Nevertheless, in renal fibrosis models both our TRPC6^{-/-} mice and SH045 treatment in the same dosage significantly reduced the extent of fibrosis and cellular infiltration and decreased the mRNA expression of pro-fibrotic markers.^{40,178} Thus further studies should test the hypothesis if TRPC6 inhibition might be protective on the long-term consequences of ischemic AKI.

Chronic renal disease progresses into ESRD. Next to diabetes, hypertension is the leading cause of ESRD.⁴² Inflammatory cells have long been described as an essential mediator of hypertensive organ damage. However, only a recent study identified T cells as crucial players in the development of hypertension and considered them as mediators only.⁵¹ In the fourth work, we investigated the role of T cell subtype Th1 and Th17 in the development of hypertensive renal damage.¹⁷⁹ We used this time next to a genetic mouse model (IFNyR KO mice to investigate Th1 cells),¹²⁸ and a neutralizing antibody strategy against the IL23 receptor (IL23R) and IL17A, to inhibit the generation and function of the Th17 cells, respectively. Hypertension was induced by continuous Ang II infusion by osmotic minipumps. We found that lacking the IFNyR signaling pathway, but not IL23R or IL17A antibody treatment, improved Ang II-induced cardiac and renal end-organ damage without affecting the development of Ang II-induced high blood pressure. However, a complete IL17 inhibition by knocking out the IL17A gene led to reduced blood pressure response upon Ang II infusion in mice lacking the IL-17A gene.¹⁸⁰ Nevertheless, blunted Ang II responsiveness could only be observed starting at 3 weeks after Ang II treatment.¹⁸⁰ In contrast to Th17 inhibition, Ang IIinfused IFNyR KO (Th1) mice showed ameliorated cardiac hypertrophy and electric remodeling rendering them less prone to develop non-sustained ventricular arrhythmias than Ang IIinfused control mice. In line with the ameliorated cardiac damage phenotype, renal damage was also less apparent, and the glomerular filtration rate was more preserved. Nonetheless, Ang II led to higher albuminuria and reduced podocyte number, as well as synaptopodin and

nephrin expression, which we explain partly by the impaired podocyte autophagy we detected in these mice. In line with our observation, IFNγ KO mice or control mice injected with IFNγneutralizing antibody developed worse albuminuria and glomerular pathology than control mice.¹⁸¹ These data shed light on the contribution of Th1 and Th17 immune cells in the development of Ang II-induced target-organ damage.

Ang II mediates end-organ damage partly by activating NF-kB through binding to its receptor AT1.⁵⁴ Here, AT1R is expressed not only on "classical" target cells such as endothelial cells, vascular smooth muscle cells, or specific tubular cells of the kidney but on immune cells too.^{55,182} However, the exact molecular pathway of how AT1R signals to NF-κB in different cell types was unclear until 2007, when a signalosome containing the bridging factor Bcl10 was described in both immune and nonimmune cells.¹⁵⁴ We investigated this pathway in an Ang IIinduced hypertension model using Bcl10 KO mice in the fifth work.¹⁸³ Here, we found that global Bcl10 deficiency protects against Ang II-induced cellular infiltration and renal fibrosis; however, it aggravates renal damage manifesting in exacerbated albuminuria and tubular damage. By performing allogeneic kidney transplantation, we could conclude that Bcl10 in the kidney is necessary to limit Ang II-induced renal cellular damage, and Bcl10 in immune cells mediates cell infiltration and renal fibrosis. As a matter of fact, Bcl10 KO mice exhibit an impaired immune response to various stimuli.¹⁵⁶ In this regard, our findings with global Bcl10 KO mice are in agreement with various other immunodeficient mouse models where an ameliorated end-organ damage was reported upon Ang II-induced hypertension.^{120,184} Indeed, Ang II mediates the recruitment of immune cells into the kidney by expression of NF-KB regulated adhesion molecules, cytokines, and chemokines, ultimately leading to renal fibrosis.^{47,55,185} A more surprising finding was the aggravated podocyte damage and consequently higher albuminuria upon Ang II treatment in Bcl10 deficient mice compared to control mice. As podocyte-specific inhibition of NF-KB was protective in a mouse model of adriamycin-induced nephropathy,¹⁸⁶ we expected a similar effect in our model. Podocytes have a unique cytoarchitecture with a precise and dynamic organization of actin filaments.¹⁸⁷ Bcl10 also plays a role in F-actin cytoskeleton remodeling, independent of NF-kB signaling in immune cells.^{188,189} Indeed, we have shown earlier that both *in vitro* and *in vivo* macrophage chemotaxis, a process which requires actin rearrangement, toward monocyte chemotactic protein-1 is severely impaired when lacking Bcl10.¹⁷⁹ We, therefore, speculate that Bcl10 has a similar role in podocytes, which would explain a faulty remodeling upon Ang II. Another interesting finding was that control mice transplanted with Bcl10 KO kidney developed significantly ameliorated cardiac hypertrophy in comparison to control mice transplanted with control kidney. This phenomenon resembled the transplant studies using AT1R KO mice

whereby control mice transplanted with AT1A receptor deficient kidneys were also protected against cardiac hypertrophy compared to control mice transplanted with control kidneys, supporting a pivotal role for Ang II within the kidney in the development of target-organ damage.¹⁵⁹

IV. Summary

In the first manuscript, we aimed to define the role of tubular NF- κ B activation in AKI. First, we determined the time course of NF- κ B activation in the kidney during ischemic AKI using a noninvasive in vivo imaging technique and a luciferase-dependent NF- κ B reporter mouse model (κ -Luc). Using this mouse model and detection method, we found a significant increase in NF- κ B activity as soon as twelve hours after ischemic AKI induction. The activation lasted five days until it returned to baseline levels. The role of renal tubular NF- κ B signaling in ischemic AKI was addressed by generating a new mouse model where NF- κ B was tubular epithelial-specifically inhibited (Emx1- Δ N). Our results using this mouse model indicate that renal tubular epithelial NF- κ B activation aggravates tubular injury and supports a maladaptive inflammatory response in renal ischemic injury.

The second work shed light on the pathophysiological role of the enzyme CTH, which is partly responsible for the gasotransmitter H_2S production in the kidney, in AKI using mice lacking CTH (Cth^{-/-}) as well as heterozygous and wild-type littermates. Systemic loss of CTH in the mouse model we used led to a 50% reduction in renal tissue H_2S levels. Still, it did not influence the immediate consequences of ischemic AKI, such as renal tissue damage, inflammatory cell infiltration, or expression of cytokines, chemokines, and adhesion molecules. However, others found opposing results using a different mouse linage, still targeting the Cth gene. Therefore, future studies are granted to clarify the role of CTH in AKI.

In the third study, we aimed to test the hypothesis that inhibition of TRPC6 may ameliorate the immediate outcome of AKI. We used genetically modified mice lacking Trpc6 (Trpc6-/-) and applied two orally active and selective TRPC6 inhibitors, SH045 and BI-749327. We applied our well-established ischemic AKI-induced renal damage model with two different ischemia times to mimic a moderate and a severe ischemic injury. We also measured the renal tissue concentration of SH045 after intravenous application and at the end of the AKI-induced damage. The measured concentrations were in the pharmacologically effective range. Despite our various approaches (including the genetic mouse model), we found no effect of lacking or inhibiting TRPC6 on the immediate outcome of AKI.

In the fourth study, we investigated the role of Th1 and Th17 immune cells in the development of Ang II-induced organ damage. We used here established KO mouse model for investigating the Th1 cell population (IFN_YR KO) with appropriate control mice and neutralizing antibody treatments to interfere with Th17 cell production (IL-23R antibody) or function (IL17A antibody). We concluded from this study that interfering with Th1 cell function by deleting the IFN_YR protects from Ang II-induced cardiac damage and electric remodeling, whereas interfering with the Th17 pathway by IL23R or IL17 antibody treatment does not. On the other hand, in the kidney, IFN_Y signaling acts in a cell type-specific manner. Renal function, cellular infiltration, and expression of epithelial damage markers were ameliorated in the absence of the IFN_YR; however, it led to podocyte damage and loss, suggesting that IFN_YR signaling is necessary to maintain normal podocyte integrity and function in the presence of Ang II.

In the fifth work, we investigated the role of signalosome bridging molecule Bcl10, which mediates AT1R signaling to NF-KB signaling in developing Ang II-induced renal damage. We used Bcl10 KO and control mice and performed allogeneic kidney transplantation to disentangle the role of Bcl10 in the kidney from lacking Bcl10 globally. We found that lacking Bcl10 ameliorates Ang II-induced cellular infiltration and renal fibrosis but surprisingly aggravated albuminuria. Allogeneic kidney transplantation of Bcl10 KO or control kidneys in control recipients revealed that Bcl10 is required for the correct adaptation of podocytes in an Ang II-induced hypertension model and uncovered unexpected implications regarding Ang II-induced cardiac hypertrophy.

V. Literature

- 1. Salem ME, Eknoyan G. The kidney in ancient Egyptian medicine: where does it stand? *American journal of nephrology*. 1999;19:140-147. doi: 10.1159/000013440
- 2. Bloom DA, Milen MT, Heininger JC. Claudius Galen: from a 20th century genitourinary perspective. *The Journal of urology*. 1999;161:12-19. doi: 10.1016/s0022-5347(01)62046-9
- 3. Weening JJ, Jennette JC. Historical milestones in renal pathology. *Virchows Archiv : an international journal of pathology*. 2012;461:3-11. doi: 10.1007/s00428-012-1254-7
- 4. Eckardt KU, Coresh J, Devuyst O, Johnson RJ, Kottgen A, Levey AS, Levin A. Evolving importance of kidney disease: from subspecialty to global health burden. *Lancet*. 2013;382:158-169. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60439-0
- 5. National Kidney F. K/DOQI clinical practice guidelines for chronic kidney disease: evaluation, classification, and stratification. *American journal of kidney diseases : the official journal of the National Kidney Foundation*. 2002;39:S1-266.
- 6. Bellomo R, Ronco C, Kellum JA, Mehta RL, Palevsky P, Acute Dialysis Quality Initiative w. Acute renal failure - definition, outcome measures, animal models, fluid therapy and information technology needs: the Second International Consensus Conference of the Acute Dialysis Quality Initiative (ADQI) Group. *Critical care*. 2004;8:R204-212. doi: 10.1186/cc2872
- 7. Al-Jaghbeer M, Dealmeida D, Bilderback A, Ambrosino R, Kellum JA. Clinical Decision Support for In-Hospital AKI. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN*. 2018;29:654-660. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2017070765
- Hoste EA, Bagshaw SM, Bellomo R, Cely CM, Colman R, Cruz DN, Edipidis K, Forni LG, Gomersall CD, Govil D, et al. Epidemiology of acute kidney injury in critically ill patients: the multinational AKI-EPI study. *Intensive care medicine*. 2015;41:1411-1423. doi: 10.1007/s00134-015-3934-7
- 9. James MT, Hemmelgarn BR, Tonelli M. Early recognition and prevention of chronic kidney disease. *Lancet*. 2010;375:1296-1309. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)62004-3
- Coresh J, Selvin E, Stevens LA, Manzi J, Kusek JW, Eggers P, Van Lente F, Levey AS. Prevalence of chronic kidney disease in the United States. *Jama*. 2007;298:2038-2047. doi: 10.1001/jama.298.17.2038
- Jha V, Garcia-Garcia G, Iseki K, Li Z, Naicker S, Plattner B, Saran R, Wang AY, Yang CW. Chronic kidney disease: global dimension and perspectives. *Lancet*. 2013;382:260-272. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60687-X
- 12. Ronco C, Bellomo R, Kellum JA. Acute kidney injury. *Lancet*. 2019;394:1949-1964. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19)32563-2
- 13. Webster AC, Nagler EV, Morton RL, Masson P. Chronic Kidney Disease. *Lancet*. 2017;389:1238-1252. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)32064-5
- 14. Bellomo R, Kellum JA, Ronco C. Acute kidney injury. *Lancet*. 2012;380:756-766. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)61454-2
- 15. Bonventre JV, Yang L. Cellular pathophysiology of ischemic acute kidney injury. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 2011;121:4210-4221. doi: 10.1172/JCI45161
- 16. Heyman SN, Lieberthal W, Rogiers P, Bonventre JV. Animal models of acute tubular necrosis. *Current opinion in critical care*. 2002;8:526-534. doi: 10.1097/00075198-200212000-00008
- 17. Kellum JA, Romagnani P, Ashuntantang G, Ronco C, Zarbock A, Anders HJ. Acute kidney injury. *Nat Rev Dis Primers*. 2021;7:52. doi: 10.1038/s41572-021-00284-z
- Bao YW, Yuan Y, Chen JH, Lin WQ. Kidney disease models: tools to identify mechanisms and potential therapeutic targets. *Zool Res.* 2018;39:72-86. doi: 10.24272/j.issn.2095-8137.2017.055
- 19. Wei Q, Dong Z. Mouse model of ischemic acute kidney injury: technical notes and tricks. *American journal of physiology Renal physiology*. 2012;303:F1487-1494. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00352.2012

- 20. Fu Y, Tang C, Cai J, Chen G, Zhang D, Dong Z. Rodent models of AKI-CKD transition. *American journal of physiology Renal physiology*. 2018;315:F1098-F1106. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00199.2018
- 21. Epstein FH. Oxygen and renal metabolism. *Kidney international*. 1997;51:381-385. doi: 10.1038/ki.1997.50
- 22. Sharfuddin AA, Molitoris BA. Pathophysiology of ischemic acute kidney injury. *Nat Rev Nephrol*. 2011;7:189-200. doi: 10.1038/nrneph.2011.16
- 23. Kumar S. Cellular and molecular pathways of renal repair after acute kidney injury. *Kidney international*. 2018;93:27-40. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2017.07.030
- 24. Sanz AB, Sanchez-Nino MD, Ramos AM, Moreno JA, Santamaria B, Ruiz-Ortega M, Egido J, Ortiz A. NF-kappaB in renal inflammation. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN*. 2010;21:1254-1262. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2010020218
- 25. Liu T, Zhang L, Joo D, Sun SC. NF-kappaB signaling in inflammation. *Signal Transduct Target Ther*. 2017;2. doi: 10.1038/sigtrans.2017.23
- 26. Beinke S, Ley SC. Functions of NF-kappaB1 and NF-kappaB2 in immune cell biology. *The Biochemical journal*. 2004;382:393-409. doi: 10.1042/BJ20040544
- 27. Legrand M, Mik EG, Johannes T, Payen D, Ince C. Renal hypoxia and dysoxia after reperfusion of the ischemic kidney. *Mol Med*. 2008;14:502-516. doi: 10.2119/2008-00006.Legrand
- 28. Siriussawakul A, Chen LI, Lang JD. Medical gases: a novel strategy for attenuating ischemiareperfusion injury in organ transplantation? *J Transplant*. 2012;2012:819382. doi: 10.1155/2012/819382
- 29. Stipanuk MH, Beck PW. Characterization of the enzymic capacity for cysteine desulphhydration in liver and kidney of the rat. *The Biochemical journal*. 1982;206:267-277. doi: 10.1042/bj2060267
- Hosgood SA, Nicholson ML. Hydrogen sulphide ameliorates ischaemia-reperfusion injury in an experimental model of non-heart-beating donor kidney transplantation. *Br J Surg*. 2010;97:202-209. doi: 10.1002/bjs.6856
- 31. Han SJ, Kim JI, Park JW, Park KM. Hydrogen sulfide accelerates the recovery of kidney tubules after renal ischemia/reperfusion injury. *Nephrology, dialysis, transplantation : official publication of the European Dialysis and Transplant Association - European Renal Association*. 2015;30:1497-1506. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfv226
- Basile DP, Bonventre JV, Mehta R, Nangaku M, Unwin R, Rosner MH, Kellum JA, Ronco C, Group AXW. Progression after AKI: Understanding Maladaptive Repair Processes to Predict and Identify Therapeutic Treatments. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN*. 2016;27:687-697. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2015030309
- 33. Sprangers B, Meijers B, Appel G. FSGS: Diagnosis and Diagnostic Work-Up. *Biomed Res Int*. 2016;2016:4632768. doi: 10.1155/2016/4632768
- 34. Winn MP, Conlon PJ, Lynn KL, Farrington MK, Creazzo T, Hawkins AF, Daskalakis N, Kwan SY, Ebersviller S, Burchette JL, et al. A mutation in the TRPC6 cation channel causes familial focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. *Science*. 2005;308:1801-1804. doi: 10.1126/science.1106215
- 35. Reiser J, Polu KR, Moller CC, Kenlan P, Altintas MM, Wei C, Faul C, Herbert S, Villegas I, Avila-Casado C, et al. TRPC6 is a glomerular slit diaphragm-associated channel required for normal renal function. *Nat Genet*. 2005;37:739-744. doi: 10.1038/ng1592
- 36. Grahammer F, Schell C, Huber TB. The podocyte slit diaphragm--from a thin grey line to a complex signalling hub. *Nat Rev Nephrol*. 2013;9:587-598. doi: 10.1038/nrneph.2013.169
- Ma R, Chaudhari S, Li W. Canonical Transient Receptor Potential 6 Channel: A New Target of Reactive Oxygen Species in Renal Physiology and Pathology. *Antioxid Redox Signal*. 2016;25:732-748. doi: 10.1089/ars.2016.6661
- 38. Ratliff BB, Abdulmahdi W, Pawar R, Wolin MS. Oxidant Mechanisms in Renal Injury and Disease. *Antioxid Redox Signal*. 2016;25:119-146. doi: 10.1089/ars.2016.6665
- 39. Lin BL, Matera D, Doerner JF, Zheng N, Del Camino D, Mishra S, Bian H, Zeveleva S, Zhen X, Blair NT, et al. In vivo selective inhibition of TRPC6 by antagonist BI 749327 ameliorates

fibrosis and dysfunction in cardiac and renal disease. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 2019;116:10156-10161. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1815354116

- Kong W, Haschler TN, Nurnberg B, Kramer S, Gollasch M, Marko L. Renal Fibrosis, Immune Cell Infiltration and Changes of TRPC Channel Expression after Unilateral Ureteral Obstruction in Trpc6-/- Mice. *Cell Physiol Biochem*. 2019;52:1484-1502. doi: 10.33594/000000103
- 41. Mills KT, Stefanescu A, He J. The global epidemiology of hypertension. *Nat Rev Nephrol*. 2020;16:223-237. doi: 10.1038/s41581-019-0244-2
- 42. Collins AJ, Foley RN, Gilbertson DT, Chen SC. United States Renal Data System public health surveillance of chronic kidney disease and end-stage renal disease. *Kidney Int Suppl (2011)*. 2015;5:2-7. doi: 10.1038/kisup.2015.2
- 43. Collaborators GBDCoD. Global, regional, and national age-sex specific mortality for 264 causes of death, 1980-2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. *Lancet*. 2017;390:1151-1210. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)32152-9
- 44. Haroun MK, Jaar BG, Hoffman SC, Comstock GW, Klag MJ, Coresh J. Risk factors for chronic kidney disease: a prospective study of 23,534 men and women in Washington County, Maryland. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN*. 2003;14:2934-2941. doi: 10.1097/01.asn.0000095249.99803.85
- 45. Hamrahian SM, Falkner B. Hypertension in Chronic Kidney Disease. *Adv Exp Med Biol*. 2017;956:307-325. doi: 10.1007/5584_2016_84
- 46. Lerman LO, Kurtz TW, Touyz RM, Ellison DH, Chade AR, Crowley SD, Mattson DL, Mullins JJ, Osborn J, Eirin A, et al. Animal Models of Hypertension: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. *Hypertension*. 2019;73:e87-e120. doi: 10.1161/HYP.0000000000000000
- 47. McMaster WG, Kirabo A, Madhur MS, Harrison DG. Inflammation, immunity, and hypertensive end-organ damage. *Circ Res*. 2015;116:1022-1033. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.303697
- 48. Muller DN, Kvakan H, Luft FC. Immune-related effects in hypertension and target-organ damage. *Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens*. 2011;20:113-117. doi: 10.1097/MNH.0b013e3283436f88
- 49. Rodriguez-Iturbe B, Pons H, Quiroz Y, Johnson RJ. The immunological basis of hypertension. *Am J Hypertens*. 2014;27:1327-1337. doi: 10.1093/ajh/hpu142
- 50. Basting T, Lazartigues E. DOCA-Salt Hypertension: an Update. *Curr Hypertens Rep.* 2017;19:32. doi: 10.1007/s11906-017-0731-4
- 51. Guzik TJ, Hoch NE, Brown KA, McCann LA, Rahman A, Dikalov S, Goronzy J, Weyand C, Harrison DG. Role of the T cell in the genesis of angiotensin II induced hypertension and vascular dysfunction. *The Journal of experimental medicine*. 2007;204:2449-2460. doi: 10.1084/jem.20070657
- 52. Bhat MY, Solanki HS, Advani J, Khan AA, Keshava Prasad TS, Gowda H, Thiyagarajan S, Chatterjee A. Comprehensive network map of interferon gamma signaling. *J Cell Commun Signal*. 2018;12:745-751. doi: 10.1007/s12079-018-0486-y
- 53. Schroder K, Hertzog PJ, Ravasi T, Hume DA. Interferon-gamma: an overview of signals, mechanisms and functions. *J Leukoc Biol*. 2004;75:163-189. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0603252
- 54. Wolf G, Wenzel U, Burns KD, Harris RC, Stahl RA, Thaiss F. Angiotensin II activates nuclear transcription factor-kappaB through AT1 and AT2 receptors. *Kidney international*. 2002;61:1986-1995. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.2002.00365.x
- 55. Ruiz-Ortega M, Lorenzo O, Ruperez M, Konig S, Wittig B, Egido J. Angiotensin II activates nuclear transcription factor kappaB through AT(1) and AT(2) in vascular smooth muscle cells: molecular mechanisms. *Circ Res.* 2000;86:1266-1272. doi: 10.1161/01.res.86.12.1266

- 56. Muller DN, Dechend R, Mervaala EM, Park JK, Schmidt F, Fiebeler A, Theuer J, Breu V, Ganten D, Haller H, et al. NF-kappaB inhibition ameliorates angiotensin II-induced inflammatory damage in rats. *Hypertension*. 2000;35:193-201. doi: 10.1161/01.hyp.35.1.193
- 57. Thuillier R, Favreau F, Celhay O, Macchi L, Milin S, Hauet T. Thrombin inhibition during kidney ischemia-reperfusion reduces chronic graft inflammation and tubular atrophy. *Transplantation*. 2010;90:612-621. doi: 10.1097/tp.0b013e3181d72117
- 58. Versteilen AM, Blaauw N, Di Maggio F, Groeneveld AB, Sipkema P, Musters RJ, Tangelder GJ. rho-Kinase inhibition reduces early microvascular leukocyte accumulation in the rat kidney following ischemia-reperfusion injury: roles of nitric oxide and blood flow. *Nephron Experimental nephrology*. 2011;118:e79-86. doi: 10.1159/000322605
- 59. Kwon O, Hong SM, Ramesh G. Diminished NO generation by injured endothelium and loss of macula densa nNOS may contribute to sustained acute kidney injury after ischemiareperfusion. *American journal of physiology Renal physiology*. 2009;296:F25-33. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.90531.2008
- 60. Kato N, Yuzawa Y, Kosugi T, Hobo A, Sato W, Miwa Y, Sakamoto K, Matsuo S, Kadomatsu K. The E-selectin ligand basigin/CD147 is responsible for neutrophil recruitment in renal ischemia/reperfusion. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN*. 2009;20:1565-1576. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2008090957
- 61. Thurman JM. Triggers of inflammation after renal ischemia/reperfusion. *Clinical immunology*. 2007;123:7-13. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2006.09.008
- 62. Pulskens WP, Teske GJ, Butter LM, Roelofs JJ, van der Poll T, Florquin S, Leemans JC. Toll-like receptor-4 coordinates the innate immune response of the kidney to renal ischemia/reperfusion injury. *PloS one*. 2008;3:e3596. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0003596
- 63. Ghosh S, Hayden MS. Celebrating 25 years of NF-kappaB research. *Immunological reviews*. 2012;246:5-13. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2012.01111.x
- 64. Guijarro C, Egido J. Transcription factor-kappa B (NF-kappa B) and renal disease. *Kidney international*. 2001;59:415-424. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.2001.059002415.x
- 65. Hinz M, Arslan SC, Scheidereit C. It takes two to tango: IkappaBs, the multifunctional partners of NF-kappaB. *Immunological reviews*. 2012;246:59-76. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2012.01102.x
- 66. Vos IH, Govers R, Grone HJ, Kleij L, Schurink M, De Weger RA, Goldschmeding R, Rabelink TJ. NFkappaB decoy oligodeoxynucleotides reduce monocyte infiltration in renal allografts.
 FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology. 2000;14:815-822. doi: 10.1096/fasebj.14.5.815
- 67. Cao CC, Ding XQ, Ou ZL, Liu CF, Li P, Wang L, Zhu CF. In vivo transfection of NF-kappaB decoy oligodeoxynucleotides attenuate renal ischemia/reperfusion injury in rats. *Kidney international*. 2004;65:834-845. doi: 10.1111/j.1523-1755.2004.00463.x
- 68. Feng B, Chen G, Zheng X, Sun H, Zhang X, Zhang ZX, Xiang Y, Ichim TE, Garcia B, Luke P, et al. Small interfering RNA targeting RelB protects against renal ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Transplantation*. 2009;87:1283-1289. doi: 10.1097/TP.0b013e3181a1905e
- 69. Wan X, Fan L, Hu B, Yang J, Li X, Chen X, Cao C. Small interfering RNA targeting IKKbeta prevents renal ischemia-reperfusion injury in rats. *American journal of physiology Renal physiology*. 2011;300:F857-863. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00547.2010
- Kim H, Kim M, Im SK, Fang S. Mouse Cre-LoxP system: general principles to determine tissuespecific roles of target genes. *Lab Anim Res.* 2018;34:147-159. doi: 10.5625/lar.2018.34.4.147
- 71. Warenycia MW, Goodwin LR, Benishin CG, Reiffenstein RJ, Francom DM, Taylor JD, Dieken FP. Acute hydrogen sulfide poisoning. Demonstration of selective uptake of sulfide by the brainstem by measurement of brain sulfide levels. *Biochemical pharmacology*. 1989;38:973-981. doi: 10.1016/0006-2952(89)90288-8
- 72. Goodwin LR, Francom D, Dieken FP, Taylor JD, Warenycia MW, Reiffenstein RJ, Dowling G. Determination of sulfide in brain tissue by gas dialysis/ion chromatography: postmortem

studies and two case reports. *Journal of analytical toxicology*. 1989;13:105-109. doi: 10.1093/jat/13.2.105

- 73. Abe K, Kimura H. The possible role of hydrogen sulfide as an endogenous neuromodulator. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*. 1996;16:1066-1071.
- 74. Zhao W, Zhang J, Lu Y, Wang R. The vasorelaxant effect of H(2)S as a novel endogenous gaseous K(ATP) channel opener. *The EMBO journal*. 2001;20:6008-6016. doi: 10.1093/emboj/20.21.6008
- 75. Benavides GA, Squadrito GL, Mills RW, Patel HD, Isbell TS, Patel RP, Darley-Usmar VM, Doeller JE, Kraus DW. Hydrogen sulfide mediates the vasoactivity of garlic. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 2007;104:17977-17982. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0705710104
- 76. Pryor WA, Houk KN, Foote CS, Fukuto JM, Ignarro LJ, Squadrito GL, Davies KJ. Free radical biology and medicine: it's a gas, man! *American journal of physiology Regulatory, integrative and comparative physiology*. 2006;291:R491-511. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00614.2005
- 77. Kuo MM, Kim DH, Jandu S, Bergman Y, Tan S, Wang H, Pandey DR, Abraham TP, Shoukas AA, Berkowitz DE, et al. MPST but not CSE is the primary regulator of hydrogen sulfide production and function in the coronary artery. *American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology*. 2016;310:H71-79. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00574.2014
- 78. Kimura Y, Kimura H. Hydrogen sulfide protects neurons from oxidative stress. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology. 2004;18:1165-1167. doi: 10.1096/fj.04-1815fje
- 79. Lefer DJ. A new gaseous signaling molecule emerges: cardioprotective role of hydrogen sulfide. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 2007;104:17907-17908. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0709010104
- 80. Nicholson CK, Calvert JW. Hydrogen sulfide and ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Pharmacological research*. 2010;62:289-297. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2010.06.002
- 81. Azizi F, Seifi B, Kadkhodaee M, Ahghari P. Administration of hydrogen sulfide protects ischemia reperfusion-induced acute kidney injury by reducing the oxidative stress. *Irish journal of medical science*. 2016;185:649-654. doi: 10.1007/s11845-015-1328-z
- 82. Jha S, Calvert JW, Duranski MR, Ramachandran A, Lefer DJ. Hydrogen sulfide attenuates hepatic ischemia-reperfusion injury: role of antioxidant and antiapoptotic signaling. *American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology*. 2008;295:H801-806. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00377.2008
- 83. Fu Z, Liu X, Geng B, Fang L, Tang C. Hydrogen sulfide protects rat lung from ischemiareperfusion injury. *Life sciences*. 2008;82:1196-1202. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2008.04.005
- 84. Shen X, Kolluru GK, Yuan S, Kevil CG. Measurement of H2S in vivo and in vitro by the monobromobimane method. *Methods in enzymology*. 2015;554:31-45. doi: 10.1016/bs.mie.2014.11.039
- Karunya R, Jayaprakash KS, Gaikwad R, Sajeesh P, Ramshad K, Muraleedharan KM, Dixit M, Thangaraj PR, Sen AK. Rapid measurement of hydrogen sulphide in human blood plasma using a microfluidic method. *Scientific reports*. 2019;9:3258. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-39389-7
- Ishii I, Akahoshi N, Yamada H, Nakano S, Izumi T, Suematsu M. Cystathionine gamma-Lyasedeficient mice require dietary cysteine to protect against acute lethal myopathy and oxidative injury. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 2010;285:26358-26368. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.147439
- 87. Yang G, Wu L, Jiang B, Yang W, Qi J, Cao K, Meng Q, Mustafa AK, Mu W, Zhang S, et al. H2S as a physiologic vasorelaxant: hypertension in mice with deletion of cystathionine gamma-lyase. *Science*. 2008;322:587-590. doi: 10.1126/science.1162667
- 88. Szijarto IA, Marko L, Filipovic MR, Miljkovic JL, Tabeling C, Tsvetkov D, Wang N, Rabelo LA, Witzenrath M, Diedrich A, et al. Cystathionine gamma-Lyase-Produced Hydrogen Sulfide

Controls Endothelial NO Bioavailability and Blood Pressure. *Hypertension*. 2018;71:1210-1217. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.117.10562

- 89. Marko L, Vigolo E, Hinze C, Park JK, Roel G, Balogh A, Choi M, Wubken A, Cording J, Blasig IE, et al. Tubular Epithelial NF-kappaB Activity Regulates Ischemic AKI. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN*. 2016;27:2658-2669. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2015070748
- 90. Xu Z, Prathapasinghe G, Wu N, Hwang SY, Siow YL, O K. Ischemia-reperfusion reduces cystathionine-beta-synthase-mediated hydrogen sulfide generation in the kidney. *American journal of physiology Renal physiology*. 2009;297:F27-35. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00096.2009
- 91. Lee S, Huen S, Nishio H, Nishio S, Lee HK, Choi BS, Ruhrberg C, Cantley LG. Distinct macrophage phenotypes contribute to kidney injury and repair. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN*. 2011;22:317-326. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2009060615
- 92. Bos EM, Wang R, Snijder PM, Boersema M, Damman J, Fu M, Moser J, Hillebrands JL, Ploeg RJ, Yang G, et al. Cystathionine gamma-lyase protects against renal ischemia/reperfusion by modulating oxidative stress. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN*. 2013;24:759-770. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2012030268
- 93. Li H. TRP Channel Classification. *Adv Exp Med Biol*. 2017;976:1-8. doi: 10.1007/978-94-024-1088-4_1
- 94. Staruschenko A, Ma R, Palygin O, Dryer SE. Ion channels and channelopathies in glomeruli. *Physiol Rev.* 2023;103:787-854. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00013.2022
- 95. Sours S, Du J, Chu S, Ding M, Zhou XJ, Ma R. Expression of canonical transient receptor potential (TRPC) proteins in human glomerular mesangial cells. *American journal of physiology Renal physiology*. 2006;290:F1507-1515. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00268.2005
- 96. Dietrich A, Mederos YSM, Gollasch M, Gross V, Storch U, Dubrovska G, Obst M, Yildirim E, Salanova B, Kalwa H, et al. Increased vascular smooth muscle contractility in TRPC6-/- mice. *Mol Cell Biol*. 2005;25:6980-6989. doi: 10.1128/MCB.25.16.6980-6989.2005
- 97. Goel M, Sinkins WG, Zuo CD, Estacion M, Schilling WP. Identification and localization of TRPC channels in the rat kidney. *American journal of physiology Renal physiology*. 2006;290:F1241-1252. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00376.2005
- 98. Spassova MA, Hewavitharana T, Xu W, Soboloff J, Gill DL. A common mechanism underlies stretch activation and receptor activation of TRPC6 channels. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 2006;103:16586-16591. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0606894103
- 99. Graham S, Ding M, Ding Y, Sours-Brothers S, Luchowski R, Gryczynski Z, Yorio T, Ma H, Ma R. Canonical transient receptor potential 6 (TRPC6), a redox-regulated cation channel. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 2010;285:23466-23476. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.093500
- Hofmann T, Obukhov AG, Schaefer M, Harteneck C, Gudermann T, Schultz G. Direct activation of human TRPC6 and TRPC3 channels by diacylglycerol. *Nature*. 1999;397:259-263. doi: 10.1038/16711
- 101. Dryer SE, Roshanravan H, Kim EY. TRPC channels: Regulation, dysregulation and contributions to chronic kidney disease. *Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis*. 2019;1865:1041-1066. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2019.04.001
- 102. Zhang Y, Yin N, Sun A, Wu Q, Hu W, Hou X, Zeng X, Zhu M, Liao Y. Transient Receptor Potential Channel 6 Knockout Ameliorates Kidney Fibrosis by Inhibition of Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition. *Front Cell Dev Biol*. 2020;8:602703. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2020.602703
- 103. Wu YL, Xie J, An SW, Oliver N, Barrezueta NX, Lin MH, Birnbaumer L, Huang CL. Inhibition of TRPC6 channels ameliorates renal fibrosis and contributes to renal protection by soluble klotho. *Kidney international*. 2017;91:830-841. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2016.09.039
- 104. Englisch CN, Paulsen F, Tschernig T. TRPC Channels in the Physiology and Pathophysiology of the Renal Tubular System: What Do We Know? Int J Mol Sci. 2022;24. doi: 10.3390/ijms24010181
- 105. Weber EW, Han F, Tauseef M, Birnbaumer L, Mehta D, Muller WA. TRPC6 is the endothelial calcium channel that regulates leukocyte transendothelial migration during the inflammatory

response. *The Journal of experimental medicine*. 2015;212:1883-1899. doi: 10.1084/jem.20150353

- 106. Lindemann O, Umlauf D, Frank S, Schimmelpfennig S, Bertrand J, Pap T, Hanley PJ, Fabian A, Dietrich A, Schwab A. TRPC6 regulates CXCR2-mediated chemotaxis of murine neutrophils. *J Immunol*. 2013;190:5496-5505. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1201502
- 107. Liu L, Chen M, Lin K, Xiang X, Yang J, Zheng Y, Xiong X, Zhu S. TRPC6 Attenuates Cortical Astrocytic Apoptosis and Inflammation in Cerebral Ischemic/Reperfusion Injury. *Front Cell Dev Biol*. 2020;8:594283. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2020.594283
- Hou X, Huang M, Zeng X, Zhang Y, Sun A, Wu Q, Zhu L, Zhao H, Liao Y. The Role of TRPC6 in Renal Ischemia/Reperfusion and Cellular Hypoxia/Reoxygenation Injuries. *Front Mol Biosci*. 2021;8:698975. doi: 10.3389/fmolb.2021.698975
- 109. Lawes CM, Vander Hoorn S, Rodgers A, International Society of H. Global burden of bloodpressure-related disease, 2001. *Lancet*. 2008;371:1513-1518. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(08)60655-8
- 110. Collaborators GBDRF. Global, regional, and national comparative risk assessment of 84 behavioural, environmental and occupational, and metabolic risks or clusters of risks for 195 countries and territories, 1990-2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. *Lancet*. 2018;392:1923-1994. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32225-6
- 111. Cohuet G, Struijker-Boudier H. Mechanisms of target organ damage caused by hypertension: therapeutic potential. *Pharmacology & therapeutics*. 2006;111:81-98. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2005.09.002
- 112. Goldblatt H, Lynch J, Hanzal RF, Summerville WW. Studies on Experimental Hypertension : I. The Production of Persistent Elevation of Systolic Blood Pressure by Means of Renal Ischemia. *The Journal of experimental medicine*. 1934;59:347-379. doi: 10.1084/jem.59.3.347
- 113. Byrom FB. Angiotensin and Renal Vascular Damage. *British journal of experimental pathology*. 1964;45:7-12.
- 114. Mentz RJ, Bakris GL, Waeber B, McMurray JJ, Gheorghiade M, Ruilope LM, Maggioni AP, Swedberg K, Pina IL, Fiuzat M, et al. The past, present and future of renin-angiotensin aldosterone system inhibition. *International journal of cardiology*. 2013;167:1677-1687. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2012.10.007
- 115. Group CTS. Effects of enalapril on mortality in severe congestive heart failure. Results of the Cooperative North Scandinavian Enalapril Survival Study (CONSENSUS). *The New England journal of medicine*. 1987;316:1429-1435. doi: 10.1056/NEJM198706043162301
- 116. Dickstein K, Kjekshus J, Group OSCotOS. Effects of losartan and captopril on mortality and morbidity in high-risk patients after acute myocardial infarction: the OPTIMAAL randomised trial. Optimal Trial in Myocardial Infarction with Angiotensin II Antagonist Losartan. *Lancet*. 2002;360:752-760. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(02)09895-1
- 117. Group PC. Randomised trial of a perindopril-based blood-pressure-lowering regimen among 6,105 individuals with previous stroke or transient ischaemic attack. *Lancet*. 2001;358:1033-1041. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(01)06178-5
- 118. Heart Outcomes Prevention Evaluation Study I, Yusuf S, Sleight P, Pogue J, Bosch J, Davies R, Dagenais G. Effects of an angiotensin-converting-enzyme inhibitor, ramipril, on cardiovascular events in high-risk patients. *The New England journal of medicine*. 2000;342:145-153. doi: 10.1056/NEJM200001203420301
- 119. Bohlender J, Fukamizu A, Lippoldt A, Nomura T, Dietz R, Menard J, Murakami K, Luft FC, Ganten D. High human renin hypertension in transgenic rats. *Hypertension*. 1997;29:428-434. doi: 10.1161/01.hyp.29.1.428
- 120. Crowley SD, Frey CW, Gould SK, Griffiths R, Ruiz P, Burchette JL, Howell DN, Makhanova N, Yan M, Kim HS, et al. Stimulation of lymphocyte responses by angiotensin II promotes kidney injury in hypertension. *American journal of physiology Renal physiology*. 2008;295:F515-524. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00527.2007

- 121. Mervaala E, Muller DN, Park JK, Dechend R, Schmidt F, Fiebeler A, Bieringer M, Breu V, Ganten D, Haller H, et al. Cyclosporin A protects against angiotensin II-induced end-organ damage in double transgenic rats harboring human renin and angiotensinogen genes. *Hypertension*. 2000;35:360-366. doi: 10.1161/01.hyp.35.1.360
- 122. Muller DN, Heissmeyer V, Dechend R, Hampich F, Park JK, Fiebeler A, Shagdarsuren E, Theuer J, Elger M, Pilz B, et al. Aspirin inhibits NF-kappaB and protects from angiotensin II-induced organ damage. *FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology*. 2001;15:1822-1824. doi: 10.1096/fj.00-0843fje
- 123. Shao J, Nangaku M, Miyata T, Inagi R, Yamada K, Kurokawa K, Fujita T. Imbalance of T-cell subsets in angiotensin II-infused hypertensive rats with kidney injury. *Hypertension*. 2003;42:31-38. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.0000075082.06183.4E
- 124. Steinman L. A brief history of T(H)17, the first major revision in the T(H)1/T(H)2 hypothesis of T cell-mediated tissue damage. *Nature medicine*. 2007;13:139-145. doi: 10.1038/nm1551
- 125. Langrish CL, Chen Y, Blumenschein WM, Mattson J, Basham B, Sedgwick JD, McClanahan T, Kastelein RA, Cua DJ. IL-23 drives a pathogenic T cell population that induces autoimmune inflammation. *The Journal of experimental medicine*. 2005;201:233-240. doi: 10.1084/jem.20041257
- 126. Peters A, Lee Y, Kuchroo VK. The many faces of Th17 cells. *Current opinion in immunology*. 2011;23:702-706. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2011.08.007
- 127. Raphael I, Nalawade S, Eagar TN, Forsthuber TG. T cell subsets and their signature cytokines in autoimmune and inflammatory diseases. *Cytokine*. 2015;74:5-17. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2014.09.011
- 128. Huang S, Hendriks W, Althage A, Hemmi S, Bluethmann H, Kamijo R, Vilcek J, Zinkernagel RM, Aguet M. Immune response in mice that lack the interferon-gamma receptor. *Science*. 1993;259:1742-1745. doi: 10.1126/science.8456301
- 129. Kamat NV, Thabet SR, Xiao L, Saleh MA, Kirabo A, Madhur MS, Delpire E, Harrison DG, McDonough AA. Renal transporter activation during angiotensin-II hypertension is blunted in interferon-gamma-/- and interleukin-17A-/- mice. *Hypertension*. 2015;65:569-576. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.114.04975
- 130. Morrison AA, Viney RL, Saleem MA, Ladomery MR. New insights into the function of the Wilms tumor suppressor gene WT1 in podocytes. *American journal of physiology Renal physiology*. 2008;295:F12-17. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00597.2007
- 131. Ruotsalainen V, Ljungberg P, Wartiovaara J, Lenkkeri U, Kestila M, Jalanko H, Holmberg C, Tryggvason K. Nephrin is specifically located at the slit diaphragm of glomerular podocytes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1999;96:7962-7967. doi: 10.1073/pnas.96.14.7962
- 132. Mundel P, Heid HW, Mundel TM, Kruger M, Reiser J, Kriz W. Synaptopodin: an actinassociated protein in telencephalic dendrites and renal podocytes. *The Journal of cell biology*. 1997;139:193-204. doi: 10.1083/jcb.139.1.193
- 133. Chang YP, Tsai CC, Huang WC, Wang CY, Chen CL, Lin YS, Kai JI, Hsieh CY, Cheng YL, Choi PC, et al. Autophagy facilitates IFN-gamma-induced Jak2-STAT1 activation and cellular inflammation. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 2010;285:28715-28722. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.133355
- 134. Hartleben B, Godel M, Meyer-Schwesinger C, Liu S, Ulrich T, Kobler S, Wiech T, Grahammer F, Arnold SJ, Lindenmeyer MT, et al. Autophagy influences glomerular disease susceptibility and maintains podocyte homeostasis in aging mice. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 2010;120:1084-1096. doi: 10.1172/JCI39492
- 135. Asanuma K, Tanida I, Shirato I, Ueno T, Takahara H, Nishitani T, Kominami E, Tomino Y. MAP-LC3, a promising autophagosomal marker, is processed during the differentiation and recovery of podocytes from PAN nephrosis. *FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology*. 2003;17:1165-1167. doi: 10.1096/fj.02-0580fje

- 136. Johnson RJ, Alpers CE, Yoshimura A, Lombardi D, Pritzl P, Floege J, Schwartz SM. Renal injury from angiotensin II-mediated hypertension. *Hypertension*. 1992;19:464-474. doi: 10.1161/01.hyp.19.5.464
- 137. Luft FC, Mervaala E, Muller DN, Gross V, Schmidt F, Park JK, Schmitz C, Lippoldt A, Breu V, Dechend R, et al. Hypertension-induced end-organ damage : A new transgenic approach to an old problem. *Hypertension*. 1999;33:212-218. doi: 10.1161/01.hyp.33.1.212
- 138. Muller DN, Fiebeler A, Park JK, Dechend R, Luft FC. Angiotensin II and endothelin induce inflammation and thereby promote hypertension-induced end-organ damage. *Clinical nephrology*. 2003;60 Suppl 1:S2-12.
- 139. Muller DN, Shagdarsuren E, Park JK, Dechend R, Mervaala E, Hampich F, Fiebeler A, Ju X, Finckenberg P, Theuer J, et al. Immunosuppressive treatment protects against angiotensin IIinduced renal damage. *The American journal of pathology*. 2002;161:1679-1693. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)64445-8
- 140. Baeuerle PA, Henkel T. Function and activation of NF-kappa B in the immune system. *Annual review of immunology*. 1994;12:141-179. doi: 10.1146/annurev.iy.12.040194.001041
- 141. Caamano J, Hunter CA. NF-kappaB family of transcription factors: central regulators of innate and adaptive immune functions. *Clinical microbiology reviews*. 2002;15:414-429. doi: 10.1128/CMR.15.3.414-429.2002
- Sachse A, Wolf G. Angiotensin II-induced reactive oxygen species and the kidney. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN*. 2007;18:2439-2446. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2007020149
- 143. Gunther J, Kill A, Becker MO, Heidecke H, Rademacher J, Siegert E, Radic M, Burmester GR, Dragun D, Riemekasten G. Angiotensin receptor type 1 and endothelin receptor type A on immune cells mediate migration and the expression of IL-8 and CCL18 when stimulated by autoantibodies from systemic sclerosis patients. *Arthritis research & therapy*. 2014;16:R65. doi: 10.1186/ar4503
- 144. Platten M, Youssef S, Hur EM, Ho PP, Han MH, Lanz TV, Phillips LK, Goldstein MJ, Bhat R, Raine CS, et al. Blocking angiotensin-converting enzyme induces potent regulatory T cells and modulates TH1- and TH17-mediated autoimmunity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 2009;106:14948-14953. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0903958106
- 145. Lucas PC, McAllister-Lucas LM, Nunez G. NF-kappaB signaling in lymphocytes: a new cast of characters. *Journal of cell science*. 2004;117:31-39. doi: 10.1242/jcs.00904
- 146. McAllister-Lucas LM, Inohara N, Lucas PC, Ruland J, Benito A, Li Q, Chen S, Chen FF, Yamaoka S, Verma IM, et al. Bimp1, a MAGUK family member linking protein kinase C activation to Bcl10-mediated NF-kappaB induction. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 2001;276:30589-30597. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M103824200
- 147. Bertin J, Wang L, Guo Y, Jacobson MD, Poyet JL, Srinivasula SM, Merriam S, DiStefano PS, Alnemri ES. CARD11 and CARD14 are novel caspase recruitment domain (CARD)/membraneassociated guanylate kinase (MAGUK) family members that interact with BCL10 and activate NF-kappa B. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 2001;276:11877-11882. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M010512200
- 148. Wang L, Guo Y, Huang WJ, Ke X, Poyet JL, Manji GA, Merriam S, Glucksmann MA, DiStefano PS, Alnemri ES, et al. Card10 is a novel caspase recruitment domain/membrane-associated guanylate kinase family member that interacts with BCL10 and activates NF-kappa B. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 2001;276:21405-21409. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M102488200
- 149. Gaide O, Martinon F, Micheau O, Bonnet D, Thome M, Tschopp J. Carma1, a CARD-containing binding partner of Bcl10, induces Bcl10 phosphorylation and NF-kappaB activation. *FEBS letters*. 2001;496:121-127. doi: 10.1016/s0014-5793(01)02414-0
- 150. Koseki T, Inohara N, Chen S, Carrio R, Merino J, Hottiger MO, Nabel GJ, Nunez G. CIPER, a novel NF kappaB-activating protein containing a caspase recruitment domain with homology

to Herpesvirus-2 protein E10. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 1999;274:9955-9961. doi: 10.1074/jbc.274.15.9955

- 151. Willis TG, Jadayel DM, Du MQ, Peng H, Perry AR, Abdul-Rauf M, Price H, Karran L, Majekodunmi O, Wlodarska I, et al. Bcl10 is involved in t(1;14)(p22;q32) of MALT B cell lymphoma and mutated in multiple tumor types. *Cell*. 1999;96:35-45. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(00)80957-5
- 152. Lucas PC, Yonezumi M, Inohara N, McAllister-Lucas LM, Abazeed ME, Chen FF, Yamaoka S, Seto M, Nunez G. Bcl10 and MALT1, independent targets of chromosomal translocation in malt lymphoma, cooperate in a novel NF-kappa B signaling pathway. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 2001;276:19012-19019. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M009984200
- 153. Yan M, Lee J, Schilbach S, Goddard A, Dixit V. mE10, a novel caspase recruitment domaincontaining proapoptotic molecule. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. 1999;274:10287-10292. doi: 10.1074/jbc.274.15.10287
- 154. McAllister-Lucas LM, Ruland J, Siu K, Jin X, Gu S, Kim DS, Kuffa P, Kohrt D, Mak TW, Nunez G, et al. CARMA3/Bcl10/MALT1-dependent NF-kappaB activation mediates angiotensin II-responsive inflammatory signaling in nonimmune cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 2007;104:139-144. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0601947103
- 155. Marko L, Henke N, Park JK, Spallek B, Qadri F, Balogh A, Apel IJ, Oravecz-Wilson KI, Choi M, Przybyl L, et al. Bcl10 mediates angiotensin II-induced cardiac damage and electrical remodeling. *Hypertension*. 2014;64:1032-1039. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.114.03900
- 156. Ruland J, Duncan GS, Elia A, del Barco Barrantes I, Nguyen L, Plyte S, Millar DG, Bouchard D, Wakeham A, Ohashi PS, et al. Bcl10 is a positive regulator of antigen receptor-induced activation of NF-kappaB and neural tube closure. *Cell*. 2001;104:33-42. doi: 10.1016/s0092-8674(01)00189-1
- 157. Hartner A, Cordasic N, Klanke B, Veelken R, Hilgers KF. Strain differences in the development of hypertension and glomerular lesions induced by deoxycorticosterone acetate salt in mice. *Nephrology, dialysis, transplantation : official publication of the European Dialysis and Transplant Association - European Renal Association*. 2003;18:1999-2004. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfg299
- 158. Sparks MA, Stegbauer J, Chen D, Gomez JA, Griffiths RC, Azad HA, Herrera M, Gurley SB, Coffman TM. Vascular Type 1A Angiotensin II Receptors Control BP by Regulating Renal Blood Flow and Urinary Sodium Excretion. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN*. 2015;26:2953-2962. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2014080816
- 159. Crowley SD, Gurley SB, Herrera MJ, Ruiz P, Griffiths R, Kumar AP, Kim HS, Smithies O, Le TH, Coffman TM. Angiotensin II causes hypertension and cardiac hypertrophy through its receptors in the kidney. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 2006;103:17985-17990. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0605545103
- 160. Couser WG, Remuzzi G, Mendis S, Tonelli M. The contribution of chronic kidney disease to the global burden of major noncommunicable diseases. *Kidney international*. 2011;80:1258-1270. doi: 10.1038/ki.2011.368
- 161. Kovesdy CP. Epidemiology of chronic kidney disease: an update 2022. *Kidney Int Suppl* (2011). 2022;12:7-11. doi: 10.1016/j.kisu.2021.11.003
- 162. Nenci A, Becker C, Wullaert A, Gareus R, van Loo G, Danese S, Huth M, Nikolaev A, Neufert C, Madison B, et al. Epithelial NEMO links innate immunity to chronic intestinal inflammation. *Nature*. 2007;446:557-561. doi: 10.1038/nature05698
- 163. Bonventre JV, Zuk A. Ischemic acute renal failure: an inflammatory disease? *Kidney international*. 2004;66:480-485. doi: 10.1111/j.1523-1755.2004.761_2.x
- 164. Kapper S, Beck G, Riedel S, Prem K, Haak M, van der Woude FJ, Yard BA. Modulation of chemokine production and expression of adhesion molecules in renal tubular epithelial and endothelial cells by catecholamines. *Transplantation*. 2002;74:253-260. doi: 10.1097/00007890-200207270-00017

- 165. Kucharczak J, Simmons MJ, Fan Y, Gelinas C. To be, or not to be: NF-kappaB is the answer-role of Rel/NF-kappaB in the regulation of apoptosis. *Oncogene*. 2003;22:8961-8982. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1207230
- 166. Cugini D, Azzollini N, Gagliardini E, Cassis P, Bertini R, Colotta F, Noris M, Remuzzi G, Benigni A. Inhibition of the chemokine receptor CXCR2 prevents kidney graft function deterioration due to ischemia/reperfusion. *Kidney international*. 2005;67:1753-1761. doi: 10.1111/j.1523-1755.2005.00272.x
- 167. Miura M, Fu X, Zhang QW, Remick DG, Fairchild RL. Neutralization of Gro alpha and macrophage inflammatory protein-2 attenuates renal ischemia/reperfusion injury. *The American journal of pathology*. 2001;159:2137-2145. doi: 10.1016/s0002-9440(10)63065-9
- 168. Osborn L, Hession C, Tizard R, Vassallo C, Luhowskyj S, Chi-Rosso G, Lobb R. Direct expression cloning of vascular cell adhesion molecule 1, a cytokine-induced endothelial protein that binds to lymphocytes. *Cell*. 1989;59:1203-1211. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(89)90775-7
- 169. Kopp E, Ghosh S. Inhibition of NF-kappa B by sodium salicylate and aspirin. *Science*. 1994;265:956-959. doi: 10.1126/science.8052854
- 170. Hur M, Koo CH, Lee HC, Park SK, Kim M, Kim WH, Kim JT, Bahk JH. Preoperative aspirin use and acute kidney injury after cardiac surgery: A propensity-score matched observational study. *PloS one*. 2017;12:e0177201. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0177201
- Otunctemur A, Ozbek E, Dursun M, Sahin S, Besiroglu H, Ozsoy OD, Cekmen M, Somay A, Ozbay N. Protective effect of hydrogen sulfide on gentamicin-induced renal injury. *Ren Fail*. 2014;36:925-931. doi: 10.3109/0886022X.2014.900599
- 172. Chen X, Xu W, Wang Y, Luo H, Quan S, Zhou J, Yang N, Zhang T, Wu L, Liu J, et al. Hydrogen sulfide reduces kidney injury due to urinary-derived sepsis by inhibiting NF-kappaB expression, decreasing TNF-alpha levels and increasing IL-10 levels. *Exp Ther Med*. 2014;8:464-470. doi: 10.3892/etm.2014.1781
- 173. Della Coletta Francescato H, Cunha FQ, Costa RS, Barbosa Junior F, Boim MA, Arnoni CP, da Silva CG, Coimbra TM. Inhibition of hydrogen sulphide formation reduces cisplatin-induced renal damage. *Nephrology, dialysis, transplantation : official publication of the European Dialysis and Transplant Association - European Renal Association*. 2011;26:479-488. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfq447
- 174. Francescato HD, Marin EC, Cunha Fde Q, Costa RS, Silva CG, Coimbra TM. Role of endogenous hydrogen sulfide on renal damage induced by adriamycin injection. *Arch Toxicol*. 2011;85:1597-1606. doi: 10.1007/s00204-011-0717-y
- Ang AD, Rivers-Auty J, Hegde A, Ishii I, Bhatia M. The effect of CSE gene deletion in caeruleininduced acute pancreatitis in the mouse. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*. 2013;305:G712-721. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00044.2013
- 176. McManus OB. HTS assays for developing the molecular pharmacology of ion channels. *Curr Opin Pharmacol*. 2014;15:91-96. doi: 10.1016/j.coph.2014.01.004
- 177. Dryer SE, Kim EY. The Effects of TRPC6 Knockout in Animal Models of Kidney Disease. *Biomolecules*. 2022;12. doi: 10.3390/biom12111710
- 178. Zheng Z, Xu Y, Krugel U, Schaefer M, Grune T, Nurnberg B, Kohler MB, Gollasch M, Tsvetkov D, Marko L. In Vivo Inhibition of TRPC6 by SH045 Attenuates Renal Fibrosis in a New Zealand Obese (NZO) Mouse Model of Metabolic Syndrome. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2022;23. doi: 10.3390/ijms23126870
- 179. Marko L, Kvakan H, Park JK, Qadri F, Spallek B, Binger KJ, Bowman EP, Kleinewietfeld M, Fokuhl V, Dechend R, et al. Interferon-gamma signaling inhibition ameliorates angiotensin Ilinduced cardiac damage. *Hypertension*. 2012;60:1430-1436. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.112.199265
- Madhur MS, Lob HE, McCann LA, Iwakura Y, Blinder Y, Guzik TJ, Harrison DG. Interleukin 17 promotes angiotensin II-induced hypertension and vascular dysfunction. *Hypertension*. 2010;55:500-507. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.109.145094

- 181. Ring GH, Dai Z, Saleem S, Baddoura FK, Lakkis FG. Increased susceptibility to immunologically mediated glomerulonephritis in IFN-gamma-deficient mice. *J Immunol*. 1999;163:2243-2248.
- 182. Berry C, Touyz R, Dominiczak AF, Webb RC, Johns DG. Angiotensin receptors: signaling, vascular pathophysiology, and interactions with ceramide. *American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology*. 2001;281:H2337-2365. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.2001.281.6.H2337
- 183. Marko L, Park JK, Henke N, Rong S, Balogh A, Klamer S, Bartolomaeus H, Wilck N, Ruland J, Forslund SK, et al. B-cell lymphoma/leukaemia 10 and angiotensin II-induced kidney injury. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2020;116:1059-1070. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvz169
- 184. Gratze P, Dechend R, Stocker C, Park JK, Feldt S, Shagdarsuren E, Wellner M, Gueler F, Rong S, Gross V, et al. Novel role for inhibitor of differentiation 2 in the genesis of angiotensin II-induced hypertension. *Circulation*. 2008;117:2645-2656. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.760116
- 185. Mezzano SA, Ruiz-Ortega M, Egido J. Angiotensin II and renal fibrosis. *Hypertension*. 2001;38:635-638. doi: 10.1161/hy09t1.094234
- 186. Yamashita M, Yoshida T, Suzuki S, Homma K, Hayashi M. Podocyte-specific NF-kappaB inhibition ameliorates proteinuria in adriamycin-induced nephropathy in mice. *Clin Exp Nephrol*. 2017;21:16-26. doi: 10.1007/s10157-016-1268-6
- 187. Pavenstadt H, Kriz W, Kretzler M. Cell biology of the glomerular podocyte. *Physiol Rev.* 2003;83:253-307. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00020.2002
- 188. Marion S, Mazzolini J, Herit F, Bourdoncle P, Kambou-Pene N, Hailfinger S, Sachse M, Ruland J, Benmerah A, Echard A, et al. The NF-kappaB signaling protein Bcl10 regulates actin dynamics by controlling AP1 and OCRL-bearing vesicles. *Dev Cell*. 2012;23:954-967. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2012.09.021
- 189. Rueda D, Gaide O, Ho L, Lewkowicz E, Niedergang F, Hailfinger S, Rebeaud F, Guzzardi M, Conne B, Thelen M, et al. Bcl10 controls TCR- and FcgammaR-induced actin polymerization. J Immunol. 2007;178:4373-4384. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.178.7.4373

Acknowledgment

I want to thank all those who have supported me on the way to my habilitation. My special thanks and gratitude go to Prof. Dr. Dominik Müller and Dr. Ralf Dechend, who warmly welcomed me into their working group and supported and encouraged my career with a great deal of advice and action. I am thankful to Prof. Dr. Friedrich C. Luft, who invited me to Berlin to continue the research activity I started in the Lab of Prof. Dr. István Wittmann. I thank him for his support during my initial research career to gain my Ph.D.

I am very thankful for the collaboration and friendship of Dr. Emilia Vigolo, with whom I had the pleasure to work on two projects of this habilitation. I am grateful to Dr. Norbert Henke and Dr. Heda Kvakan, who provided ideas and some initial research data for two projects on which my habilitation thesis is based. I also thank Prof. Dr. Maik Gollasch; with his help, I could extend my research horizon on acute kidney injury. A distinguished thanks and appreciation go to Gabriele N'diaye, who literally was next to me during all experiments described here, providing critical expertise and help on mouse and cell culture experiments. I am also thankful to Dr. Joon-Keun Park, who was always ready to help with histopathological analysis.

My appreciation extends to all the staff whose assistance was pivotal in completing my work. Special thanks to Juliane Ulrich, Dr. Sabine Bartel, and Jana Czychi, who were supporting me with the RNA isolation and qPCR, May-Britt Köhler for her continuous help with histological samples, Ilona Kamer for the implantation of telemetric devices in mice, Jutta Meisel and Astrid Schiche for their help by inulin GFR measurements, Dr. Giulietta Roël who help me with invivo imaging and Anne Wübken with who I started the renal ischemia-reperfusion experiments back in 2009. I also thank Heike Schenck and Reika Langanki, who - though not involved in these projects described here - helped me in my clinical studies and studies with rats, respectively.

To overcome frustrating moments of research, I had the luck to have the support of friends and colleagues like Dr. András Maifeld, Dr. Lukasz Przybyl, Dr. Nicola Wilck, and Dr. Hendrik Bartolomaeus. They also created a great working atmosphere, were great partners for scientific discussion, and were ready to help with experimental work. I am thankful for the friendly support over many years in the daily laboratory/office routine for Dr. Florian Herse, Dr. Nadine Haase, Dr. Bastian Buschmeyer, and Dr. Ulrike Maschke. I am thankful to colleagues of other ECRC working groups who helped me in my research projects: Dr. Mira Choi, Dr. István Szijártó, Dr. Mario Kaßmann, and Dr. Dmitry Tsvetkov. My thanks also go to all collaboration partners, Prof. Dr. Kai-Schmidt-Ott, Dr. Ruth Schmidt-Ulrich, Dr. Jürgen Ruland, Dr. Linda M. McAllister-Lucas and Prof. Dr. Ishao Ishii, who provided either mouse models or provided particular expertise to my research projects.

I thank my current group leader, Dr. Sofia K. Forslund, for giving me the freedom and support to continue my work in this research field and for providing new scientific horizons.

Last but not least, my sincere and deepest gratitude goes to my family, my mum, my dad and my sister, my wife Anett, and my children, Anna, Benedek, and Ádám and family in-laws for their love and steady support, patience, and understanding. I want to thank them all for encouraging me to pursue my dreams. I dedicate this work to my children.

The present work was supported by the Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin, the Max Delbrück Center, and the German Research Foundation (FOR 1368).

Erklärung

§ 4 Abs. 3 (k) der HabOMed der Charité

Hiermit erkläre ich, dass

- weder früher noch gleichzeitig ein Habilitationsverfahren durchgeführt oder angemeldet wurde,

- die vorgelegte Habilitationsschrift ohne fremde Hilfe verfasst, die beschriebenen Ergebnisse selbst gewonnen sowie die verwendeten Hilfsmittel, die Zusammenarbeit mit anderen Wissenschaftlern/Wissenschaftlerinnen und mit technischen Hilfskräften sowie die verwendete Literatur vollständig in der Habilitationsschrift angegeben wurden,

- mir die geltende Habilitationsordnung bekannt ist.

Ich erkläre ferner, dass mir die Satzung der Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin zur Sicherung Guter Wissenschaftlicher Praxis bekannt ist und ich mich zur Einhaltung dieser Satzung verpflichte.

.....

.....

Datum

Unterschrift